
WOODBURY COUNTY  
ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING  
AT MOVILLE AREA COMMUNITY CENTER 

815 Main Street, Moville, IA 51039

Monday, September 11, 2023 at 5:00 PM 
The Zoning Commission will hold a special public meeting on Monday, September 11, 2023 at 5:00 PM at the 
Moville Area Community Center at 815 Main Street, Moville, IA 51039.  Public access to the conversation of the 
meeting will also be made available during the meeting by telephone. Persons wanting to participate in the public 
meeting and public hearings on the agenda may attend in person or call: (712) 454-1133 and enter the Conference 
ID: 518 109 27#  during the meeting to listen or comment.  It is recommended to attend in person as there is the 
possibility for technical difficulties with phone and computer systems. 

AGENDA

1 CALL TO ORDER

2 ROLL CALL

3 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

4 APPROVAL OF MINUTES: July 24, 2023

5 ITEM(S) OF ACTION / BUSINESS

» FORMAL APPROVAL OF “ZONING COMMISSION RULES OF PROCEDURE” – At the July 24, 2023 meeting of the 
Zoning Commission, the rules of procedure were approved and sent to the Board of Supervisors who formally voted to 
approve the rules on August 8, 2023.  This agenda item is for the Zoning Commission to formally adopt the rules and 
authorize the chair to sign the Rules of Procedure.   

» PUBLIC HEARING: PROPOSED JANET HECK SUBDIVISION (Parcel #874724300005) - a one-lot minor subdivision 
in a 4.0-acre portion of Section 24, T87N R47W (Liberty Township) in the SE ¼ of the SW ¼ on Parcel #874724300005.  
The property is approximately 1.3 miles northeast of Salix.  The property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) 
Zoning District and in the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) – Zone A.  Owner(s): Janet K. Heck, Kevin Heck (Executor), 
1739 260th St., Salix, IA 51052. 

» PUBLIC HEARING: PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE MAP AMENDMENT (REZONE) (PARCEL #884506200006)
- Proposal to rezone from the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District to the Agricultural Estates (AE) Zoning District 
for 18.526-acres located on Lot Two (2), Boyle’s Addition, Woodbury County, Iowa, Section 6, T88N R45W (Moville 
Township) in the County of Woodbury and State of Iowa.  The property is known as GIS Parcel #884506200006 and is 
described as: Lot Two (2), Boyle’s Addition, Woodbury County, Iowa.  Owner(s)/Applicant(s): Richard F. Luze and 
Kimberly K. Luze, 2480 Hwy 20, Lawton, IA 51030.  

» PUBLIC HEARING: SOLAR ENERGY - UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR SYSTEMS – CONSIDERATION OF SOLAR 
ORDINANCES FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) TO THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS - SUMMARY OF PROPOSED 
ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS: AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TEXT OF THE WOODBURY 
COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE TO AMEND PORTIONS OF: THE TABLE OF CONTENTS; SECTION 3.03.4 
ENTITLED: LAND USE SUMMARY TABLE OF ALLOWED USES IN EACH ZONING DISTRICT; PORTIONS OF: 
SECTION 6.02 ENTITLED DEFINITIONS; AND THE RENUMBERING OF DEFINITIONS AND PAGE NUMBERS.  THE 
PROPOSAL IS TO ADD SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (UTILITY SCALE) AS A CONDITIONAL USE IN THE 
AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION ZONING DISTRICT AND ADD A NEW SECTION TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE 
TO REGULATE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS, UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS, AGRISOLAR, 
AGRIVOLTAICS, AND COMMUNITY SOLAR SYSTEMS. 

6 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

7 COMMISSIONER COMMENT OR INQUIRY

8 STAFF UPDATE

9 ADJOURN

1



1 

Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission Meeting – July 24, 2023 

The Zoning Commission (ZC) meeting convened on the 24th of July at 6:00 PM in the 1st Floor Board of 
Supervisor’s Meeting Room, in the Woodbury County Courthouse.  The meeting was also made available via 
teleconference.   

ZC Members Present: Chris Zant, Corey Meister, Tom Bride, Barb Parker, Jeff O’Tool 
County Staff Present:   Dan Priestley, Dawn Norton, Dan Bittinger 
Public Present: William Walker 
Phone: Jason Meihost 

Call to Order 
Chair Chris Zant formally called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
None 

Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes – June 26, 2023  
Bride motioned. Second: Parker.  Motion carried: 5-0. 

Review of Conditional Use Permit Application for a Recommendation to the Board of Adjustment:  Request 
to Setup a Portable Concrete Plant for Hwy 20 Paving for IDOT Project NHSX-020—1(179)—3H-97 on Parcel 
#884701200009:  
Priestley read the staff report into the record.  Jason Meihost, Croell, Inc. (Applicant) and Midwest Auto Properties, 
LLC have filed a conditional use permit application to request to use the property designed as Parcel #884701200009 
for a portable concrete plant in support of the Hwy 20 paving project identified as IDOT Project NHSX-020-1(179)—
3H-97.  The proposed location is south of Hwy 20 and west of Charles Avenue.  The property is addressed at 1605 
Charles Ave., Lawton, IA 51030.  Appropriate landowners and stakeholders were notified. Jason Meihost, Croell, 
Inc., spoke by telephone.  Dust will be mitigated by putting rock surface down and watering surfaces.  Operations will 
only take place during sunup and sundown.  No public comment during meeting.  Priestley noted there is a well on 
the parcel.  Siouxland District Health department  has verified it has been capped and marked.  Priestley received 
phone call from neighboring landowner asking about the grading and the well on the property.  Staff recommends 
that the Zoning Commission recommend approval.  O’Tool made a motion as written to recommend approval that 
the property located on Parcel #884701200009 can be used as a temporary concrete plant to support Iowa DOT 
Project NHSX-020-1(179)--3H-97. Second: Meister.  Motion carried: 5-0.

Review of Conditional Use Permit Application for a Recommendation to the Board of Adjustment: Request 
for a Private Wind Turbine Installation and Use on Parcel #864626400009. 
Priestley read the staff report into the record.  William Kyle Walker (owner) has filed a conditional use permit 
application for the installation and use of a wind turbine. The said turbine along with its support tower was 
previously installed on this property and the owner has retroactively filed this permit request as required under 
Section 3.03.4 of the Zoning Ordinance. The property abuts Hwy 141 to the north and Fayette Avenue to the west. 
This proposal has been properly noticed in the Sioux City Journals legal section on July 18, 2023. The neighbors 
within 500 FT were duly notified via a July 14, 2023 letter about the July 31, 2023 Board of Adjustment public 
hearing. Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and organizations have been requested 
to comment. This property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is located in the 
Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA). The portion where the house is located was removed from the floodplain via 
Letter of Map Revision Based of Fill Case No.: 15-07-1298A. Based on the information received and the 
requirements set forth in the Zoning Ordinance, the proposal can meet the criteria for approval of the conditional 
use request based on conditions.  Staff recommends approval contingent upon the property owner(s) meeting the 
following conditions:  

- The turbine tower installation/placement shall meet or exceed the 10 FT accessory setback 
requirements from the west property line as enumerated in the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance 
(Section 3.04). 

- The turbine tower installation/placement shall comply with the floodplain management regulations 
of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance (Section 5.03). 

Bride asked about the relationship with MidAmerican and whether the applicant is using the ag exempt.  Walker 
indicated that the county does not recognize the exemption because he doesn’t row crop.  O’Tool asked if progress 
has been made with MidAmerican in terms of hooking up to the grid.  Walker indicated he is working with the state 
electrical.  Bride inquired as to who performs the electrical inspection.  Walker replied the State of Iowa.  Motion by 

2



2

O’Tool to recommend approval of this conditional use permit request to the Board of Adjustment with the following 
conditions: 

- The property owners shall ensure that: 

o The turbine tower installation/placement shall meet or exceed the 10 FT accessory setback 
requirements from the west property line as enumerated in the Woodbury County Zoning 
Ordinance (Section 3.04). 

o The turbine tower installation/placement shall comply with the floodplain management 
regulations of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance (Section 5.03).   

Second: Parker.  Motion carried: 5-0. 

Consider to Adopt Amendment to Rules of Procedure for the Meeting Day, Time, and Location of the 
Woodbury County Zoning Commission:  
Discussion to consider moving the Zoning Commission meeting time to 5:00 p.m. and setting meeting date to 4th

Monday of each month.  Zoning Commission meeting time is independent of the Board of Adjustment start time.  
Staff has been asked to adjust meeting times in concern of overtime for security personal.  Board members voted 
5-0 to move meeting start time to 5:00 p.m.  Motion by Bride; second by O’Tool.  Carried: 5-0, to amend the Rules 
of Procedure for the Woodbury County Zoning Commission, Article IV., Section 2.  Regular Meetings to read: 
The Zoning Commission is on-call for its regular meeting scheduled on the fourth Monday of every month 
beginning at 5:00 p.m. in the 1st Floor Board Room in the Woodbury County Courthouse, subject to formal 
business to be considered.  Notice of the regular meeting shall typically be sent by the Secretary to the members at 
least 2-days prior to such meeting and shall state the purpose and time of the meeting.

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
None 

Commissioner Comment of Inquiry 
None 

Staff Update 
Priestley informed the Commissioners that the solar ordinance amendment will be considered by the Board of 
Supervisors with three public hearings to be held on August 1, 8, and 15 at 4:45 PM on each date. 

Adjourn 
Motion by Meister. Second by Parker.  Carried 5-0.  Meeting adjourned at 6:28 PM. 

3



RULES OF PROCEDURE 
FOR THE 

WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING COMMISSION 

ARTICLE I: PURPOSE 

The Woodbury County Zoning Commission created the foregoing rules with the intent of making 
its procedures clear, clean, and easy to follow, both for the Commission members and for 
members of the public. 

The following rules of procedure have been approved by the Board of Supervisors on 
_________________ and are hereby adopted by the Woodbury County Zoning Commission. 

 ARTICLE II: MEMBERS 

There are 5 members of the Woodbury County Zoning Commission. They shall be residents of 
unincorporated Woodbury County, Iowa and are appointed by the Woodbury County Board of 
Supervisors. 

ARTICLE III: OFFICERS 

Section 1. Officers  
The Commission shall select from its membership a Chair and a Vice-Chair who will perform the 
usual duties pertaining to such office. Per Section 2.01: B of the County Zoning Ordinance, the 
Zoning Director or his/her appointee, will serve as Secretary. 

Section 2. Selection  
At the first regular meeting of the calendar year the Commission will pick its officers from its 
membership. All officers are eligible for re-election. 

Section 3. Tenure 
The Chair shall take office immediately following their selection and shall hold office for a term 
of 1 year or until their successor is selected and assumes office. 

The Vice-Chair shall take office immediately following their selection and shall hold office for a 
term of 1 year or until their successor is selected and assumes office. 

Section 4. Duties  
The Chair will preside at all regular meetings and hearings, appoint committees, and perform 
such other duties as may be ordered by the Commission. The Vice-Chair shall act in the 
capacity of the Chair in their absence. If the Chair and Vice-Chair are both absent from a 
meeting and there is a quorum, the most-senior Commissioner shall serve as Chair of that 
meeting. The Secretary will record and maintain minutes of the meetings, maintain all 
records, and perform such other duties as the Zoning Commission may determine. 
 
Section 5. Vacancy  
If office of the Chair becomes vacant, the Vice-Chair shall succeed to this office for the 
unexpired term and the Commission shall select a successor to the office of Vice-Chair for the 
unexpired term. If only the office of the Vice-Chair becomes vacant, the Commission shall select 
a successor to the office of Vice-Chair for the unexpired term. 

pg. 1 

August 8, 2023

4



ARTICLE IV. MEETINGS 

Section 1. Compliance with the Open Meetings Law 
All meetings of the Commission shall be conducted in compliance with Chapter 21 of the Code 
of Iowa and other applicable law. 

Section 2. Regular Meetings  
The Zoning Commission is on-call for its regular meeting scheduled on the fourth Monday of 
every month beginning at 5:00 PM in the 1st Floor Board Room at the Woodbury County 
Courthouse, subject to formal business to be considered. Notice of the regular meeting shall 
typically be sent by the Secretary to the members at least 2-days prior to such meeting and 
shall state the purpose and time of the meeting. 

Section 3. Special Meetings  
Special meetings may be called at the request of the Chair from time to time as required to 
conduct the business of the County, provided that at least 24-hours notice of such meeting is 
given to each member. 

Section 4. Quorum and Consensus  
The presence of three members shall constitute a quorum. Without a quorum, no business will 
be transacted and no official action on any matter will take place. 

Section 5. Majority Required  
A majority of the quorum present is required for the adoption of any matter to come before the 
Commission. 

Section 6. Manner of Acting 
Any question to come before the Commission shall be in the form of a motion by a 

commissioner and shall require a second for consideration. Remarks made by a Commissioner 
shall be limited to 10-minutes unless an extension is granted by a majority of the Commission. 
Commissioners shall address the Chair and confine their remarks to the question before the 
Commission and shall be respectful of other Commissioners and avoid referencing or 
questioning the motives of another Commissioner. 

Section 7. Roll Call Votes.  
The Chair shall order a roll call vote when requested by a member. The roll shall be called 
alphabetically, except the Chair shall be called last. 

Section 8. Effects of Abstention.  
When a Commissioner abstains due to a conflict of interest, the vote of the Commission shall be 
computed on the basis of the number of Commissioners not disqualified by reason of conflict of 
interest. However, at least 3 Commissioners eligible to vote are required for a quorum on any 
matter. Abstentions that are not due to a conflict of interest shall be counted as a "no" vote. 

Section 9. Electronic Participation  
Members of the Commission may participate in a meeting by electronic means only in 
circumstances where participation in person is impossible or impractical. Any member 
participating electronically shall be connected by a speaker phone, video conference, or other 
device or software, so that the public can hear any discussion by that member. The vote of any 

pg. 2 

5



member participating electronically must be made public at the meeting and the minutes of the 
meeting shall include sufficient information to indicate the vote of each member participating. 

ARTICLE V: ADMINISTRATION 

Section 1.  
Commission meetings are administered by the Chair. The Chair has the right to: 

1. Call the meeting to order 
2. Recognize speakers 
3. Call for motions on agenda items, and facilitate debate 
4. Preserve order and decorum 
5. Determine points of order 

ARTICLE VI. ORDER OF BUSINESS 

Section 2.  
The Secretary will prepare an agenda for each meeting and send it to each member typically at 
least 2-days before the meeting. The order of business shall typically be as follows: 

1. Call to order and opening statement by Chair 
2. Roll call 
3. Public comments on matters not on the established agenda (3-minute limit) 
4. Approval of minutes 
5. Item of business 
6. Public comments on matters not on the established agenda (3-minute limit) 

7. Commissioner comments 
8. Adjournment 

Section 3.  
As to an item of business, the order shall typically be as follows: 

1. Staff report 
2. Petitioner comments 
3. Commissioner comments and questions for staff/petitioner 
4. Staff/petitioner rebuttal opportunity  
4. Public comments 
5. Staff/petitioner rebuttal opportunity 
6. Vote 

ARTICLE VII. MOTIONS AND VOTING 

Section 1.  
Motions may be made by anyone on the Commission. The Chair will restate the motion before a 
vote is taken. The Commission typically recognizes three kinds of motions: 

A. Main Motion — request for action on an item; can be made by any 
member, including the Chair. 

B. Motion to Amend a Motion — which the Commission must vote on first, 
then the Commission votes on the underlying motion. 

C. Motion to Postpone discussion of a matter until a future meeting. 

pg. 3 

6



Section 2.  

Another Commissioner may then second a motion. The motion dies if no member seconds it. 

Section 3.  
The Commission may then debate the motion further. 

1. Members should keep their discussion concise and limited to the motion on the 

table. 

2. A member may withdraw his/her own motion at any time during debate. 

Section 4.  

The Chair may then conclude debate by calling for a vote. Each member must respond:  

1. Yes ("aye") 

2. No ("nay") 

3. Abstain 

Section 5.  
The Chair shall then state whether the motion passes or fails, and the final vote tally  

ARTICLE VIII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Section 1.  

Any member of the public wishing to address the Commission may do so during the appropriate  

"public comments" section of the Order of Business. 

Section 2.  
Comments by any one member of the public shall be limited to 3 minutes. 

Section 3.  

Any person so addressing the Commission shall step up to the microphone and give their name  

and address for the record. 

Section 4.  

Should a person engage in slanderous remarks, personal attacks, or boisterous behavior, the 

Chair may refuse to recognize the speaker, may ask the speaker to leave, or may have the 

speaker removed. 

ARTICLE IX. AMENDMENTS 

Section 1.  
The Commission may suspend or amend these rules at any regular or special meeting by a  

majority vote of the members present. 

 

_____________________     _____________________ 
DATE ADOPTED      CHAIRPERSON 

_____________________ 

ATTESTOR

pg. 4 

7



WOODBURY COUNTY COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
620 Douglas St. · Sixth Floor · Sioux City, IA 51101 · Phone: 712.279.6609 · Fax: 712.279.6530 · Web: woodburycountyiowa.gov

Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator · dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov 
Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk · dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov

PRELIMINARY REPORT – SEPTEMBER 5, 2023

JANET HECK SUBDIVISION MINOR SUBDIVISION PROPOSAL

Application Details Property Details Contents

Applicant(s)/Owner(s): Janet K. Heck, Kevin 
Heck (Executor)

Application Type: Minor Subdivision

Name of Subdivision: Janet Heck Subdivision

Application Date: July 17, 2023

Number of Lots: 1

Total Acres: 4

Extraterritorial Review: Waived by Salix with 
Resolution No. 2023-20

Legal Notice Date: August 29, 2023

Neighbor(s) Notice Date: August 23, 2023

Stakeholder(s) Notice 
Date:

July 27, 2023

Zoning Commission 
Public Hearing Date:

August 28, 2023

Board of Supervisors 
Agenda Date:

TBD

Attorney: Ryan Ross, 712-224-7585

Surveyor: Mike Schulte, 712-790-
3489

Parcel #: 874724300005

Township/Range: T87N R47W (Liberty)

Section: 24

Quarter: SE ¼ SW ¼ 

Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation

Floodplain District: Zone A - Area to be 
subdivided under 5 acres.  
No BFE required.

Address: 1739 260th St., Salix, IA 
51102

Summary, Location Aerial, Site Plan Excerpt, 
Recommendation, & Suggested Motion

Legal Notification

Neighbor(s) Notification

Stakeholder(s) Comments

Review Criteria / Applicant Responses

Application

Supporting Documentation

SUMMARY

Kevin Heck, executor for Janet K. Heck has filed for a one (1) lot minor subdivision on the property identified as Parcel #874724300005 and referenced above.  This 
subdivision is being completed to separate the house location from the farm ground.  This agricultural subdivision proposal has been properly noticed in the Sioux City 
Journal legals section on August 29, 2023  The neighbors within 1000 FT have been duly notified via a August 23, 2023 letter about the September 11, 2023 Zoning 
Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and organizations have been notified and have been requested to comment.  
The Woodbury County Engineer found the proposal in compliance with Iowa Code closure requirements and found that the lot(s) have adequate access.  This property is 
located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is located in the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) – Zone A.  The City of Salix waived their 
extraterritorial review authority with the approval of Resolution No. 2023-20.  The area of the subdivision is less than 5 acres and Base Flood Elevation (BFE) data is not 
required.  Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for 
approval.  

AERIAL VIEW FINAL PLAT EXCERPT

STAFF RECOMMENDATION & SUGGESTED MOTION

Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  Staff 
recommends approval.  Suggested Motion:  Motion to recommend the approval to the Board of Supervisors as proposed.

8



APPLICATION 

9



10



CED STAFF - REVIEW CRITERIA (SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE)
The County’s Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances require certain actions from County staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission. Per these requirements, 
CED staff: 

shall review a subdivision application for completeness and for approval of a final plat by ensuring it is submitted in accordance with the standards for a 
subdivision plat per Iowa Code. 

Staff reviewed the subdivision application, deemed it complete, and verified the final plat’s conformance to the County’s Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordi-
nance, and the Code of Iowa, all as required by law. 

shall accept payment of applicable fees, and distribute copies of the final plat to the Planning & Zoning Commission, the appropriate county depart-
ments and public utilities; and 
Staff received the application fee and the account is paid-in-full.  Staff also distributed copies of the application, final plat, and other materials to all relevant 
stakeholders as required. 

shall coordinate with the County Engineer who shall review the final plat to determine conformance with the engineering design standards of these regu-
lations and to verify accuracy of the legal descriptions and survey data; and 

Staff have received written confirmation that the County Engineer has reviewed and determined that te final plat conforms to the engineering and design standards 
of these regulations, and he has verified the accuracy of the legal descriptions and survey data. 

shall review the final plat to determine conformance with the design standards of these regulations and with the required form of the plat and related 
documents; and 

Staff verified that the final plat conforms to the design standards of these regulations, as well as the required form of the final plat. 

shall assure conformance with the goals and objectives of the County’s General Plan, the CED staff may make recommendations for conditions for ap-
proval including use restrictions required to preserve and improve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort, and convenience of the future residents of 
the subdivision and neighboring properties. 

Staff attest to the final plat conforming to the goals and objectives of the county plan.  Staff recommends approval of the final plat. 

ZONING COMMISSION - REVIEW CRITERIA (SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE) 
The County’s Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances require certain actions from County staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission. Per these requirements, 
the Planning and Zoning Commission: 

shall conduct a public hearing on a final plat for a minor subdivision. Notice of the date, time and location of the hearing will be mailed to the owners of all 
property within 1,000 feet for the subject property not less than four nor more than twenty days prior to the date of the hearing; and 

Staff have ensured that the legal requirements have been met for publicly noticing this public hearing, all as required by law. Staff have also ensured the notice 
requirement for adjacent landowners within 1000 FT have also been met.  

shall review the final plat and the staff reports and other information presented to determine whether the plat conforms to the ordinances, general plan 
and other policies of the county; and 

Staff have compiled, reviewed, and analyzed all relevant materials to determine whether the plat conforms to the ordinances, general plan, and other policies of the 
County, or not. Staff provided this information in a “Staff Report” format and made them available to the Commission well in advance of the required public hear-
ing. The Commission also held a public hearing to review, analyze, and discuss the final plat and other relevant information. 

may recommend specific conditions for approval including use restrictions required to preserve and improve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort, 
and convenience of the future residents of the subdivision and neighboring properties; and 

Staff does not recommend any specific conditions for this final plat. However, specific conditions (if any) may be recommended by the Commission. 

shall forward a report of its finding and a recommendation to the Board of Supervisors. The recommendation shall be in the form of a resolution to be 
certified as part of the final plat materials. A copy of the report and the resolution shall also be forwarded to the property owner, the subdivider and the 
land surveyor for the subdivision. 

During its required public hearing on the final plat, the Board of Supervisors will receive the final staff report and the Commission's recommendation on said plat 
and shall approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove the plat. The Supervisors may table the matter with the consent of the subdivider. Approval shall be in the 
form of a resolution to be certified as part of the final plat. Staff will coordinate with the subdivider and land surveyor to ensure all copies and recordings are sub-
mitted and received, all as required by law.  

11



EXTRATERRITORIAL REVIEW – RESOLUTION TO BE RECORDED SEPARATELY AS AN ATTACHMENT WITH THE FINAL PLAT

12



13



LEGAL NOTIFICATION 

Published in the Sioux City Journal’s Legal Section on August 29, 2023. 

PROPERTY OWNER(S) NOTIFICATION MAP 

Total Property Owners within 1000 FT via Certified 
Abstractor’s Listing: 

6 

Notification Letter Date: August 23, 2023 

Public Hearing Board: Zoning Commission 

Public Hearing Date: September 11, 2023 

Phone Inquiries: 1 

Written Inquiries: 0 

The names of the property owners are listed below.   

When more comments are received after the printing of this packet, they will be provided at the meeting. 

Property Owner(s) Mailing Address Comments
Estate of Janet Heck 608 Benning Dr. Holstein IA 51025

-4401 
No comments 

The Betty Jean Kelly Trust 7066 Reed St. Arvada CO 80003 No comments 
Northwest Iowa Power 
Cooperative 

PO Box 240 Le Mars IA 51031 No comments 

James J. Yanak and Janet M. 
Yanak 

1719 260th St. Salix IA 51052
-8020 

No comments 

Edwin D. Hale and John A. 
Hale 

PO Box 67 Storm Lake IA 50588 No comments 

Edward J. O'Meara, Michael J. 
O'Meara, Ardis A. O'Meara 
Pineo 

4137 Amherst Ave. Dallas TX 75225 No comments 

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS 
911 COMMUNICATIONS CENTER: No comments 
FIBERCOMM: No comments 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (IDNR): No comments 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT): No comments
LOESS HILLS NATIONAL SCENIC BYWAY: No comments 
LOESS HILLS PROGRAM: No comments 
LONGLINES: No comments 
LUMEN: No comments 
MAGELLAN PIPELINE: No comments 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Electrical Division): MEC electric has no conflicts with this item. – Casey Meinen, 7/28/23. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Gas Division): No conflicts for MEC “Gas” on this item. – Tyler Ahlquist, 7/28/23. 
NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICES 
(NRCS):

No comments 

NORTHERN NATURAL GAS: No comments 
NORTHWEST IOWA POWER COOPERATIVE (NIPCO): Received the attached proposal in the mail on 8/14/2023.  Have reviewed the location of this zoning 

proposal change.  NIPCO has a 69kV transmission line running along the south boundary of this 
property.  As long as the property owners, tenants, renters do not place anything under or around the 
transmission line within 50ft of the centerline, NIPCO has no objections to this request. – Jayme 
Huber, 8/16/23. 

NUSTAR PIPELINE: No issues from NuStar. – Matt McGee, 7/28/23. 

14



SIOUXLAND DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT: No comments 
WIATEL: No comments 
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR: No comments 
WOODBURY COUNTY CONSERVATION: No comments 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT: No comments 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES: No comments 
WOODBURY COUNTY ENGINEER: SEE REVIEW MEMO BELOW 
WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER: I have no comments.  – Diane Swoboda Peterson, 8/7/23. 
WOODBURY COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC 
COOPERATIVE (REC):

No comments 

WOODBURY COUNTY SOIL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT:

The WCSWCD has no comments regarding this proposal. – Neil Stockfleth, 7/31/23. 

15



PLAT MAP EXCERPT 

16



PARCEL REPORT 

17



18



ZONING MAP

EFFECTIVE FLOODPLAIN MAP

19



DRAFT FLOODPLAIN MAP

ELEVATION MAP

20



SOIL MAP

SOIL REPORT

21



BASE FLOOD ELEVATION DATA (IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES) 

22



23



WOODBURY COUNTY COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
620 Douglas St. · Sixth Floor · Sioux City, IA 51101 · Phone: 712.279.6609 · Fax: 712.279.6530 · Web: woodburycountyiowa.gov

Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator · dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov 
Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk · dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov

PRELIMINARY REPORT – SEPTEMBER 5, 2023 

ZONING ORDINANCE MAP AMENDMENT PROPOSAL (REZONE PARCEL #884506200006 to AE) 

Application Details Property Details Contents 

Applicant(s)/Owner(s): Richard & Kimberly Luze

Application Type: Zoning Ordinance Map 
Amendment 

Current Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation 

Requested Zoning District: Agricultural Estates 

Current Use: Residential 

Proposed Use: Residential 

Average CSR Rating: NRCS Document 
Included 

Engineer/Surveyor: Alan Fagan (712-539-
1471) 

Pre-application Meeting: July 25, 2023 

Application Date: August 1, 2023 

Stakeholder Notification: August 4, 2023 

Neighbors’ Notification: August 23, 2023 

Legal Publication: August 29, 2023 

Zoning Commission Public 
Hearing: 

September 11, 2023 

Board of Supervisors 
Public Hearings: 

September 19, 26, and 
October 3 19 at 4:45 PM 

Parcel #: 884506200006 

Township/Range: T88N R45W (Moville) 

Section: 6 

Subdivision: Boyle’s Addition 

Lot: 2 

Acres: 18.53 

Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation 

Floodplain District: X (Not in Floodplain) 

Legal Description: Lot Two (2), Boyle’s 
Addition, Woodbury 
County, Iowa 

Address: 2480 Hwy 20, Lawton, IA 
51030 

Summary, Location Aerial, Site Plan Excerpt, 
Recommendation, & Suggested Motion 

Legal Notification 

Neighbor(s) Notification 

Stakeholder(s) Comments 

Review Criteria / Applicant Responses 

Application 

Supporting Documentation 

SUMMARY 

Richard and Kimberly Luze (Applicants/Owners) have filed a Zoning Ordinance Map Amendment application with Woodbury County to request for their property (Parcel 
#884506200006) to be rezoned from the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District to the Agricultural Estates (AE) Zoning District.  The applicants are making this 
request to pursue an eventual split of their parcel to facilitate the ability to add a neighboring single-family dwelling in the future as there are presently two houses located 
within the existing quarter-quarter section.  The split will likely consist of approximately three acres from the existing 18+ acres.  This will be initiated at a future date.  The 
neighbors within 1000 FT have been notified via a August 23, 2023 letter about the September 11, 2023 Zoning Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders 
including government agencies, utilities, and organizations have been notified and have been requested to comment.  This property is located in the Agricultural Preservation 
(AP) Zoning District and is not located in the floodplain.  This requested zoning change is compliant with the future land use map of Woodbury County’s development plan 
as this area is designed within the rural residential area.  Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance, the 
proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  

AERIAL VIEW FUTURE LAND USE MAP EXCERPT (Rural Residential – Yellow) 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION & SUGGESTED MOTION 

Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  Staff 
recommends approval.  Suggested Motion:  Motion to recommend the approval to the Board of Supervisors as proposed.

24



APPLICATION 

25



26



DRAFT – SUBJECT TO CHANGES 

27



28



EVALUATION CRITERIA 
The Zoning Commission shall base their recommendations and the Board of Supervisors shall base their decision on any requested amendment of the zoning district 
map on the following criteria: 

Conformance with the goals and objectives set forth in the approved general development plan for Woodbury County including the future land use map. 

The 2005 Future Land Use Map shows this area as Rural Residential.  The parcel is currently zoned Agricultural Preservation (AP) and the request is to 
change to Agricultural Estates (AE).  The request conforms to the goals and objectives of the general development plan as it relates to the following land use 
goals: 

 Residential Goal 5.1: Encourage non-farm residential development to locate near cities or on existing hard surfaced roadways, particularly in are-
as that can be served by urban services such as public water and sewer systems. 

 Residential Goal 5.2: Encourage residential development to locate in areas with suitable accessibility, soils, and terrain. 
 Land Use Goal 1.2: Adopt development regulations that promote efficient, stable land uses with minimum conflicts and provision of public infra-

structure. 

EFFECTIVE PLAN (ABOVE) 

DRAFT PLAN FOR 2040 (ABOVE - NOT ADOPTED) 29



Compatibility and conformance with the policies and plans of other agencies with respect to the subject property.                  

There are no conflicts with the policies and plans of other agencies.  

Consideration of the Corn Suitability (CSR) of the property.                  

Compatibility with adjacent land uses.                  

The rezone to AE is compatible with the area residential uses.  The AE Zoning District retains much of the land use characteristics that are offered in the AP 
Zoning District.  The major different between the two is that AE allows for more than two houses in a quarter-quarter section.  An additional house in the area 
on AG land should not adversely impact the neighboring properties.   

Compatibility with other physical and economic factors affecting or affected by the proposed rezoning. 

This proposal is compatible with other physical and economic factors in the project area as there are no major infrastructure improvements required.  In the 
event of a lot split, the property owner must prepare an easement to share the same driveway as the Iowa DOT will likely not grant a new driveway.  This 
matter will be addressed at the time of any future split.   

Any other relevant factors. 

None. 

LEGAL NOTIFICATION 

Published in the Sioux City Journal’s Legal Section on August 29, 2023. 

PROPERTY OWNER(S) NOTIFICATION MAP 

Total Property Owners within 1000 FT via Certified 
Abstractor’s Listing: 

8 

Notification Letter Date: August 23, 2023 

Public Hearing Board: Zoning Commission 

Public Hearing Date: September 11, 2023 

Phone Inquiries: 3 

Written Inquiries: 1 

The names of the property owners are listed below.   

When more comments are received after the printing of this packet, they will be provided at the meeting. 

30



Property Owner(s) Mailing Address Written Comments
Richard F. Luze & Kimberly 
K. Luze 2480 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 

No comments. 

Steve Mrla 1540 Dallas Ave. Lawton IA 51030 No comments. 
Brian L. Berkenpas & Lisa 
Marling-George 2470 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 

No comments. 

BrianLisa, LLC 2470 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 No comments. 
Trustee of the Vicki J. Atwell 
Revocable Living Trust 2514 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 

SEE COMMENT BELOW. 

Violet M. Reinholdt 
2605 Glen Ellen 
Road Sioux City IA 

51106
-7124 

No comments. 

Life Estate to Trustee of the 
James R. Cross Revocable 
Trust 1371 Grundy Ave. Moville IA 51039 

No comments. 

Bradley H. Hopp & Megan L. 
Hopp 2475 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 

No comments. 

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS 
911 COMMUNICATIONS CENTER: No comments. 
FIBERCOMM: No comments. 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (IDNR): No comments. 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT): No comments.
LOESS HILLS NATIONAL SCENIC BYWAY: No comments. 
LOESS HILLS PROGRAM: No comments. 
LONGLINES: No comments. 
LUMEN: No comments. 
MAGELLAN PIPELINE: No comments. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Electrical Division): I have reviewed the proposed rezoning for MEC electric, and we have no conflicts. – Casey Meinen, 

8/8/23. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Gas Division): No conflicts for MEC “Gas”. – Tyler Ahlquist, 8/7/23. 
NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICES 
(NRCS):

No comments. 

NORTHERN NATURAL GAS: No comments. 
NORTHWEST IOWA POWER COOPERATIVE (NIPCO): Have reviewed this zoning request.  NIPCO has no issues with this request. – Jeff Zettel, 8/7/23. 
NUSTAR PIPELINE: No comments. 
SIOUXLAND DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT: No comments. 
WIATEL: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY CONSERVATION: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY ENGINEER: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER: I have no comments. – Diane Swoboda Peterson, 8/7/23. 
WOODBURY COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC 
COOPERATIVE (REC):

No comments. 

WOODBURY COUNTY SOIL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT:

The WCSWCD has no comments regarding this rezoning proposal. – Neil Stockfleth, 8/4/23. 

31



ZONING MAP 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

32



PARCEL REPORT 

33



34



EFFECTIVE FLOODPLAIN MAP 

v 

DRAFT FLOODPLAIN MAP 

35



ELEVATION MAP 

36



SOIL REPORT 

37



38



39



SOIL MAP 

40



UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR INFORMATION FOR PUBLIC HEARING 

Contents 

 Direction from Board of Supervisors (Agenda Item from 8/8/23) 

 Utility-Scale Solar Systems Permitting 

o Summary 

o Requested Proposal 

o Concepts for Consideration 

o Comments 

 Utility-Scale Solar Systems Considerations for an Ordinance Amendment 

 Ordinance Preparation Information 

o “Renewable Solar Energy Systems Model Ordinance” – Steve Guyer, Iowa Environmental Council & Patrick Snell, the 

Nature Conservancy 

o “Iowa Solar Siting Resource Guide: A Roadmap for Counties” – Center for Rural Affairs – Iowa Environmental Council 

o “Commissioning Solar Energy Systems Resource Guide” – Heidi Kolbeck-Urlacher, Center for Rural Affairs 

o “Policy Approaches for Dual-Use and Agrisolar Practices” –  AgriSolar Clearinghouse, Heidi Kolbeck-Urlacher, Center for 

Rural Affairs 

 Iowa Code Chapter 564A 

 Solar Ordinance Samples by County in the State of Iowa 

o Adair 

o Clayton 

o Clinton 

o Dubuque 

o Johnson 

o Linn 

o Louisa 

o Mills 

o Monona 

o Muscatine 

o Polk 

o Ringgold 

o Scott  

o Tama 

41



WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AGENDA ITEM(S) REQUEST FORM 

Date:    _________________         Weekly Agenda Date:     ______________ 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

BACKGROUND: 

ELECTED OFFICIAL / DEPARTMENT HEAD / CITIZEN:       ____________________________________ 

WORDING FOR AGENDA ITEM:    

ACTION REQUIRED:

   Approve Resolution         Approve Motion   Approve Ordinance

Public Hearing                Other:  Informational      Attachments    

8/2/2023 8/8/2023

Supervisor J.Taylor/M. Nelson

The Board of Supervisors unanimously has voiced support for adding solar energy systems (private use) as accessory use in each 
zoning district and affirming support of solar energy systems (utility scale) in the GI Zoning District. However, given that AP 
constitutes roughly 75% of Woodbury County's 875 sq. mi and inherent to Agricultural Preservation is the preservation of 
agriculture, we have an interest in doing what is inherent in the name: preserving agriculture. Toward that end, we are not against 
solar but think that the following strikes a very reasonable and thoughtful balance, something that can feel rushed in the readings 
and end up making solar development projects so loose as to not know the desired saturation, legal implications (at least 2 other 
counties are in lawsuits based on the conditions set after the fact), and how we want to grow the next 25, 50, and 100 years. 
 
Iowa Farm Bureau states regarding energy policy: "Iowa should maintain a balanced electrical energy generation portfolio to ensure 
energy reliability and resilience at an affordable cost" (2023) and "Iowa's electrical energy policy should not promote new wind and 
solar energy generation on viable and productive agricultural ground. Existing structures and nonproductive ground should be 
utilized to expand our energy production" (2023).

Iowa Cattlemen land use policy states: "Whereas the issue of land use in Iowa becomes increasingly important as Iowa population 
grows and the use of land becomes more intensified, and whereas the cattlemen of Iowa have distinctive problems and interests in 
the use of land for production of beef cattle; and whereas the complexities of the many issues and interests involved are 
substantial, not the least of which are the preservation of private property rights and the location of control over land-use decisions. 
Therefore, be it resolved, land suitable for the grazing of livestock should be deemed agricultural land worthy of preservation and 
that grazing and be given over recreational and/or urban uses. Be it further resolved, public lands should be subject to the same 
rules and regulations as privately owned lands." 
 
As the two supervisors representing the most rural areas, we deeply desire the preservation of agriculture while at the same time 
understanding the need for balance: private property rights, economic development, clean energy, and freedom. Therefore, if the 
county was to engage in utility-scale solar, at minimum, the county should consider this only if the following is met: 
 
+ A conditional use permit for AP "C" with Planning and Zoning and the Board of Adjustment to be able to site-specifically take into 
consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/soil, and other factors when approving permit. 
 
+ A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and future land 
stewardship. 
 
+ A maximum height of no more than 20' for panel structures. 
 
+ Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project. In short, 51% must be for agricultural production or no longer considered 
"AP." 
 
+ Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP "agricultural preservation," preserving 98% of AP. This equates to approximately 
8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land constituting 75% of the 570,000 total acres in Woodbury County.

Upon Striking Agricultural Preservation as relates to Amendment 2 (Utility-Scale Solar), a Motion to 
Give Direction for a New Proposed Ordinance in Regards to Utility-Scale Solar

✔

42



FINANCIAL IMPACT:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IF THERE IS A CONTRACT INVOLVED IN THE AGENDA ITEM, HAS THE CONTRACT BEEN SUBMITTED AT LEAST ONE WEEK 
PRIOR AND ANSWERED WITH A REVIEW BY THE COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE? 

Yes     ☐            No       ☐ 

RECOMMENDATION:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACTION REQUIRED / PROPOSED MOTION:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by Board of Supervisors April 5, 2016.  

(cont...) 
 
+ Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet. 
 
+ A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be on a landowner's property or that the 
owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County.

Upon Striking Agricultural Preservation as relates to Amendment 2 (Utility-Scale Solar), a Motion to Give 
Direction for a New Proposed Ordinance in Regards to Utility-Scale Solar

Upon Striking Agricultural Preservation as relates to Amendment 2 (Utility-Scale Solar), a Motion to Give 
Direction for a New Proposed Ordinance in Regards to Utility-Scale Solar

43



UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR SYSTEMS PERMITTING 

Summary: 
- The Woodbury County Zoning Commission has been directed by the Board of Supervisors on August 8, 2023 to establish/examine 

a new ordinance as it relates to utility-scale solar systems.  The purpose of this public hearing is to receive comments from the 
public about solar energy systems not limited to utility-scale solar systems, agrisolar or agrivoltaics, and community solar systems 
as the Commission works toward preparing a recommendation for a proposed ordinance or amendments to the Woodbury County 
Zoning Ordinance to address the permitting process for such systems in industrial and/or agricultural areas.   

Requested Proposal:

- The Board of Supervisors have indicated that “if the county was to engage in utility-scale solar, at minimum, the county should 
consider this only if the following is met”: 

o A conditional use permit for AP “C” with Planning and Zoning and Board of Adjustment to be able to site-specifically take 
into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/sol, and other factors when approving permit. 

o A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and future land 
stewardship. 

o A maximum height of no more than 20’ for panel structures. 

o Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project.  In short, 51% must be for agricultural production or no longer 
considered “AP.” 

o Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP “agricultural preservation,” preserving 98% of AP.  This equates to 
approximately 8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land constituting 75% of the 570,000 total acres in 
Woodbury County. 

o Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet. 

o A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be on a landowner’s property or 
that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County. 

Concepts for Consideration: 

 Certified Abstractor’s Listing – 
Public Notification Area 

 Site Plan 
 Setbacks 
 Height 
 Protected Areas 
 Slope 
 Landscaping/Buffer/Screening 
 Fencing/Security 
 Signage 
 Lighting 
 Noise 
 Outdoor Storage 
 Utility Plan / Utility Connections / 

Agreements 
 Floodplain? 

 Habitat and Natural Resource 
Considerations 

 Solar Glare Minimization 
 Weed Control 
 Grading Plan 
 Compliance with applicable laws 

(local, state, federal) 
 Access 
 Road use 
 Aviation Protection 
 Maintenance, Repair, or 

Replacement / Repowering 
 Waste 
 Soil Erosion / Sediment Control 
 Stormwater Management 
 Administration / Enforcement / 

Violations 

 Emergency Management 
 Timeline 
 Safety 
 Abandonment / Cessation of 

Operations 
 Decommissioning and Reclamation 
 Fees 
 Agrivoltaics / Agrisolar 
 Community Solar Systems 
 Concentrating Solar Power 
 Solar definitions 
 Etc. 

44



Comments: 

SEE ATTACHED BELOW – “Renewable Solar Energy Systems Model Ordinance,” Stevey Guyer (Iowa Environmental Council) and Patrick 
Snell (The Nature Conservancy). 

45



UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR SYSTEMS CONSIDERATIONS FOR AN ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 

Consideration 1: A conditional use permit for AP “C” with Planning and Zoning and Board of Adjustment to be able to site-specifically take 
into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/sol, and other factors when approving permit. 

 Public Notification: Newspaper Legals and Letter to Property Owners within 1 mile regarding public hearing before Board of 
Adjustment and Zoning Commission consideration. 

 Land/Soil: Corn Suitability Rating 2 (CSR2) and Soil Types with Slope Content 

o CSR2 Average by Parcel in Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District *Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

 Using 65+ CSR2 

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 65  

 204,405.91 Acres 

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 75 

 115,504.96 Acres 

46



o CSR2 Average by Parcel in Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District *Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 65  

 204,405.91 Acres 

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 75 

 115,504.96 Acres 

47



Consideration 2: A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and future land 
stewardship.

o Soil Types with Slope Content *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

48



49



*NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

o Soil Types with Slope content greater than 5% (Red) *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

50



*NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

o Areas with soil slopes between 0-5% *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

51



o Areas with soil slopes greater than 5% *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

o Floodplain and Soils with Slope over 5% *NRCS data and floodplain Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

 Blue Represents Floodplain Areas 
 Red represents areas with Slope over 5% 
 Green represents areas with Slope under 5% 

52



o Floodplain and CSR2 *NRCS data and floodplain Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon 

 Floodplain – “Blue” 
 CSR2 –  

 0-35 – “Green” 

 35-64– “Brown” 

 65-100 = “Red” 

Consideration 3: A maximum height of no more than 20’ for panel structures.  

 Language could be considered that places a 20’ height limitation on the solar panels.   
o According to the Renewable Solar Energy Systems Model Ordinance by Guyer and Snell, 20 FT is offered as a possible 

height limitation for consideration.  However, if agrisolar systems are to be considered in the future, the bulk regulations 
of the zoning district could be considered which are 45 FT.  According to the AgriSolar Clearinghouse, “maximum heights 
range from 12 to 45 feet.  Most fall between 15 and 25 feet” (Website: https://www.agrisolarclearinghouse.org/) 

County Location 
Population 
(2023) 

Height Requirement 

Adair 7,439 Unspecified.  

Clayton 16,716 Reverts to 
Zoning 
Ordinance.  
Varies: 25 to 
35 FT. 

Clinton 45,662 Bulk 
regulations 
of the 
ordinance for 
structures by 
Zoning 
District. 

Dubuque 100,949 Bulk 
regulations 
of the 
ordinance for 
structures by 53



Zoning 
District. 

Johnson 159,445 35 FT

Linn 236,020 Not 
referenced. 

Louisa 10,672 Not 
referenced. 

Mills 14,310 15 FT at a 
maximum 
tilt. 

Monona 8,604 No 
restriction. 

Muscatine 43,382 Bulk 
regulations. 

Polk 510,929 Bulk 
regulations. 

Ringgold 4,522 No 
reference. 

Scott 177,501 Bulk 
regulations 
of the 
ordinance for 
structures by 
Zoning 
District. 

Tama 16,946 TBD

Consideration 4: Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project.  In short, 51% must be for agricultural production or no longer 
considered “AP.”

 This is to consider the co-existence of agricultural and utility solar.  If a solar project is to co-exist on farm ground, it may be 
considered to require that 51% of the project be used to support agricultural purposes. 

54



Consideration 5: Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP “agricultural preservation,” preserving 98% of AP.  This equates to 
approximately 8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land constituting 75% of the 570,000 total acres in Woodbury County.

 Based on GIS data calculated by WCICC, it appears the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District is comprised of 508,624.55 
total assessed acres.  If a 2% cap is instituted, this would make approximately 10,172.49 acres available for consideration for 
utility-solar in the AP Zoning District.  

Zoning District Total Assessed Net Acres 2% Cap 

Agricultural Preservation (AP) 508,624.55 10,172.49 

General Industrial (GI) 9,051.89 - 

Consideration 6: Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet.

 As a conditional use, the notification area of 500 FT from the project site could be expanded to one (1) mile.  It will be important to 
note, that this could increase administrative costs.  However, the Board of Supervisors did revise the fee schedule on August 2, 
2022 to require the owners(s)/applicant(s) for conditional use permits to pay additional costs associated with the processing, 
printing, and the mailing of notifications of the public hearings when the number of mailings exceeds 30.  They shall also pay the 
additional costs of the legal publication notice(s) in newspaper(s) when the fees exceed $100.00.   

 The Zoning Commission may also make recommendations to the fee structure for utility-scale solar conditional use permits.    

Consideration 7: A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be on a landowner’s property or 
that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County.

 The Zoning Commission might consider either a requirement or consideration that the utility-scale solar project either be on a 
landowner’s property or that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County. 

55



0 
 

 

Page | 1   

Contents 
 
1. 2 

2. 2 

3. 3 

A. 3 

B. 4 

4. 4 

A.  Ground Mount STES Building Permit Application 4 

B.  General Requirements 4 

5. 5 

A. 5 

B. 6 

C. 8 

D. 8 

E. 8 

  

Page | 2   

  
RENEWABLE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (SES) 
 
1. PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this section is to facilitate the construction, installation and operation of Solar Energy 
Systems (SES) in a manner that promotes local renewable energy production and economic 
development while protecting property values and ensuring the protection of the public health, safety 
and welfare. Renewable Solar Energy Systems enhance grid reliability and reduce peak power 
demands. 
 

2. DEFINITIONS 

 
i. Active Solar System: A system of devices for the collection and use of sunlight to 

generate electricity or to store and circulate heat. 

ii. Community Solar Energy System (CSES): A solar energy system developed by a utility or 
other third party that typically allows community members to subscribe to the project, to 
produce electricity for retail sales delivering it over its own distributive network. 

iii. Concentrating Solar Thermal (CST) Devices: Devices, such as mirrors and lenses, that 
collect and concentrate radiation from the sun to transform it into high-temperature thermal 
energy which can be for heating and cooling, heat for processing, material treatments, 
electricity production, or chemical processes. Concentrating Solar Thermal devices are not an 
allowed use in any zoning district.  

iv. Ground-Mounted System: A system where a rack(s) of panels is mounted on concrete posts 
or poles anchored in the ground and are wired or plumbed to an adjacent home or structure. 

v. Personal Solar Energy System (PSES): A SES that generates power primarily for use on the 
property on which it is constructed. Often referred to as distributive generation and the owner 

as a    distributive generator. 

vi. Photovoltaic (PV) Cells: Semiconductors which generate electricity whenever light 
strikes them; generally grouped on panels. 

vii. Solar Access Space: That airspace above all parcels necessary for a solar collector to access 

solar energy. Any future improvement, vegetation or tree located on a neighboring parcel 

shall not cast a shadow upon any solar collector located within said parcel greater than the 
shadow cast by a hypothetical vertical wall ten (10) feet high located along the property line 

between said parcels between the hours of 9:30 a.m. and 3:30 p.m., Central Standard  Time on 

December 21. Existing improvement(s), tree(s), or other vegetation that cast a shadow upon a 
solar collector at the time of installation of said solar collector shall be allowed to remain. 

viii. Solar Collector: A device, structure or a part of a device or structure for which the 

primary purpose is to transform solar radiant energy into thermal, mechanical, chemical 
or electrical energy. 

 

Page | 3   

ix. Solar Easement: An easement created to protect a solar project from encroachment 
by adjacent properties which would shade panels. See Iowa Code §564A. 

x. Solar Energy: Radiant energy received from the sun that can be collected in the form of heat 
or light by a solar collector. 

xi. Solar Energy System (SES): Solar collectors, controls, energy storage devices, heat pumps, 

heat exchangers, and other materials, hardware or equipment necessary to the process by 
which solar radiation is collected, converted into another form of energy, stored, protected 

from unnecessary dissipation, and distributed. Solar energy systems include solar thermal, 

photovoltaic and concentrated solar. 

xii. Solar Farm Energy System (SFES): A commercial facility that converts sunlight into 
electricity, whether by photovoltaic (PV), concentrating solar thermal devices (CST), or 

other conversion technology for the primary purpose of wholesale sales of generated 

electricity. 
xiii. Solar Panel: 

1. A grouping of photovoltaic cells used to generate electricity directly from sunlight.    
A grouping of these panels is called an array. 

2. A panel circulating water or other liquid through tubes to collect, transfer and store 
the sun's heat for domestic hot water and building heat. 

xiv. Solar Storage Battery: A device that stores energy from the sun and makes it available in 

an electrical form. 

xv. Solar Storage Unit: A component of a solar energy device that is used to store 
solar- generated electricity or heat for later use. 

xvi. Solar Thermal Energy System (STES): A system that directly heats water or other liquids 

using sunlight. The heated liquid is used for such purposes as space heating and cooling, 
domestic hot water, and heating pool water. 

xvii. Structure-Mounted Solar Energy System: A system where photovoltaic panels or solar 

thermal panels are mounted on racks attached to the roof or side-walls of a building. Panels 

can   be flush-mounted or angled for optimal sun exposure. 
 

3. PERSONAL SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (PSES)  

 

Personal Solar Energy Systems provide electrical power for on-site use by the owner and shall be 
considered an accessory use to a principal permitted use in any zoning district. A structure mounted 
PSES requires an electrical permit but does not require a building permit. Construction of a ground 
mounted PSES requires a building permit. If the ground mounted PSES does not meet all 
requirements, the applicant may apply for a variance. 

 
A. Ground Mount PSES Building Permit Application 

 

The applicant(s) requesting the building permit will provide the following information: 
 

56



Page | 4   

i. Name, address and contact information of applicant(s). 
 

ii. Plot plan sketch indicating: (a) property lines and physical dimensions of the subject 
property, (b) location and types of existing major structures on the property, (c) location 
of the proposed solar panels, (d) the right-of-way of any public road that is contiguous 
with the property. 

 
iii. Solar system specifications including (a) manufacturer and model of solar panels and 

inverters, (b) kW (AC) rating, (c) mounting system, (d) solar storage units, if 
applicable. 

 
B. General Requirements 

 
(1) Ground-mounted PSES height shall not be greater than twenty (20) feet at maximum tilt of 
the solar panel(s) in any zoning district. 
 
(2) Structure-mounted PSES height shall not be greater than the allowable height of any structure 
within the zoning district in which the PSES is to be installed. 
 
(3) Setbacks: PSES shall meet the setback requirements for accessory structures in the zoning 
district where the PSES is located. 

 
 
4. SOLAR THERMAL ENERGY SYSTEM (STES)  

Solar Thermal Energy Systems provide heated fluids for on-site use by the owner and shall be 
considered an accessory use to a principal permitted use in any zoning district. A structure mounted 
STES requires a plumbing permit but does not require a building permit. Construction of a ground 
mounted STES requires a building permit. If the ground mounted STES does not meet all 
requirements, the applicant may apply for a variance. 

 
A. Ground Mount STES Building Permit Application 

The applicant(s) requesting the building permit will provide the following information: 
 

i. Name, address and contact information of applicant(s). 
 

ii. Plot plan sketch indicating: (a) property lines and physical dimensions of the subject 
property, (b) location and types of existing major structures on the property, (c) location 
of the proposed solar thermal energy system and proposed pipelines to the structure 
utilizing the STES, (d) the right-of-way of any public road that is contiguous with the 
property. 

 
iii. Solar thermal energy system specifications including (a) manufacturer and model of solar 

panels, (b) mounting system. 
 

Page | 5   

B. General Requirements 
 

(1) Ground-mounted STES height shall not be greater than twenty (20) feet at maximum tilt of   
the solar panel(s) in any zoning district. 

 
(2) Structure-mounted STES height shall not be greater than the allowable height of any structure 

within the zoning district in which the STES is to be installed. 
 

(3) Setbacks: STES shall meet the setback requirements for accessory structures in the zoning 
district where the STES is located. 

 
 
5. COMMUNITY SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (CSES) AND SOLAR FARM ENERGY SYSTEM (SFES) 

 
Community Solar Energy Systems and Solar Farm Energy Systems are not allowed in residential 
zoning districts, but are allowed by Conditional Use   Permit in all other zoning districts. The 
applicants must be the landowner(s) of the property, lessee(s), and the project owner(s), as 
applicable, of the proposed CSES or SFES. For projects 25 MW or larger, the Application for a 
Certificate, required by the Iowa Utilities Board will be considered acceptable to meet the 
information requirements listed below for the Conditional Use Permit.  

 
A. CSES and SFES Conditional Use Permit Requirements 

 
i.Names, addresses and contact information of the landowner(s), lessee(s), developer(s) and 

project owner(s), as applicable, and a listing of all CSES and SFES owned or operated by said 
developer. The application shall designate the entity who will be the construction permit holder. 
 

ii. Landowner applicants must provide a deed or other proof of ownership of the property. The 
developer applicants must provide a lease or other agreement with the landowner applicants.  

 
iii. Surveyed legal description, boundaries and total acreage of proposed CSES or SFES project.  

 
iv. Map to scale of existing conditions of the property including (a) contour lines at ten (10) foot 

intervals, (b) existing vegetation, (c) existing drainage and permanent water areas, (d) existing 
structures and wells on the property.  
 

v. Map to scale of proposed CSES or SFES including (a) placement of all modules including GPS 
coordinates of the center of the project area, (b) layout and size of all structures on the property, 
(c) setback lines, (d) feeder lines and other utility lines, both buried and above ground, 
interconnection points with existing electrical grid, (f) existing easements, (g) roadways.  

vi. Description of the project: (a) number of modules, (b) manufacturer, (c) mounting type, 
(d) system height, (e) system capacity, (f) total land area covered by the system, (f) information 
about associated facilities such as but not limited to substations, feeder lines, solar storage 
batteries, or other solar storage units. 

 
vii. CSES or SFES shall conform to applicable industry standards, including those from the 

Page | 6   

Underwriters laboratory (UL) and Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). All applicable 
county, state, and national construction and electrical codes shall be followed. 

 
viii. Documentation of easement locations acquired for solar energy systems and associated 

facilities including easements to assure solar access space from adjacent property owners, as 
specified in Iowa Code 564A, for the life of the project.  

 
ix. Compliance with all siting and location regulations specified as a General Requirement. 

 
x. Any additional information required by the Zoning Administrator and/or Board of 

Adjustment. 
 
Construction of a CSES or SFES shall not commence until the Conditional Use Permit has been issued 
and a Decommissioning Performance Bond has been delivered to the Auditor. 

 
B. General Requirements 

(1) Height of solar panel(s) shall not exceed twenty (20) feet at maximum tilt of the solar 
panel(s). 

(2) Setbacks 

(a) The setbacks shall be a minimum of twenty five (25) feet from the property lines 
which form the outside perimeter of a CSES or SFES project area and one hundred 
(100) feet from a residence that is a part of the CSES or SFES project area. However, 
to the extent that a written waiver is permitted, the standard setbacks and separation 
requirements may be reduced if the participating or adjoining property owner affected 
by the reduced setback or separation completes a written waiver recorded with the 
County Recorder. 

(b) CSES or SFES to be built on more than one parcel, and parcels are abutting, a zero (0) 
side or rear setback shall be permitted to the property line in common with the 
abutting parcel(s). 

(c) Solar panels shall be at least two hundred (200) feet from a residence that is not part 
of the CSES or SFES project area. 

(d) Solar panels shall be eighty (80) feet from State rights-of-way and twenty five 
(25) feet from County rights-of-way. 

(3) Screening: A landscape buffer may be required to be installed and maintained 
during the life of the operation. Determination of screening requirements will be 
made as part of the Conditional Use Permit review and approval process and will 
be based on adjacent or nearby surrounding land uses and topography. 

 
(4) Fencing: An NEC compliant security fence must be installed along all exterior sides of 

the CSES or SFES. Fencing that is compatible with wildlife such as deer fencing is 
preferential at all CSES and SFES. Security fences, gates and warning signs must be 

Page | 7   

maintained in good condition until the utility scale solar installation is dismantled and 
removed from the site. 

(5) Lighting: If lighting is provided for the CSES or SFES, lighting shall be shielded and 
downcast such that the light does not project directly onto the adjacent parcels nor 
into the night sky. 

(6) Signage: All CSES or SFES shall provide the following at all locked entrances: (a) 
a visible "High Voltage" warning sign, (b) name(s) and phone number(s) for the 
electric utility provider, (c) name(s) and phone number(s) for the site operator, (d) 
the facility's 911 address, (e) a lock box with keys as needed. 

(7) Utility connections: Reasonable efforts shall be made to place all utility connections 
from the solar installation underground, depending on appropriate soil conditions, 
shape and topography of the site, distance to the connection, or other conditions or 
requirements. 

(8) Outdoor storage: Only the outdoor storage of materials, vehicles, and equipment 
that support the operation and maintenance of the CSES or SFES shall be allowed. 

(9) Endangered species and wetlands: Applicant shall seek natural resource consultation 
with   the County Conservation Board and the Iowa Department of Natural Resources. 

(10) Ground cover, buffer areas and weed control: Ground around and under solar arrays 
and in project site buffer areas shall be planted and maintained in perennial vegetated 
cover and meet the following standards: 

(a) Top soils shall not be removed during development, unless part of a 
remediation effort. 

(b) Soils shall be planted and maintained in perennial vegetation to prevent erosion, 
manage runoff, and build soil. Seeds should include a mix of grasses and wildflowers, 
ideally native to the region of the project site that will result in a short stature prairie with 
a diversity of forbs or flowering plants that bloom throughout the growing season. 
Blooming shrubs may be used in the buffer areas as appropriate for visual screening. 

(c) Seed mixes and maintenance practices should be consistent with the recommendations 
made by qualified natural resource professionals such as those from the Iowa Department 
of Natural Resources, County Soil and Water Conservation District, or USDA Natural 
Resources Conservation Service.

57



 
Page | 8  

 
 
  

 

C. Operation and maintenance plan. 

In addition to the information submitted as a part of the CSES or the SFES conditional use permit, the 
applicant shall submit a plan for the operation and maintenance of the solar installation, which shall 
include measures for maintaining safe access to the installation, stormwater and erosion controls, as well 
as general procedures for operation and maintenance of the installation. 

D. Discontinuation and Decommissioning 
 

A CSES or SFES shall be considered a discontinued use after the project is terminated, or after one (1) 
year without production or storage of energy or use as a capacity resource. Once a developer/owner has 
determined that the facility will no longer be used, the developer/owner must notify the issuing authority of 
the Conditional Use Permit of the intent to stop using the facility and to decommission the facility in 
accordance with the agreed-upon Decommissioning Plan. 

 
All CSES or SFES panels, arrays, fencing, underground cables, and accessory facilities shall be re- 
moved to a depth of six (6) feet within twelve (12) months of discontinued use. 
 
Discontinued use does not apply to the pre-construction or construction period and shall be measured 
from the initial commercial energy production and operation of the CSES or SFES. If, however, the 
CSES or SFES construction permit is revoked, the project will be designated a discontinued use, and 
construction shall be removed to a depth of six (6) feet below ground level and the surface restored 
within six (6) months of the permit revocation. 

 
E. Decommissioning Plan: 
 

In addition to the information submitted as a part of the CSES or the SFES conditional use permit, the 
applicant shall submit a Decommissioning Plan outlining the anticipated means and cost of removal at the 
end of its serviceable life or upon becoming a discontinued use. The plan shall include: 

1. The anticipated life of the CSES or SFES solar installation; the anticipated manner in which the 
project will be decommissioned; the anticipated site restoration actions; the estimated 
decommissioning costs in current dollars; and the method for ensuring that funds will be available 
for decommissioning and restoration. 

 
2. The applicant shall provide the basis for estimates of net costs for decommissioning the site 

(decommissioning costs less salvage value). The cost basis shall include a mechanism for 
calculating adjusted costs over the life of the project. 

3. Restoration or reclamation activities shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

4. Restoration of the pre-construction surface grade and soil profile after removal of structures, 
equipment, graveled areas and access roads. 

5. Re-vegetation of restored soil areas with crops, native seed mixes, plant species suitable to the 
area. 

6. The plan may incorporate agreements with the landowner regarding leaving access roads, fences, 
gates or repurposed buildings in place or regarding future property use. Any use of remaining 
structures must be in conformance with the regulations in effect at that time. 

 
Page | 9  

 
 
  

 

58



IOWA SOLAR SITING 
RESOURCE GUIDE:  
A ROADMAP 

FOR COUNTIES  

Center for 

Rural Affairs

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

State and Local Bene!ts from Solar Development and Future Potential

De!nition of Terms

Summary of Best Practice  Recommendations

MAJOR PROVISIONS FOR COUNTY SOLAR ORDINANCES

Approval Process and Application

Setbacks

Additional Siting Standards

Operations and Maintenance Planning

Infrastructure and Road Use Agreements

Decommissioning and Site Restoration

Other Considerations

CONCLUSION

ABOUT

A CLOSER LOOK: BEST PRACTICES FOR COMMUNITY SOLAR

APPENDIX: Native Vegetation Management for Solar - Additional Considerations

Center for 

Rural Affairs

3

4

5

7

7

8

11

13

16

19

19

20

23

23

25

29

Center for 

Rural Affairs
3

INTRODUCTION

Solar at all scales is a growing opportunity in the state of Iowa. From immense growth in the 

customer-owned solar market to the emergence of utility-scale and community solar projects, Iowa 

appears to be at the beginning of a solar boom. For counties presented with the opportunity of large-

scale solar projects, an important tool to consider is a well-drafted ordinance. A good ordinance will 

preserve the interests of the county and its residents while enabling developers to build workable, 

cost-e!ective projects. Under Iowa’s home rule policy, counties have latitude to adopt ordinance 

provisions related to solar development. 

A well-crafted ordinance will take into consideration the jurisdiction of the Iowa Utilities Board (IUB) 

to approve projects that are 25 megawatts or larger in size.

Solar in Iowa has grown from around two megawatts (MW) in 2012 to about 115 MW today.1 The 

!rst utility-scale projects came before the Iowa Utilities Board for approval in the summer of 2019 

with a 100 MW project proposed in Louisa County and a series of projects totaling 749 MW proposed 

for Worth, Mitchell, and Howard Counties. Multiple projects are in the works and counties around 

Iowa are preparing for this exciting future. 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

This guide focuses on siting practices for two types of large solar energy 

developments: Utility-Scale Solar and Community Solar. We will not focus 

on personal solar energy systems, such as those used at homes, farms, and 

businesses to produce electricity for usage on-site. 

While large-scale solar development may be in its early days in Iowa, a 

handful of Iowa counties have already adopted solar ordinances and many of 

our neighbors in the Midwest have already seen utility-scale development. In 

addition to existing Iowa ordinances, we have reviewed the ordinances and 

best practices from neighboring states and identi!ed speci!c provisions 

that local o!cials can use as a road map for their own ordinances. 

As solar energy gains momentum across Iowa, community solar projects are 

becoming more common. Cities including Ames, Bloom!eld, and Cedar Falls 

have adopted or are in the process of constructing community solar projects. 

For many Iowans, community solar projects o!er an opportunity to invest in 

renewable energy without having to construct a system on their own. This 

We encourage 

counties that 

type of project allows renters, homeowners and businesses with shaded roofs, and other community 

members to enjoy the bene!ts of solar energy while o!ering an opportunity for utilities to provide a 

clean source of energy to residents and businesses. This guide includes an addendum of resources for 

those considering community solar projects.

We encourage counties that are considering an ordinance, or updating an ordinance, to use this 

document as a reference to support the development and adoption of a well-designed ordinance 

rooted in existing successful practices. 

This document is not legal advice and users of this guide should consult an attorney with speci!c legal questions.

are considering an 

ordinance, or updating 

an ordinance, to use 

this document as a 

reference to support 

the development and 

adoption of a well-

designed ordinance 

rooted in existing 

successful practices. 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

4
Center for 

Rural Affairs

STATE AND LOCAL BENEFITS FROM SOLAR DEVELOPMENT AND  

FUTURE POTENTIAL

Iowa has what it takes to be a national leader in solar energy. The state ranks 16th among U.S. states 

in technical potential for solar energy production, putting Iowa ahead of states such as Florida, 

Georgia, and South Carolina. A solar photovoltaic (PV) array located in Iowa produces a comparable 

amount of electricity as one located in Miami or Atlanta, and more than arrays located in Chicago.2

Iowa is poised for signi!cant solar development. The rapidly improving economics of solar energy 

are now driving large-scale projects. A recent report found that the levelized cost of energy for utility-

scale solar declined 89 percent between 2009 and 2019.3 Using ground-mount solar systems to 

meet !ve (5) or 10 percent of Iowa’s annual electricity needs would require a very small geographic 

footprint. Using just 21 of Iowa’s 55,857 square miles of land for solar PV would provide 10 percent 

of Iowa’s electricity needs.4 There were 3,294 MW of potential solar projects in Iowa being studied 

for connection to the grid by the regional grid operator Midcontinent Independent System Operator 

(MISO) at the end of 2019.5

Counties may play a role in solar development by reviewing and approving speci!c solar projects. 

County policies that guide review and approval need to strike a balance between concerns 

expressed by county residents and successful, cost-e!ective solar development. An ordinance can 

be a critical part of achieving a balance and seeing maximum local bene!ts from solar generation. 

Solar development o!ers a number of bene!ts to county residents and the county itself. These  

bene!ts include:

• Lease or easement payments to landowners. Payments to landowners provide long-term, 

stable streams of revenue. 

• Property tax revenue to counties. Solar arrays generate property tax revenue paid to counties 

that can support a range of public bene!ts, including roads and bridges, health services, 

schools, debt service, and reduced need for revenue from other sources. 

• Replacement tax revenue to counties. State law provides a de!ned replacement tax for 

electric generating facilities to ensure similar tax treatment for potential competitors within 

the state. The replacement tax revenue to counties may be almost as large as the property tax 

revenue.

• Clean energy resources. Unlike fossil-fuel power plants, solar arrays do not produce air 

pollutants such as sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide, greenhouse gases, particulates, or mercury, 

thus reducing acid rain, smog, and public health impacts such as pulmonary and heart disease 

and asthma. Solar arrays also do not use water or produce water pollution in the process of 

generating electricity or produce hazardous waste that threatens public health, unlike fossil and 

nuclear power plants.

• Local economic development. In 2018, Iowa had nearly 850 jobs supported by the solar 

59



IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

5
Center for 

Rural Affairs

industry.6 The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics found in 2019 that solar installers are projected to be 

the fastest growing job in the United States through 2026, with the position expected to grow by 

nearly 105 percent during that time span.7 There are nearly 100 Iowa businesses involved in the 

solar energy supply chain.8 These jobs are located across the state in a range of sectors including 

manufacturing, installation, and operations and maintenance. 

DEFINITION OF TERMS

Like many areas of technology and regulation, solar siting terminology uses jargon that is critical 

for local government o!cials to understand and de!ne in order to create a clear ordinance. The list 

of terms provided here is not exhaustive, but de!nes many of the terms counties should consider 

adding to the de!nitions section of a solar siting ordinance.

• Utility-Scale Solar Energy System: A solar energy system above a certain capacity that is 

intended to produce electricity to sell into the market, not to directly supply end-use customers. 

These systems are larger than small-scale residential or business solar installations and many 

community systems, often covering more land area. 

Note: If a system is 25 MW or larger, it will need to obtain a siting certi!cate from the Iowa 

Utilities Board (IUB). The hearing for the siting certi!cate will be held in the county where 

construction is to occur and the county will be a party to the proceeding. Solar energy systems 

smaller than 25 MW do not require a siting certi!cate.  

• Community Solar: A solar energy system developed by a municipality, utility, or other 

third party that typically allows community members to subscribe to the project. In Iowa, 

development of community solar projects is limited to utilities at this time.

• Easement: A legal agreement for the use of property for a speci!ed purpose. 

• Feeder circuits/lines: A power line or network of lines used as a collection system that carries 

energy produced by a solar energy system to an interconnection point like a substation. Feeder 

circuits are most often placed underground.

• Glare/glint: Light re!ected o! of a surface.

• Interconnection: Link between a generator of electricity and the electric grid. Interconnection 

typically requires connection via infrastructure such as power lines and a substation, as well as 

a legal agreement for the project to be connected to the grid.

• Module: An individual unit comprised of multiple photovoltaic (PV) cells, with multiple modules 

used in a solar energy system.

• Mounting: The method of anchoring solar energy system modules to the ground or a building.

• Non-participating landowner: Any landowner that has not signed a lease agreement for an 

easement with the project owner or developer, often adjacent to or near the project.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

6
Center for 

Rural Affairs

BEST PRACTICES OF SOLAR SITING

OPERATIONS & 

MAINENANCE PLANS
INFRASTRUCTURE DECOMISSIONING

APPLICATION 

& APPROVAL PROCESS
SITING SETBACKS

• Operator: The entity or individual that operates a solar energy system.

• Owner: The entity or individual that has ownership over a solar energy system.

• Participating landowner: A landowner who has signed a lease agreement for an easement 

with a project owner.

• Residential/small-scale solar energy system: A solar energy system that is installed at a 

residence or business to meet the electric demand at the location. These systems are typically 

intended to o!set electricity use for the owner and are not intended to be net generators of 

electricity.

• Solar energy system: A system that converts energy from sunlight into electricity or an 

additional energy source such as heat.

• Substation: A facility that converts electricity produced by a generator like a solar energy 

system to a higher voltage, allowing for interconnection to high-voltage transmission lines.

• System height: The height of a solar energy system, usually referring to ground mounted 

systems. Total system height is the measurement from the ground to the top of the mounting 

or modules associated with a system. Counties may also wish to include an additional height 

de!nition for ground clearance, or the measurement between the ground and the bottom of 

modules or mounting.

• Transmission lines: Power lines used to carry electricity from collection systems or substations 

over long distances.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

7
Center for 

Rural Affairs

SUMMARY OF BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

Our recommendations for solar ordinance provisions to enable responsible solar development and 

the bene!ts that come with it include:

  Application and approval process. We recommend that counties establish a clear 

and well-de!ned application process with a set of known application requirements. 

Solar projects should be treated either as a permitted use or as a conditional use in 

established zoning districts. If the application and associated solar development meet 

the clearly identi!ed conditions, the application and project should be approved. 

  Siting

•  Zoning districts. Counties should allow for the siting of utility-scale and community 

solar in a variety of districts.

•  Site plan and requirements. Part of the application and approval process may 

include a plan describing the project in detail as well as a number of site and 

structure requirements. For projects 25 MW or larger, we recommend that the 

county accept the Application for a Certi!cate, required by the Iowa Utilities Board, 

in lieu of a separate county application. 

  Setbacks. Counties should ensure that setbacks balance multiple interests and support  

cost-e!ective solar development. Counties should also provide for waivers for voluntary 

reduction in setbacks.

  Operations & maintenance plans and land use. To address both short-term and long-

term maintenance of a project area, counties may require an operations and maintenance 

plan and adopt land use requirements.

  Infrastructure. Counties may require a pre-construction plan for handling potential 

impacts to roads and other infrastructure from solar project construction as well as a 

post-construction review to identify impacts and provide for repairs. 

  Decommissioning. Counties may require a decommissioning plan as part of the 

application and approval process to ensure restoration of land once a project is no 

longer operating.

MAJOR PROVISIONS FOR COUNTY SOLAR ORDINANCES

Successful solar siting ordinances will balance the interests of the county, project participants, and 

non-participants while allowing for cost-e!ective development. Ordinances can preserve these 

interests without imposing onerous restrictions. In order to allow for successful solar development, 

ordinances should rely on established best practices. 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

8
Center for 

Rural Affairs

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

Iowa code speci!es that zoning ordinances and decisions “shall be made in accordance with a 

comprehensive plan…” 10 (Iowa Code § 335.5). For this reason, we recommend a county looking to 

attract solar and other renewable energy development !rst adopt an amendment to align a county 

comprehensive plan with a county’s intentions to attract such development.

APPLICATION AND APPROVAL PROCESS

Iowa Code constrains to some extent the procedural options available to counties for consideration 

and approval of large-scale solar. The best practices recommended in this section apply primarily to 

counties that have adopted zoning and may not apply to counties without zoning.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

• We recommend that counties adopting a solar ordinance !rst adopt an amendment to their 

comprehensive plan with a statement about their intentions for solar development in the 

county, the bene!ts of investments in solar, and the key considerations around regulating 

solar siting.

• We recommend that county o!cials prioritize creating a clear application and review process 

with well-de!ned steps and conditions for approval. This allows a solar developer to clearly 

identify the application requirements for a solar project which, if met, will result in county 

approval of the application. The setback provisions described below would be one of the clear 

application requirements, while the additional provisions discussed in this document can 

comprise the balance of those requirements (e.g. decommissioning, site plan, road use plan, etc.)

• Any application fees must not exceed the cost of processing the application, including any  

required inspection.9

60



IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

9
Center for 

Rural Affairs

EXAMPLE: CEDAR COUNTY

“Goal III. Encourage the creation and use of alternative and renewable energy sources.  

Objective 1: increase alternative and renewable energy sources in the county.

Strategies: Review and modify the zoning ordinance and other relevant county regulations  

as necessary to remove barriers to the use of renewable energy systems such as solar, wind,  

and geothermal.”

The County should promote the use of renewable and inexhaustible energy sources over  

non-renewable energy sources. . .” 11

OPTIONS FOR SITING

Counties can use various processes to govern solar siting. The two most straightforward options 

are to make solar systems a permitted use (also sometimes called an “allowed” or “principal” use) 

in speci!c zones or designating solar systems as a conditional use (also called a “special use” or 

“special exception”). In the case of a conditional use, supervisors should de!ne the conditions that 

the project must meet to be approved.

Solar as a Permitted Use

If a county ordinance designates solar as a permitted use, county sta! reviews projects to determine 

compliance with objective ordinance requirements. County sta! would be able to determine objective 

requirements, such as whether a project meets required setbacks, but would not be able to decide on 

subjective requirements such as whether a particular project “!ts the area.” If the project complies with 

the ordinance, it can move forward. County sta! typically issue a building or zoning permit under this 

approach.

Solar as a Conditional Use

The term “conditional use” in a zoning code usually means that a use may be allowed or permitted 

in a speci!ed district (or districts) on the condition that certain requirements are met. Conditional 

use permitting decisions depend on the applicant’s compliance with the standards speci!ed in the 

zoning code as conditions for permit approval. These conditions may be more subjective but the 

decision criteria must be included in the ordinance. Conditional uses can only be permitted subject 

to review and approval of a county zoning board of adjustment (ZBA) after a public hearing. The ZBA 

should base its decision on evidence presented in the public hearing and evaluate the project based 

on the project’s compliance with the conditions in the ordinance. If the conditions are met, the permit 

should be issued. 

Uses permitted on this basis are generally those that a county considers not generally adverse to the 

public interest, but requiring some special review and precautions as well as an opportunity for public 

input.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

10
Center for 

Rural Affairs

Counties may wish to require the !ling of items such as site plans, road use agreements, and 

decommissioning plans as conditions for approval. These are described in more detail below. 

If a county opts for conditional use permitting through the ZBA, we recommend providing applicants 

with the opportunity for a preliminary review and pre-application process. Iowa law provides that 

appeals of a !nal decision of the ZBA go to court for review.12 Allowing for preliminary review and a 

pre-application process helps provide applicants with a more predictable process and can minimize 

the potential for time-consuming or expensive judicial review.

For projects that are 25 MW or larger, the county has the opportunity to state whether the solar 

energy system meets the county zoning requirements, as a designated party to the Iowa Utilities 

Board’s public hearing held in the county as a part of the single hearing siting process required 

under section 476A.11 of the Iowa Code.13

DESIGNATING ZONING DISTRICTS FOR SOLAR

Counties may allow siting of utility-scale solar in a variety of districts. An easy place to start for solar 

development in zoning districts would generally be designating business, commercial, industrial, and 

agricultural districts as eligible for utility-scale projects. After seeing development in one or more of 

these districts, additional districts could be considered. 

Smaller-scale or community solar may be appropriate in more types of zoning districts, including 

those within or close to residential neighborhoods. This is especially appropriate if participants in the 

community solar project live in those districts. 

EXAMPLES OF DISTRICTS WHERE IOWA COUNTIES WITH ZONING ALLOW  

SOLAR DEVELOPMENT: 

Linn County: Agricultural District, Highway Commercial District, General Commercial  

District, Industrial District, Critical Natural Resources District

Clinton County: Prime Agricultural District, Agricultural - Recreation District, Highway  

Commercial District, Rural Support Commercial District, Limited Industrial District, General 

Industrial District

Louisa County: Agricultural District, Business District, Industrial District

APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

•  Project applications should provide essential information to county boards and zoning 

o!cials. While some information may be required at the time of application, o!cials may 

wish to allow applicants to submit additional information at a later date. 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

11
Center for 

Rural Affairs

•  For projects 25 MW or larger, we recommend that the county accept the Application for a 

Certi!cate, required by the Iowa Utilities Board, in lieu of a separate county application. 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

County ordinances may include a number of site and structure requirements, many of which are 

discussed in further detail within this document. Some counties may ask for this information as part 

of a “site plan.” Items required in an application for a utility-scale solar energy system may include:

1) Name of applicant.

2) Name of the project owner.

3) Description of the project — number of modules, manufacturer, mounting type, system 

height, system capacity, total land area covered by the system, and information about 

associated facilities like substations, feeder lines, battery storage, etc.

4) Legal description of the property where the solar energy system will be located.

5) Map of the project location and the surrounding area.

6) A decommissioning plan outlining the process for system removal—including individual 

modules and mounting—and property restoration before an easement is returned to a 

landowner.

7) Evidence of a power purchase agreement or interconnection application for the project.

8) Consultation with or noti!cations from relevant state and federal agencies showing the 

project will not be a hazard to wildlife, communications, air tra!c, etc.

9) Documentation of easement locations acquired for solar energy systems and associated facilities.

Because the IUB requires similar types of information as part of the Generating Certi!cate 

application process, we recommend that for projects above 25 MW, counties accept the information 

submitted in such an application to the IUB in lieu of a separate application to avoid duplication.

SETBACKS

RECOMMENDATIONS:

•  Property line setbacks should not exceed 50 feet; setbacks from occupied residences should 

stay within a range of 100 to 200 feet. 

•  Counties should include waiver provisions allowing for the county to waive the mandated 

setback distance with the consent of the participating landowner and adjacent property 

owner. 

•  No setbacks should be required if a property line is shared by two participating landowners.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

12
Center for 

Rural Affairs

Counties may choose to put into place setbacks, which specify the required distance of the project 

from homes, roads or existing rights-of-way, property lines, and other locations. Unlike setbacks for 

wind turbines, which are intended to address rare but dangerous scenarios such as turbine collapse, 

there are no safety concerns that point to the necessity of a speci!c setback requirement for solar 

facilities. Before putting setbacks into place, counties should consider the issues that a setback is 

meant to address and whether there is a separate project requirement that may better address it. 

While some level of setback may be appropriate, o!cials should carefully consider setback distances 

and the limits they may place on future development.

Many counties require solar installations to follow the same setback requirements (from property 

lines and rights of way) as other structures in the zoning district where they are located. Some 

counties opt for prescribed setback distances from property lines and occupied structures. 

SETBACKS FROM RESIDENCES AND PROPERTY LINES

Some counties require speci!c setback distances between the solar system and property lines of 

occupied residences.

According to our research, a 50 foot property line setback is included in a number of ordinances 

from Iowa’s neighboring states. A 100 to 200 foot setback for residential dwellings is also common, 

with some ordinances at 100 feet, some at 150 feet and some at 200 feet. These distances seem 

workable for developers, participants, and nonparticipants.

Utility-scale solar energy systems are likely to be sited in zones where residential dwellings are 

uncommon but may occur (agriculture, industrial, commercial). Counties can adopt an occupied 

structure setback that both re!ects the needs and local characteristics of these zones and 

stays within the 100 to 200 foot range. There is no justi!cation for larger setbacks from a safety 

perspective and larger setback distances would unnecessarily limit solar development in a county. 

We recommend that property line setbacks do not exceed 50 feet from a property line and stay 

within a range of 100 to 200 feet from an occupied residence.

SETBACKS BASED ON ZONING DISTRICT

Although we recommend counties adopt speci!c setback distances for solar systems, counties 

could also choose to follow the minimum setback requirements of the zoning district where they are 

located, similar to Linn and Clinton Counties. 

Since structures or vegetation on neighboring properties may cast shadows onto a solar system, 

causing a decline in solar panel e!ciency, Linn County recommends greater setbacks in lieu of a 

“solar access agreement.” These agreements are discussed in further detail later in this document.

Community solar projects may be appropriate in more types of zoning districts, including those in 

or closer to residential neighborhoods, especially if participants in community solar live in those 

districts. For this reason, counties should consider using the setback requirements of the zoning area 

61



IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

13
Center for 

Rural Affairs

where the project is located to govern the solar facility. Further considerations for community solar 

projects are discussed later in this guide.

SHARED PROPERTY LINES

When a solar array is built across the property line of two participating landowners, no property line 

setback is required in Louisa County: 14

[Solar Farm Energy Systems] to be built on more than one parcel and parcels are abutting, a 

zero (0) side or rear setback shall be permitted to the property line in common with the abutting 

parcel(s).

In the case that a property line is shared by two participating landowners, a setback serves no 

purpose so we recommend this as a best practice.

RIGHTS OF WAY

A county may require a speci!c setback distance from a roadway. In counties with zoning, we 

recommend using the right of way setback standards for principal or accessory use structures 

speci!c to the zoning district where the project is located. In counties without zoning, we recommend 

consultation with right-of-way operators to ensure that projects do not disrupt current or planned use.

WAIVERS OR NEGOTIATED SETBACKS 

Waivers are an important tool to improve !exibility and allow for the potential for additional land area 

to become available for solar development. However, providing a waiver is not a substitute for a 

setback policy that can enable cost-e!ective solar development.

Louisa County allows for written waiver agreements to be executed pursuant to the speci!c 

requirements set forth in the ordinance along with approval by the Zoning Board of Adjustment.

We recommend that counties allow for a waiver of the mandated setback distance with the consent 

of the participating landowner and adjacent property owner.

ADDITIONAL SITING STANDARDS

RECOMMENDATIONS:

• Counties should carefully consider whether site and structure provisions are unnecessarily 

restrictive.

• Counties should allow for and encourage the project operator or owner to invest in fencing 

that facilitates movement of wildlife and pollinators.

• Solar access agreements should be facilitated by counties using Iowa Code § 564A.1 to 

guide their process. 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

14
Center for 

Rural Affairs

• Counties should require appropriate safety warnings and signage at solar facilities.

County o!cials should carefully consider whether site and structure provisions are unnecessarily 

restrictive. Well-established solar zoning guides describe the importance of avoiding inadvertent 

obstacles in an ordinance’s major provisions: 

From the American Planning Association (APA): “Even in cases where zoning codes 

explicitly address solar energy systems, subtle barriers such as height restrictions, lot 

coverage limitations, and setback, screening, landscaping, and utility requirements may 

still impede solar development.” 15

From the Great Plains Institute (GPI): “Limit regulatory barriers to developing solar resources. 

Ensure that access to solar resources is not unduly limited by height, setback, or coverage 

standards, recognizing the distinct design and function of solar technologies and land uses.” 16

FENCING 

To protect the solar array and to provide for safety by preventing entry into a project area, counties 

may require fencing around the solar array. Both Clinton and Linn Counties use the same language to 

address fencing requirements:

A security fence must be installed along all exterior sides of the utility scale solar installation 

and be equipped with a minimum of one gate and locking mechanism on the primary access 

side. Security fences, gates and warning signs must be maintained in good condition until the 

utility scale solar installation is dismantled and removed from the site.17

Project developers are required to follow the speci!c fencing requirements of the National Electrical 

Code (NEC), which is updated every three years. Currently, the NEC requires a seven foot tall fence; 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

15
Center for 

Rural Affairs

therefore we do not recommend that counties set their own fence height requirements.

Speci!c types of fencing may be desirable for reducing impacts to wildlife or limiting aesthetic 

concerns related to a project. For example, deer fencing may be less visually obtrusive while also 

allowing for wildlife and pollinators to move through a project area. This practice could soon be 

deployed in Iowa, as the developers of a large solar project in Howard County have proposed to 

surround the project area with deer fencing.18

County requirements for fencing should be limited because the NEC covers this requirement. 

However, we do recommend that counties allow for or encourage the project operator or owner to 

invest in fencing that facilitates movement of wildlife and pollinators. 

HEIGHT RESTRICTIONS 

The height of solar arrays is typically measured by the maximum tilt of the panels. 

In some counties where large-scale solar is a permitted use, the height restrictions of solar arrays 

match the zoning district where they are located. Counties may also choose to set speci!c height 

limitations for solar systems. Counties could consider allowing for less stringent height restrictions 

if coupled with longer setbacks from neighboring properties. An example is adding two feet to the 

setback distance for each additional foot of height.19

It is important that counties do not set overly restrictive height limitations given ongoing research 

into potential agricultural co-uses of solar project areas such as livestock grazing and planting 

underneath panels. There are also no compelling safety reasons for height restrictions.

SOLAR ACCESS SPACE AND AGREEMENTS

Since solar panel performance relies on the amount of sunlight collected, counties may consider how 

improvements or new vegetative plantings on neighboring properties could cast shadows onto solar 

arrays. Developers may want an assurance of continued future access to sunlight to ensure project 

success over the 25 to 40 year life expectancy. 

There are several Iowa statutory provisions that address access to solar energy and are intended 

to “facilitate the orderly development and use of solar energy.” 20 Iowa Code encourages voluntary 

solar access easements and sets out requirements for easements to protect solar access. The Code 

also authorizes city councils and county boards of supervisors to establish solar access regulatory 

boards (or authorize certain existing boards for this purpose). 

These regulatory boards have the power to grant solar access easements to properties hosting 

solar projects in order to protect access to solar energy. The code allows public bodies to include 

provisions that would compensate the owner of the solar project if shade interferes with the project 

and/or that would compensate the owner of the easement for maintaining the easement space.21

Linn County’s ordinance provides for a “solar access agreement” process which is de!ned as a 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

16
Center for 

Rural Affairs

“recorded easement which provides continued access to incident sunlight necessary to operate a 

solar collector.” 22

We recommend counties allow for solar access agreements using Iowa Code § 564A.1 to guide  

their process. 

SAFETY AND SIGNAGE

Projects may be required to post signs that clearly feature the name, address, emergency contact 

information for the operator, and warnings. Safety requirements typically include clear safety notices 

to the public, such as high voltage warnings. Louisa County requires the following guidance on 

signage in its ordinance:

[Solar Farm Energy Systems] shall provide the following at all locked entrances:

1) A visible “High Voltage” warning sign;

2) Name(s) and phone number(s) for the electric utility provider;

3) Name(s) and phone number(s) for the site operator;

4) The facility’s 911 address, GPS coordinates; and,

5) A lock box with keys as needed.23

These requirements are an appropriate best practice.

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PLANNING 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

• Counties should adopt an operations and maintenance plan designed to avoid negative 

impacts on the surrounding land, water, and neighbors.

• We encourage counties to consider requiring native vegetation to bolster wildlife, soil, and 

water quality bene!ts.

Solar projects are expected to be in operation for at least several decades. To address both 

short-term and long-term maintenance of a project area, counties may require an operations and 

maintenance plan as part of the application process. Both Clinton County and Linn County address 

the same elements in the required operations and maintenance plan:

• Soil erosion and sediment control 

• Stormwater management 

• Ground cover and bu!er areas

• Cleaning chemicals and solvents 

• Maintenance, repair, or replacement of facility

In order to monitor compliance with maintenance requirements, Louisa County requires access to a 

project site:

62



IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

17
Center for 

Rural Affairs

The Zoning/Building Administrator and any necessary personnel may enter any property for 

which a special use or building permit has been issued under this ordinance to conduct an 

inspection to determine whether the conditions stated in the permit have been met as speci!ed 

by statute, ordinance and code. Failure to provide access shall be deemed a violation of this 

ordinance.24

NATIVE VEGETATION MANAGEMENT AND GROUND COVER

Utility-scale solar project sites often occupy multiple acres of land and are projected to cover three 

million acres across the nation by 2030. To produce 10 percent of Iowa’s electricity from solar energy, 

13,440 acres would need to be occupied by solar arrays, or 0.04 percent of all of Iowa’s farmland. 

This o!ers an opportunity for project owners to demonstrate a commitment to environmental 

stewardship by establishing native vegetation on their solar project site(s). Investing in this practice 

will create habitat for a variety of at-risk pollinators, including honey bees, bumblebees, and monarch 

butter!ies. For local o!cials considering the creation of a solar ordinance, this section explores a 

variety of considerations that can inform sound policy.

Historically, there were 28 million acres of native prairie across the state of Iowa; there is less than 

one-tenth of one percent of that native prairie remaining. Investments in native vegetation on solar 

project sites can also help restore habitat for wildlife like ring-necked pheasants, quails, and other 

grassland birds such as the dickcissel or the sedge wren.

Native prairie plants at the Chisago Solar Site, Chisago County, Minnesota, August 2018. Photo credit to Dennis 

Schroeder, National Renewable Energy Laboratory. Link: https://www.!ickr.com/photos/nrel/30733119928/in/

album-72157699605466031/

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

18
Center for 

Rural Affairs

Meanwhile, other important environmental outcomes are also achieved through planting native 

perennial vegetation such as improved soil health and water quality and carbon sequestration. 

Importantly, the deep root systems of native vegetation can penetrate the soil surface as deep as 15 

feet, allowing for increased soil structure and denitri!cation of water. Improving soil health and water 

quality also provides developers with the practical bene!ts of meeting stormwater drainage permit 

requirements and reducing erosion on project sites.

After considering the potential positive environmental outcomes, Linn County included a requirement 

within their solar ordinance to establish perennial vegetated ground cover:

Ground cover and bu!er areas. Ground around and under solar arrays and in project site bu!er 

areas shall be planted and maintained in perennial vegetated ground cover, and meet the 

following standards:

1) Top soils shall not be removed during development, unless part of a remediation e!ort.

2) Soils shall be planted and maintained in perennial vegetation to prevent erosion, 

manage run o! and build soil. Seeds should include a mix of grasses and wild!owers, 

ideally native to the region of the project site that will result in a short stature prairie with a 

diversity of forbs or !owering plants that bloom throughout the growing season. Blooming 

shrubs may be used in bu!er areas as appropriate for visual screening.

3) Seed mixes and maintenance practices should be consistent with recommendations 

made by quali!ed natural resource professionals such as those from the department 

of natural resources, county soil and water conservation service, or natural resource 

conservation service.

4) Plant material must not have been treated with systemic insecticides, particularly 

neonicontinoids.25

The bene!ts of establishing even small areas of native vegetation have been proven to signi!cantly 

improve pollinator and wildlife populations while helping developers maintain storm water permitting 

requirements, reduce erosion, and mitigate land use concerns. However, there are many important 

considerations for developers who wish to install native vegetation on their solar project site. 

While these recommendations will not typically be included in an ordinance, county o!cials should 

educate themselves on the options available to developers and the factors that in!uence developer 

implementation. We have included a short primer on those issues as an Appendix to this document.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

19
Center for 

Rural Affairs

INFRASTRUCTURE AND ROAD USE AGREEMENTS

RECOMMENDATION:

• Counties should put a process in place for assessing and repairing infrastructure before 

construction begins.

Solar construction crews will utilize roads in and out of a project site. Counties should have a lesser 

expectation of road impacts from solar development compared to wind development. To address 

potential impacts to public infrastructure, counties may adopt a road use plan.

Louisa County has adopted the following requirements for a road use agreement:

Road Use Agreements. All routes on county roads that will be used for the construction and 

maintenance purposes shall be identi!ed on the site plan. All routes for either ingress or 

egress shall be shown. The solar farm developer must complete and provide a preconstruction 

baseline survey to determine existing road conditions for assessing potential future damage 

due to development related tra!c. The developer shall provide a road repair plan to ameliorate 

any and all damage, installation, or replacement of roads that might be required by the 

developer. The developer shall provide a letter of credit or surety bond in an amount and form 

approved by the appropriate highway authority(s) o!cials when warranted. The provision of this 

subsection shall be subject to the approval of the Louisa County Engineer.26

We recommend putting a process in place before construction begins that helps clarify for all parties 

what speci!c impacts a developer will be held responsible for and what steps must be taken to 

mitigate potential damage to roads and other infrastructure. 

DECOMMISSIONING AND SITE RESTORATION 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

• Planning for the responsibility of decommissioning is a prudent step for a county ordinance. 

We recommend that counties require a decommissioning plan which de!nes the obligations 

of the project developer to remove the solar array and restore the land when the project will 

no longer be used. 

• Counties should require the project developer/owner to notify the county of their intent to 

stop using the facility and that should be the trigger for decommissioning to begin.

Solar ordinances often include a provision requiring the project owner to take responsibility for and 

bear the costs of decommissioning at the end of a solar project’s life. These provisions ensure the 

county and landowners do not bear the cost of removing solar arrays. 

Solar panels typically come with a 20 to 25 year warranty and could be useful for up to 40 years. 

Depending on the length of a landholder lease, or with a lease extension, projects could be re!tted 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

20
Center for 

Rural Affairs

with new panels once panels have reached their useful life. A county ordinance should include a 

notice requirement stating that once a developer/owner has determined that the facility will no longer 

be used, the developer/owner must notify the county of the intent to stop using the facility and to 

decommission the facility in accordance with the agreed-upon decommissioning plan. 

We do not recommend that counties set a time limit for automatic decommissioning, such as no 

production for one (1) year, because as renewable penetration increases some renewable facilities may 

be used only as “peaker” facilities on days of extremely high electricity demand. Just because a facility 

is not producing electricity does not mean it is not being used as a back-up resource by the utility.

The following decommissioning example is from Linn County:

Decommissioning and site reclamation plan.

a. The application must include a decommissioning plan that describes the anticipated 

life of the utility scale solar installation; the anticipated manner in which the project will be 

decommissioned; the anticipated site restoration actions; the estimated decommissioning costs 

in current dollars; and the method for ensuring that funds will be available for decommissioning 

and restoration.

b. The applicant shall provide the basis for estimates of net costs for decommissioning the 

site (decommissioning costs less salvage value). The cost basis shall include a mechanism for 

calculating adjusted costs over the life of the project.

c. Restoration or reclamation activities shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Restoration of the pre-construction surface grade and soil pro!le after removal of 

structures, equipment, graveled areas and access roads.

2. Re-vegetation of restored soil areas with crops, native seed mixes, plant species 

suitable to the area, consistent with the county’s weed control plan.

3. For any part of the energy project on leased property, the plan may incorporate 

agreements with the landowner regarding leaving access roads, fences, gates or 

repurposed buildings in place or regarding restoration of agricultural crops or forest 

resource land. Any use of remaining structures must be in conformance with the 

regulations in e!ect at that time.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

NOISE

Inverters, the equipment that convert direct current (DC) electricity into alternating current (AC) 

electricity, can produce a soft sound during the daytime when the solar array is producing energy. 

Noticeable noise is not a common or expected impact and any noise should be imperceptible to 

63



IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

21
Center for 

Rural Affairs

neighboring properties even without speci!c noise provisions. 

We do not recommend adding standards for noise. Minimum setback requirements should 

su!ciently address these issues without adding speci!c, separate provisions for noise.

SCREENING

Some counties have chosen to adopt screening requirements in conjunction with setbacks. Counties 

should consider if screening requirements would be arbitrary and what, if any, other uses currently 

require screening. According to the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL):

While aesthetic requirements are appropriate for historic districts, requiring solar energy 

systems to be screened from public view adds costs, can cause shading, and may prevent 

many installations.27

We do not recommend that counties adopt screening provisions or requirements. 

GLARE

The American Planning Association advises that “[s]ome residents may express concerns that 

glare from solar collectors will be either a public or private nuisance. However, because they are 

constructed of dark-colored materials and covered with anti-re!ective coatings, new solar PV and 

thermal systems typically re!ect as little as 2 percent of incoming sunlight.” 28

Similarly, a summary of research from the National Energy Research Laboratory states, “Local 

objections to proposed solar photovoltaic (PV) installations sometimes include concerns that 

the modules will cause glare that could impact neighbors or aviation. Research on this subject 

demonstrates that PV modules exhibit less glare than windows and water. Solar PV modules are 

speci!cally designed to reduce re!ection, as any re!ected light cannot be converted into electricity. 

PV modules have been installed without incident at many airports.” 29

Given how solar panels are constructed, glare or re!ected light is not typically a major issue. 

Counties wishing to address this low-risk potential impact can include a provision in their ordinance, 

such as Clinton County and Linn County have: 

All solar panels must be constructed to minimize glare or re!ection onto adjacent 

properties and adjacent roadways and must not interfere with tra!c, including air tra!c, 

or create a safety hazard.30 31

We do not recommend glare provisions in a solar ordinance. However, local or federal authorities 

may require a glare study that shows the potential impact to the surrounding area, particularly on 

infrastructure like airports and roadways. For example, the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 

required the City of Ames to conduct a glare study for its community solar project as a result of its 

proximity to an airport. If the study indicates that there is potential for glare, a project developer 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

22
Center for 

Rural Affairs

should submit a mitigation plan for glare produced by a system. Such a study with recommended 

mitigation is preferable to a blanket screening requirement for solar, which adds unnecessary upfront 

and ongoing expense.

PRIME FARMLAND 

As the development of large-scale solar generation becomes more common, land taken out of production 

can increase concerns over the impact to prime farmland. To produce 10 percent of Iowa’s electricity from 

solar energy, 13,440 acres would need to be occupied by solar arrays, or just 0.04 percent of all of Iowa’s 

farmland. 

While the placement of solar panels may limit agricultural uses for prime farmland, the construction 

and operation of a solar energy system typically has less impact than other forms of development 

such as residential or commercial development. Once a system has been decommissioned and 

removed, farmland can be returned to an agricultural use with minimal reclamation. County o!cials 

should consider the potential for combining solar energy systems with other uses that may bene!t 

agricultural operations, such as creating shade for livestock or habitat for pollinators and other 

wildlife. 

We do not recommend any provisions that prohibit solar as a use on prime farmland. If a county already 

has a provision that prohibits certain uses on designated prime farmland, they may consider adding 

solar as an acceptable use, especially in conjunction with an additional use like the creation of native 

prairie or habitat.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

23
Center for 

Rural Affairs

CONCLUSION

For counties considering an ordinance for utility-scale solar, a well-drafted and balanced solar siting 

ordinance is important. Our review of county ordinances across Iowa and neighboring states shows 

that counties can adopt workable ordinances that enable successful solar development. We have 

not identi!ed a single model ordinance in any particular county that we recommend in total. Instead, 

we have identi!ed the strongest parts of di!erent ordinances to include in this paper. Most county 

ordinances have additional provisions in the adopted ordinances. We have focused on the major 

provisions critical to the success of an ordinance. 

While counties can attract solar development without adopting a speci!c ordinance, we believe 

the clarity and predictability that comes from a solar ordinance can be bene!cial for the county, its 

residents, and solar developers. 

ABOUT

The primary authors of this paper are Kerri Johannsen, Jordan Oster, and Steve Guyer of the Iowa 

Environmental Council and Lu Nelsen and Cody Smith of the Center for Rural A!airs. We appreciate 

the input and guidance provided by county o!cials, solar developers, colleagues and others as we 

researched and drafted this paper. 

ENDNOTES

1 Energy Information Administration, Electric Power Monthly, Table 6.2B Net Summer Capacity Using 

Primarily Renewable Energy Sources by State (data from July 2019 as reported in October 2019) at 

http://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly/?scr=email.

2 Iowa Environmental Council, Real Potential, Ready Today: Solar Energy in Iowa.

3 Lazard Levelized Cost of Energy and Levelized Cost of Storage 2019 at https://www.lazard.com/

perspective/levelized-cost-of-energy-and-levelized-cost-of-storage-2019/ (last accessed Nov. 13, 2019).

4 Real Potential, Ready Today: Solar Energy in Iowa, Page 13.

5 Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Generator Interconnection Queue at https://www.

misoenergy.org/planning/generator-interconnection/GI_Queue/ (last accessed Sept. 18, 2019). 

6 The Solar Foundation, Solar Jobs Census 2018 at https://www.thesolarfoundation.org/national/. See 

also Clean Energy Trust et al, Clean Jobs Midwest at https://www.cleanjobsmidwest.com/state/iowa. 

7 Cedar Rapids Gazette, Solar installers, wind turbine techs fastest growing jobs in the nation (May 17, 

2019) https://www.thegazette.com/subject/news/business/solar-installers-wind-turbine-techs-fastest-

growing-jobs-in-the-nation-20190517.

8 IEC supply chain estimate based on IEC research on Iowa solar businesses as well as past publications 

by the Solar Energy Trade Association and Environmental Law & Policy Center.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

24
Center for 

Rural Affairs

9 Home Builder’s Association of Greater Des Moines v City of West Des Moines, No. 201/99-2025 & 00-

0351, Iowa Supreme Court, May 8, 2002.

10  Iowa Code § 335.18.

11 Cedar County: Comprehensive Plan 2038 (2018), available online at https://www.cedarcounty.org/

o!ces/environmentalhealth/CedarCountyComprehensivePlan_FINALpdf_reduced.pdf (last visited 

August 1, 2019), at 47.

12 Iowa Code § 335.18.

13 Iowa Code § 476A.11.

14 Louisa County Ordinance Division 115 § 1.03 (C)(2)(b).

15 American Planning Association, Planning for Solar Energy, Page 53 https://www.solsmart.org/media/

APA_PlanningforSolarEnergy.pdf.

16 Great Plains Institute, Local Government Solar Toolkit, Page 2 (2017) https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/03/MinnesotaToolkitFeb2018_Award-Banner_Web-Version_0.pdf.

17 Linn County Uni!ed Development Code, Art. 6, Sec. 107-117 (H, 4, J); Zoning Ordinance of Clinton 

County, Iowa, Chapter IV, 4.2.18 (C)(10).

18 Big Dave Solar Farm, LLC, Transcript from Hearing Held Thursday, November 7, 2019 before the Iowa 

Utilities Board in GCU-2019-0002, p. 27. 

19 Great Plains Institute, Local Government Solar Toolkit, Page 6 (2017) https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/03/MinnesotaToolkitFeb2018_Award-Banner_Web-Version_0.pdf.

20  Iowa Code Chapter 564, Iowa Code § 564A.1. 

21  Iowa Code § 564A.7.

22  Linn County Uni!ed Development Code, Art. 6, Sec. 107-117 (H, 4, A).

23 Louisa County Zoning Ordinance Division 115, § 1.03 (E).

24 Louisa County Ordinance Division 115 § 1.03 (C)(18).

25 Linn County Uni!ed Development Code, Art. 6, Sec. 107-117 (H, 5, C).

26 Louisa County Zoning Ordinance Division 115, § 1.03 (C)(15).

27 Day, Megan. “Best Practices in Zoning Solar.” NREL, April 21, 2017, https://www.nrel.gov/state-local-

tribal/blog/posts/best-practices-in-zoning-for-solar.html.

28 American Planning Association, Planning for Solar Energy, Page 29 https://www.solsmart.org/media/

APA_PlanningforSolarEnergy.pdf.

29 Day, Megan and Mow, Benjamin. “Research and Analysis Demonstrate the Lack of Impacts of Glare 

from Photovoltaic Modules.” NREL, July 31, 2018, https://www.nrel.gov/state-local-tribal/blog/posts/

research-and-analysis-demonstrate-the-lack-of-impacts-of-glare-from-photovoltaic-modules.html.

30 Linn County Uni!ed Development Code, Art. 6, Sec. 107-117(g-h).

31 Zoning Ordinance of Clinton County, Iowa, Chapter IV, 4.2.18.

64



IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

25
Center for 

Rural Affairs

A CLOSER LOOK: BEST PRACTICES FOR COMMUNITY SOLAR

Community solar is a unique model that often involves the construction of a solar array that is much 

larger than small-scale or residential solar. Although some states allow for independent development 

of community solar projects by private industry, cities, and nonpro!ts, such projects cannot currently 

be developed in Iowa. Community solar in Iowa can only be developed by or for utilities, including  

municipal utilities. 

Typically, community solar projects incorporate methods for community members to participate in the 

project in some way through a mechanism such as an investment or subscription with the bene!ts of the 

project passed along to subscribers. Some considerations for community solar projects are listed below.

City of Cedar Falls community solar project. Photo courtesy of Cody Smith, Center for Rural A!airs.

Land selection is key for ground-mounted solar

• Land already owned by the project developer, owner, or o!-take customer is preferable, as it 

eliminates the need for new easements and may mitigate several siting issues.

• Several factors contribute to cost e!ciency when considering a community solar project:

• Proximity to high intensity energy users.

• Strong local demand for electricity, especially produced from renewable resources.

• Access to the electric grid, allowing for interconnection without building substantial  

new infrastructure.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

26
Center for 

Rural Affairs

• The type of site also contributes to cost e!ciency over the long-term—a square or rectangular 

parcel of land and in-line set-up helps streamline ongoing management like mowing and system 

maintenance. 

• Sites should also have easy access, with limited surrounding development or vegetation that may 

shade a solar energy system.

• Sites should also ideally allow for expansion of a project if demand from consumers increases 

over time.

• Example: 

• The City of Ames will site their project on a parcel of land already owned by the City that 

was being leased for farmland.

• The City of Cedar Falls community solar project currently occupies eight acres of 

previously undeveloped city property. 

Alternatives to ground-mounted solar

• Large rooftops such as those on manufacturing facilities or big box retailers may be potential 

sites for community solar projects. These sites reduce land acquisition concerns associated 

with selecting a site for a ground-mounted solar system while providing the host with some 

publicity for participating.

• Siting projects in parking lots in the form of a system mounted on canopies that also o!ers 

shade is possible, but there are liability concerns around falling ice damaging vehicles during 

the winter months.

Community involvement in site selection is crucial

• A robust cost-bene!t analysis is recommended prior to proposing a community solar project.

• O!cials should be sure to engage with a wide range of stakeholders to determine if there are 

other plans for a selected site or the surrounding area that may impact a future solar energy 

system.

• Once a project has been proposed, there should be opportunities provided for community 

members to attend meetings or open houses that allow them to learn more about the project 

and ask questions.

Development and project ownership

• Leasing city land to a private developer and entering into a Power Purchase Agreement can 

reduce project costs by allowing the developer to take advantage of federal and state tax 

credits. 

• If a municipal utility is seeking a private developer for a community solar project, there should 

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

27
Center for 

Rural Affairs

be a transparent bidding process. Information that may be required in a bid includes:

• Price and term for a power purchase agreement between the developer and the municipal 

utility.

• Estimate of annual electricity production.

• Performance history for the equipment that will be used in a similar environment.

• Project timeline that lays out anticipated start and completion dates for construction as 

well as an in-service date for the system.

• Previous experience developing similar projects.

   Example: Both Cedar Falls and Ames leased their land to a private developer at little to no 

cost and allowed them to construct the solar farm so the developer could take advantage 

of the 30% federal investment tax credit, as municipalities are ineligible. Both cities intend 

to buy back the project at some point.

• A competitive and transparent bidding process is important for project success.

    Example: The City of Ames included all submitted bids in their report to the city council. 

Their developer selection was based on the following criteria:

• Price of a 25-year Power Purchase Agreement and estimated project buyout costs.

• Annual production estimates.

• Annual performance estimates.

• Performance history and reliability of the equipment speci!ed for this project in  

similar environments.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

28
Center for 

Rural Affairs

• Strength and experience of the developer’s project team and proven expertise of the 

project team. 

• System and component product warranties.

• Developer’s proposed project !nancing capability and structure.

• Project schedule.

• Experience with building at or near an airport location.

• Notably, the federal investment tax credit began a gradual phase-out in 2020, 

dropping to 26 percent.

Adding consumer value

Projects may be designed to allow consumers to invest in a community project in various ways:

• Many community projects o!er "shares" that residents can purchase. These typically act as a 

subscription in the project, paid through an additional charge on a monthly electric bill. In some 

cases, subscribers are credited an amount determined by the utility for energy produced by the 

project during the given period.

i. The rate associated with a share should be devised in a transparent manner, clearly 

demonstrating the method used to determine the total cost to consumers.

ii. Example: The city of Ames charges a $300 cost for a consumer subscription, or “power 

pack,” which is a subscription to one-half of one panel for 20 years. The power packs are 

expected to return average monthly credits of $1 to $2 for the duration of the 20-year 

contract. Payback is predicted to take anywhere between 16 and 18 years.

• In other models, consumers are allowed to purchase and own panels that are part of the 

community solar systems. 

i. This option may allow for consumers to access available tax credits while investing in a 

community project, often paying a monthly maintenance fee for upkeep of the panel(s). 

ii. In some cases, consumers that choose this option may be credited for the full production 

of their panel(s) as though they were located behind their electric metering, as is the case 

with net metered residential solar.

• Community projects often feature a means of unsubscribing or selling back shares/panel(s). 

This often reduces anxiety associated with subscribing to a project, as residents are not tied to 

a subscription if they choose to move to a di!erent area.

65



IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

29
Center for 

Rural Affairs

APPENDIX: NATIVE VEGETATION MANAGEMENT FOR SOLAR - 

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS

Across the U.S., the solar industry is booming. Solar project sites often occupy several acres of land 

and are projected to cover three million acres by 2030.I To produce 10 percent of Iowa’s electricity 

from solar energy, 13,440 acres would need to be occupied by solar arrays—o!ering an opportunity 

for project owners to demonstrate their commitment to environmental stewardship.II

While the full detail included below may not be appropriate for inclusion in a solar ordinance, we 

hope it can serve to inform policymakers about the developer considerations which accompany the 

adoption of native vegetation on solar project sites.

INCREASING PROJECT VALUE:

In addition to providing habitat for wildlife and pollinators, investments in native vegetation on solar 

project sites provide ancillary bene!ts such as improved soil health and water quality, while also 

sequestering carbon.

PLANNING, COST, AND SEEDING:

Planning

Planning at least one year before the seed goes into the ground is recommended. This provides 

adequate time to reach out for technical assistance, review and select a site, determine the existing 

dominant vegetation (if any), conduct two or more herbicide applications to suppress existing 

vegetation if needed, and gather quotes for a native seed mix.III

Cost

When considering total project cost, the key variable is the number of acres that will be established. 

Depending on project size, di!erent management approaches may be necessary.IV Per acre in Iowa, 

$500-$1,000 is a reasonable range for most projects.V

Best practice: Include native vegetation in the initial planning process of a project. Incorporating this 

desired outcome into the process will allow for a holistic consideration of all factors including soil 

characteristics, construction, management, establishment, and more.

Seeding

Timing is key to success—frost-seeding between November 1 and June 1 is ideal for maximum 

germination and ensuring stand establishment through a full growing season.VI VII August and late 

summer plantings should be avoided as a stand won’t have enough time to establish before cold 

temperatures. To establish the needed !rm seedbed, conventional methods include discing at least 

twice and cultipacking, although this is dependent upon the conditions of each site.VIII Seeding 

methods include broadcast, drill, and hand-broadcast techniques. Native grass seeds need good 

seed-to-soil contact and should be planted no deeper than ¼” in the soil. Ideally, native prairie seeds 

should rest on top of the soil.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

30
Center for 

Rural Affairs

Best practice: A site may take time to establish aesthetic native vegetation. Signage that says 

“Pollinator habitat in progress” can mitigate public concern. Keep in mind that each seedbed is 

di!erent and may not need discing or plowing—these decisions should be made in consultation with 

a conservation professional to review site-speci!c information such as existing vegetation, moisture 

levels, and soil type.

MANAGEMENT AND CONSTRUCTION:

Construction

Being !exible when it comes to the height of a solar energy system is important for project success. 

A seed mix should include plants that don’t reach a peak height that could shade the low, tilted 

edge of ground-mounted solar energy systems unless developers plan to use strategic mowing or 

livestock grazing (i.e. sheep) to avoid interfering with project e!ciency.

Best practice: Although project managers may have to strip-mow to maintain project e!ciency, 

it is important to remember that taller native vegetation provides better habitat for wildlife and 

pollinators. Striking a balance between quality and height can equalize cost.

Management

Year one: Regular mowing (three to four times) during the !rst growing season prevents weeds from 

shading out seedlings and going to seed. The !rst mowing should be at a height of four to six inches 

soon after seeding; the next two mowings should be at a height no less than eight inches. 

Year two: With a successful planting, years subsequent to establishment provide the opportunity 

for less maintenance, needing only an occasional disturbance and limited mowing to encourage 

desirable species.IX

Years three and four: Mowing and baling the plant residue approximately every three years is the 

preferred management option for solar project sites.X

Timing impacts wildlife and pollinators

After year two, avoid or minimize mowing between April 1 and August 1 to minimize impacts during 

the nesting season of upland birds such as pheasants and quail. Delaying mowing to late September 

facilitates a more welcoming habitat for migrating pollinators such as monarch butter!ies, as the 

highest population of Monarch eggs is often found on milkweed plants in late July and early August.
XI Spot mowing and/or herbicide application could be used during this period if necessary to control 

invasive plants.

Best practice: Every site is unique and all timelines should be adjusted to the needs of a project. 

Experts suggest evaluating the ratio of native species to weeds and invasive vegetation before 

making mowing and other management decisions. If native vegetation is struggling to establish a 

strong stand, mowing is likely necessary; if the opposite is occurring, mowing may not be in a site’s 

best interest.

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

31
Center for 

Rural Affairs

SELECTING A SEED MIX:

The height of the solar panels is a primary consideration when selecting a seed mix. Other factors 

include project location, soil type and moisture, the species of vegetation that are native to the area, 

planned management of the site, and more. Consider which desired outcomes the native vegetation 

is intended to achieve such as providing wildlife habitat, increasing pollinator populations, or 

reducing erosion. Developers should aim for a ratio of grasses to forbs when selecting a seed mix.

Best practice: Wildlife generally responds more to structure of vegetation (the ratio of grasses to 

forbs) than speci!c plant species; a seed mix closer to 30 percent grasses and 70 percent forbs 

is recommended for upland nesting birds.XII Some species of native vegetation are crucial for 

pollinators; monarch butter!ies only lay eggs on milkweed plants. Bees, adult monarchs, and other 

pollinators rely on a diversity of !owering plants that provide blooms during all periods of the 

growing season (March to October).

Figure A shows a recommended native seed mix for a solar project site in central Iowa: XIII

Courtesy of Story County Conservation

FIGURE A

IOWA SOLAR SITING RESOURCE GUIDE: A ROADMAP FOR COUNTIES  

32
Center for 

Rural Affairs

When crafting local solar ordinances, we recommend that o!cials consider the intended outcomes 

and goals for requiring native vegetation. For example, Linn County’s ordinance lists their intended 

goals like soil health, erosion reduction, and water quality. They also favor bee and other pollinator 

populations by restricting the use of potentially harmful pesticides. 

Additionally, it is recommended that local o!cials weigh the factors developers are considering when 

contemplating the establishment of native vegetation, such as management, construction, planning, 

and other concerns—only some of which were listed above.

Local o!cials may also seek assistance with questions on these topics from organizations such as 

the Center for Rural A!airs, Audubon Society, Pheasants Forever Native Plants Program, The Iowa 

Monarch Consortium at Iowa State University, and the STRIPS project at Iowa State University.

APPENDIX ENDNOTES

I Dreves, Harrison. “Beneath Solar Panels, the Seeds of Opportunity Sprout.” NREL, 2019, https://www.

nrel.gov/news/features/2019/beneath-solar-panels-the-seeds-of-opportunity-sprout.html.

II “Real potential, ready today: Solar energy in Iowa.” Iowa Environmental Council, 2015, https://www.

iaenvironment.org/webres/File/Program%20Publications/2015_solar_handout.pdf.

IIII Iowa Monarch Conservation Consortium, Iowa State University, https://monarch.ent.iastate.edu/.

IV “Native Seed Programs.” Iowa Pheasants Forever, http://www.iowapf.net/native-seed-program/.

V Iowa Monarch Conservation Consortium, Iowa State University, https://monarch.ent.iastate.edu/.

VI “Habitat How-To.” Iowa Monarch Conservation Consortium, Iowa State University, https://monarch.ent.

iastate.edu/habitat-how.

VII “Management Overview.” STRIPS, Iowa State University, https://www.nrem.iastate.edu/research/

STRIPS/content/ management-overview.

VIII Id.

IX “Habitat How-To.” Iowa Monarch Conservation Consortium, Iowa State University, https://monarch.ent.

iastate.edu/habitat-how.

X  “Native Seed Programs.” Iowa Pheasants Forever, http://www.iowapf.net/native-seed-program/.

XI “Habitat How-To.” Iowa Monarch Conservation Consortium, Iowa State University, https://monarch.ent.

iastate.edu/habitat-how.

XII Personal communication, Adam Janke, Extension Wildlife Specialist, Iowa State University.

XIII Prepared by Story County Conservation.

66



67



A RESOURCE GUIDE BY HEIDI KOLBECK-URLACHER,
CENTER FOR RURAL AFFAIRS

DECOMMISSIONING SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS 
RESOURCE GUIDE

Center for 

Rural Affairs

HEIDI KOLBECK-URLACHER
Senior Policy Associate,

Center for Rural Affairs

June 2022

DECOMMISSIONING SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS 
RESOURCE GUIDE

Decommissioning Solar Energy Systems
Resource Guide

By:
Heidi Kolbeck-Urlacher, senior policy associate.

© Copyright 2022

Center for Rural Affairs
145 Main Street
PO Box 136
Lyons, NE 68038
402.687.2100
info@cfra.org
cfra.org

Cover photo by Cody Smith

Report editing by:
Teresa Hoffman, senior communications associate;
Rhea Landholm, communications manager;
Catharine Huddle, communications consultant;
and Liz Stewart, communications consultant. 

Design by:
Kylie Kai, senior communications associate.

1 I. Introduction

1 II. Understanding solar project end-of-life options

2  A. Extending the performance period: reuse, refurbishment, and repowering

2  B. Full decommissioning: recycling and disposal of solar panels

4 III. Planning for decommissioning

4  A. Components of a decommissioning plan

4  B. Estimating decommissioning costs

5   1. Decommissioning cost examples

5  C. Financial assurance mechanisms

6 IV. Recommendations

CONTENTS

3 Figure 1: Solar Energy Industries Association PV Recycling Partner Network

5 Table 1: Sample list of decommissioning tasks and estimated costs for a 2 MW solar installation

FIGURES AND TABLES

68



C F R A . O R G    |    I N F O @ C F R A . O R G PA G E  1

I. INTRODUCTION

Falling equipment costs coupled with increased 
demand for clean energy have led to a rapid rise 
in solar development over the past decade, a trend 
expected to continue. Although solar accounted 
for 3% of U.S. electricity in 2020, the U.S. Energy 
Information Administration projects that number 
will reach 20% by 2050.1 In 2022 alone, solar will 
account for nearly half of all new electric generating 
capacity.2

Solar projects are often located in rural areas and 
      -
ties, including lease payments to landowners,  
tax revenue to fund infrastructure and services,  
and the creation of both permanent and temporary 
jobs.

      -
ing siting or zoning standards to help ensure solar 

1 Francis, Mickey, and Manussawee Sukunta.  
“Solar generation was 3% of U.S. electricity in 2020,  
but we project it will be 20% by 2050.” U.S. Energy  
Information Administration, Nov. 16, 2021, eia.gov/ 
todayinenergy/detail.php?id=50357. Accessed April 2022.

2 Fasching, Elesia, and Suparna Ray. “Solar power 
will account for nearly half of new U.S. electric generat-
ing capacity in 2022.” U.S. Energy Information Admin-
istration, Jan. 10, 2022, eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.
php?id=50818. Accessed April 2022.

development is supported by local residents.  
This can include planning for the eventual decom-
missioning of energy projects that have reached the 
end of their life cycles.

II.  UNDERSTANDING SOLAR PROJECT 
END-OF-LIFE OPTIONS 

Solar panel lifespan is 25 to 35 years.3 Since 
approximately 75% of all U.S. solar capacity has 
          
are still operational and have not been decommis-
sioned yet.4

When solar projects reach the end of their expected 
performance period, there are several management 
options. They include extending the performance 
period through reuse, refurbishment, or repowering 
of the facility or fully discontinuing operations and 
decommissioning the project.

3 Huang, Susan, et al. “Solar Energy Technolo-
       
        
Renewable Technology, March 2022, energy.gov/sites/ 


   

4 Ibid.

When solar projects reach the end of their expected performance period, there are several management options. They include extending 
the performance period through reuse, refurbishment, or repowering of the facility or fully discontinuing operations and decommissioning 
the project.  |  Photo by Rhea Landholm

C F R A . O R G    |    I N F O @ C F R A . O R G PA G E  2

A. EXTENDING THE PERFORMANCE PERIOD:  

REUSE, REFURBISHMENT, AND REPOWERING

In some cases, photovoltaic modules can be reused 
or refurbished to extend the system’s performance 
period.5 If equipment is still in working order,  
one possibility is to extend leases, permits,  
and interconnection agreements to continue  
operation. This requires no capital investment,  
but there are costs associated with maintaining 
aged equipment.6

• Reuse of the system’s photovoltaic modules 
is the most economically and environmentally 
     

for revenue or tax savings.7 Research has shown 
that solar panels degrade at a rate of 0.5% per 
year, which means that by year 20 a panel can 
be expected to produce 90% of the electricity it 
did in year 1.8 

• Refurbishment involves making necessary 
repairs to extend the lifespan of the system’s 
older equipment. Refurbishing older equipment 
        

parts and lack of expertise in working with older 
technologies.9 

     

Recycling.” Solar Energy Industries Association, Janu-
   


pdf. Accessed April 2022.

6 “What it Takes to Realize a Circular Economy for 
     -
       
program/2021/what-it-takes-to-realize-a-circular-
economy-for-solar-photovoltaic-system-materials.html.  
Accessed April 2022.

     
      
18, 2021, epri.com/research/products/00000000 
3002021132. Accessed May 2022.

         

     

23, 2018, nrel.gov/state-local-tribal/blog/posts/stat- 
faqs-part2-lifetime-of-pv-panels.html. Accessed April 2022.

9 “What it Takes to Realize a Circular Economy for 
     -
       
program/2021/what-it-takes-to-realize-a-circular-
economy-for-solar-photovoltaic-system-materials.html.  
Accessed April 2022.

• Repowering involves redesigning the system and 
installing new arrays and inverters to rebuild or 
replace the power source, and can cost about 
80% of the total plant value. A repowered solar 
system is new in most respects but can leverage 
existing land-use, permitting, and utility inter-
connections.10

B. FULL DECOMMISSIONING: RECYCLING AND  

DISPOSAL OF SOLAR PANELS

Full decommissioning indicates the solar facility 
will be closed, all photovoltaic equipment will be 
removed, and land will be restored to its original 
condition.11 Disassembly of the solar system mir-
rors assembly, only in reverse. It will include remov-
ing modules and sorting components by material 
type. Major pieces of equipment might be sourced 
         

decommissioning can be half that of installation.12

• Recycling solar panels decreases waste and 
allows for the recovery of high-value and  
energy-intensive materials. Solar panels  
typically consist of glass, aluminum, copper, 
silver, and semiconductor materials that can  
be successfully recovered. By weight, more than 
80% of a typical solar panel is glass and alu-
minum, both of which are common and easily 
recycled materials.13 
 
Solar recycling technology is still a developing 
       -
ing glass recycling facilities, which can recover 
about 78% of materials.14 It is anticipated that 

10 Ibid.

11 Ibid.

12           

     -
     

fy21osti/78678.pdf. Accessed April 2022.

13     

Recycling.” Solar Energy Industries Association, Janu-
   


pdf. Accessed April 2022.

14     -
       
2021, epri.com/research/products/0000000030020211 
32. Accessed December 2021.

C F R A . O R G    |    I N F O @ C F R A . O R G PA G E  4

III.  PLANNING FOR DECOMMISSIONING

Decommissioning requirements can be set by states 
     -
ments may set additional requirements. It is pru-
dent for local governments to plan ahead for solar 
decommissioning and create ordinances that spell 
out expectations and obligations. This ensures that 
     

the project owner and not the county and land- 
owners.

Because the majority of solar installations are 
decades away from being retired, project decommis-
sioning plans may need to be revised over time.  
      

accommodate necessary changes in decommission-
ing cost estimates, technology changes, and the 
availability of recycling services.

A. COMPONENTS OF A DECOMMISSIONING PLAN

    21, 22, 23, 24 

• Estimated lifespan of the project. 

•     

will be initiated, such as the end of lease,  
inoperation of the facility for a certain period  
       

21     -
mation for local governments and landowners on the  
decommissioning of large-scale solar panel systems.”  
New York State Energy Research and Development Author- 
  
Decommissioning-Solar-Systems.ashx. Accessed April 
2022.

22 “EERA Recommendations on Review of Solar and 
     -
ber E999/M-17-123).” Minnesota Department of Com-
    

mn.us/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=show




Accessed May 2022.

23 Curtis, Taylor, et al. “A Survey of Federal and State-
       

     

2021, nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/79650.pdf. Accessed April 
2022.

24           

     -
     

fy21osti/78678.pdf. Accessed April 2022.

•        
decommissioning. 

•       

of intent to start the decommissioning process. 

• Description of any agreement made with the 
landowner regarding decommissioning. 

•       -
sioning plan over time. 

•      

• Removal of all equipment, structures,  
fencing, roads, and foundations. 

• Restoration of property to condition prior to 
solar development. 

• The timeframe for completion of decommis-
sioning activities. 

• Detailed decommissioning cost estimates  
prepared by a knowledgeable independent party. 
This may or may not include the salvage value of 
solar equipment and infrastructure. 

• A description of expected impacts on natural 
resources. 

• Financial surety, which may be established 
     
such as trusts or escrow accounts, bonds,  
letters of credit, or other types of agreements.

Nebraska is one of the few states with a state-level 

decommissioning requirement. Nebraska Revised 

Statute 70-1014.02 requires that private electric 

suppliers comply with any decommissioning require-

ments adopted by local governmental entities,  

submit a decommissioning plan, bear all costs of 

decommissioning, and post a security bond or other 

instrument within 10 years of commercial operation 

securing the costs of decommissioning the facility.25

B. ESTIMATING DECOMMISSIONING COSTS

Because few solar projects have yet to be decom-
missioned, cost estimates vary widely. Differences 
       

25 “Nebraska Revised Statute 70-1014.02.” Neb- 
  

php?statute=70-1014.02. Accessed May 2022.

69



C F R A . O R G    |    I N F O @ C F R A . O R G PA G E  5

site, calculation methods, local government require-
ments, and whether salvage value is included as 
part of the total. Using local, independent profes-
sionals, such as third-party engineers, to develop 
     

recommended.

1. DECOMMISSIONING COST EXAMPLES

• The New York State Energy Research and Devel-
opment Authority (NYSERDA) estimates $30,000 
per megawatt in present day costs.26 See Table 1 
for NYSERDA’s sample list of decommissioning 
costs for a 2 MW solar installation.27 

• A 2018 Minnesota Department of Commerce 
solar and wind decommissioning working group 
estimated the net costs (total less salvage value) 
of solar facilities at $21,700 to $56,300 per 
megawatt.28 

•      

two proposed utility-scale solar projects are esti-
mated between $9,090 and $18,148 per mega-
watt.29, 30 

26     -
mation for local governments and landowners on the  
decommissioning of large-scale solar panel systems.”  
New York State Energy Research and Development  
Authority, nyserda.ny.gov/-/media/Migrated/NYSun/
 

April 2022.

27 Ibid.

28      

Report and Recommendations.” Minnesota Department 
    

mn.us/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=show




Accessed May 2022.

29        
       -
       
December 2018, puc.sd.gov/commission/dockets/ 
electric/2018/el18-059/application.pdf. Accessed May 
2022.

30      

       
May 15, 2020, puc.sd.gov/commission/dockets/ 
electric/2020/el20-018/AppendixD.pdf. Accessed May 
2022.

B. FINANCIAL ASSURANCE MECHANISMS

Some local governments may decide to require 
     

accounts, bonds, or letters of credit, to ensure 
appropriate decommissioning and reclamation. 
       

provides additional protection for local governments, 
but may increase overall project costs, which could 
deter development.31    -
ance, a more favorable approach for developers is if 
assurances can be paid over time rather than prior 
to project operation, as the assurance may be 
 
 

31     -
mation for local governments and landowners on the  
decommissioning of large-scale solar panel systems.”  
New York State Energy Research and Development  
Authority, nyserda.ny.gov/-/media/Migrated/NYSun/
 

April 2022.

TABLE 1: SAMPLE LIST OF DECOMMISSIONING TASKS AND  
ESTIMATED COSTS FOR A 2 MW SOLAR INSTALLATION

Source: New York State Energy Research and Development Authority

Tasks
Estimated 
cost

Remove rack wiring $2,459

Remove panels $2,450

Dismantle racks $12,350

Remove electrical equipment $1,850

Breakup and remove concrete 
pads or ballasts

$1,500

Remove racks $7,800

Remove cable $6,500

Remove ground screws and 
power poles

$13,850

Remove fence $4,950

Grading $4,000

Seed disturbed areas $250

Truck to recycling center $2,250

Current total $60,200

Total after 20 years  
(2.5% inflation rate)

$98,900

C F R A . O R G    |    I N F O @ C F R A . O R G PA G E  6

absorbed as operating costs rather than upfront 
capital cost.32

For example, Nebraska statute requires suppliers to 
post a security bond or other instrument within 10 
years of a commercial operation securing the costs 
of decommissioning the facility.33   

Minnesota Department of Commerce Energy Envi-
ronmental Review and Analysis (EERA) unit recom-
     

in a stepwise manner with initial payments by year 
10 and increased over time to ensure full funding 
no later than the end of the power purchase agree-
ment.34

IV. RECOMMENDATIONS

   

• Require project developers to submit a decom-
      

the project developer to remove the solar array 
and restore the land when the project is retired. 

• Require the project developer to notify the 
county of its intent to stop using the facility once 
it has been determined the system will be fully 
       -
ger for decommissioning to begin. Both the man-
       -
      

      -
sioning plan. 

• Ensure that decommissioning plans include 
expected timelines for completion of tasks.  

32 Curtis, Taylor, et al. “A Survey of Federal and State-
       

     

2021, nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/79650.pdf. Accessed April 
2022.

33 “Nebraska Revised Statute 70-1014.02.” Neb- 
  

php?statute=70-1014.02. Accessed May 2022.

34 “EERA Recommendations on Review of Solar and 
     -
ber E999/M-17-123).” Minnesota Department of Com-
    

mn.us/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=show




Accessed May 2022.

For example, specifying deadlines for removal of 
equipment and completion of site reclamation. 

• Include a provision that the project owner is 
responsible for the costs of decommissioning, 
ensuring the county and landowners do not bear 
these costs. 

• Work with developers to ensure decommission-
ing cost estimates are made by a third-party 
professional who can provide a location and 
      

cost estimates to be reviewed every 5 to 10 years 
to accommodate changes. 

• Encourage recycling or repurposing of solar 
     

About the  

Center for Rural Affairs

Established in 1973, the Center for Rural Affairs is 

a private, nonprofit organization with a mission to 

establish strong rural communities, social and  

economic justice, environmental stewardship,  

and genuine opportunity for all while engaging 

people in decisions that affect the quality of their  

lives and the future of their communities.

70



71



72



73



74






































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































75




































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































76



Sample of Utility-Scale Solar Ordinances in Other Iowa Counties 
The subsequent pages include ordinances that have passed or drafts under consideration in other Iowa Counties.  This list does 
not reflect every county that may have policies for utility-scale solar systems.   

County Location Population (2023) Status Permitting Body Permit Type Zoning District 

Adair 7,439 In effect Board of 
Supervisors 

Board of Supervisors 
Permitting 

No designation 

Clayton 16,716 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Special Exception Use 
Permit 

Consumer Scale 
referenced in R-1, C-1, 
& A-1 Districts 

Clinton 45,662 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Special Exception Permit  A-1, AR-1, C-1, C-2, M-1, 
M-2 

Dubuque 100,949 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Special Use Permit A-1 (Agricultural 
District); Permitted in 
M-1 (Light Industrial) 
and M-2 (Heavy 
Industrial) 

Johnson 159,445 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Conditional Use Permit Agricultural District 

Linn 236,020 In effect Board of 
Supervisors 

Handout only Renewable Energy 
Overlay Zoning District 

Louisa 10,672 Draft Proposal Board of 
Adjustment 

(Ordinance Status 
unknown) Special Exception 
Permit 

Special Use Exception in 
the A-1 (Agricultural 
District); B-1 (Business 
District); I-1 (Industrial 
District) 

Mills 14,310 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Conditional Use Permit AG (Agricultural Zoning 
District); AR 
(Agricultural/Residential 
Zoning District) 

Monona 8,604 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Special Use Permit A-1; A-2 – Agricultural 
Districts 

Muscatine 43,382 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Special Use Permit A-1 (Agricultural 
District); Permitted use 
in I-1 & I-2 (Light and 
Heavy Industrial) 

Polk 510,929 In effect Board of 
Adjustment 

Conditional Use Permit AG (Agricultural Zoning 
District); LI (Limited 
Industrial Zoning 
District); HI (Heavy 
Industrial Zoning 
District) 

Ringgold 4,522 In effect Board of 
Supervisors 

Construction Permit No designation 

Scott 177,501 In effect Board of 
Supervisors 

Rezone Procedure US-F Floating District 

Tama 16,946 Under 
Consideration 

Solar 
Access 
Regulatory 
Board / 
Board of 
Supervisors 

Solar Access Easement No designation; capped 
by 25 Megawatts (MW). 

77



O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 N
O

. 38  
A

N
 O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IN
G

 T
H

E
 P

L
A

C
E

M
E

N
T

 O
F

U
T

IL
IT

Y
 S

C
A

L
E

 S
O

L
A

R
 E

N
E

R
G

Y
 S

Y
S

T
E

M
S

 O
N

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 IN

 T
H

E
 

U
N

IN
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 A

R
E

A
S

 O
F

 A
D

A
IR

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, IO
W

A
 

B
e it enacted by the B

oard of S
upervisors of A

dair C
ounty Iow

a:  
P

u
rp

o
se an

d
 In

ten
t. T

he purpose of this O
rdinance is to establish m

inim
um

 requirem
ents and regulation of any A

pplicant/D
eveloper/O

w
ner 

engaged in the construction, erection, placem
ent, location, m

aintenance, m
odification, operation, and decom

m
issioning of U

tility S
cale S

olar E
nergy 

S
ystem

s (U
S

-S
E

S
) in A

dair C
ounty, Iow

a. 
T

he intent of this O
rdinance is to facilitate the construction, installation, and operation of U

tility S
cale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s (U

S
-S

E
S

) in A
dair C

ounty 
in a m

anner that preserves and protects the rights, privileges, and property of the C
ounty and its residents, that ensures th

e protection of the health, 












rtunity for econom

ic grow
th and developm

ent. 
A

ll U
tility S

cale S
olar E

nergy S
ystem

 projects not currently contracted by agreem
ent, perm

itted, planned, and erected shall follow
 this S

olar E
nergy 

S
ystem

s O
rdinance. T

his O
rdinance shall not apply to any U

S
-S

E
S

 project w
ith an agreem

ent signed before the effective date of this O
rdinance. 

S
ectio

n
 1

. D
e

fin
itio

n
s

. F
or use in this O

rdinance, certain w
ords used herein shall be defined as follow

s: 
A

greem
ent. A

 legally binding docum
ent signed by both a participating landow

ner and an ow
ner or operator for a specific purpose, including but not 

lim
ited to a contract, easem

ent, or lease. 
A

pplicant. T
he person or entity subm

itting the application under this O
rdinance, w

hich is norm
ally expected to be the ow

ne
r or operator of a U

S
-S

E
S

, 
or the ow

ner of the U
S

-S
E

S
 developm

ent. 
B

oard of S
upervisors. A

 board elected by A
dair C

ounty residents. 
D

eveloped P
roject A

cres. T
he total project area that is subject to an agreem

ent betw
een the O

w
ner/O

perator and the P
articipa

ting Landow
ner and is 

actually developed and utilized for placem
ent of a U

S
-S

E
S

. 
E

asem
ent. A

 legal agreem
ent for the use of property for a specified purpose. 

N
on-P

articipating Landow
ner. A

 landow
ner w

ho has not signed a binding agreem
ent w

ith the A
pplicant/D

eveloper/O
w

ner of the LU
S

-S
E

S
 project. 

O
ccupied R

esidence. A
 house, apartm

ent, or other structure designed for residential use that is the abode of a person, fam
ily, or household, an

d is 
regularly occupied. 
O

w
ner. T

he entity or entities w
ith an equity interest in the U

S
-S

E
S

, including their respective successors and assigns. O
w

ner does not m
ean the 

landow
ner from

 w
hom

 a lease, easem
ent, or other property right is acquired for locating the U

S
-S

E
S

 unless the landow
ner has an equity interest in 

the U
S

-S
E

S
, or any person holding a security interest in the U

S
-S

E
S

 solely to secure an extension of credit, or a person foreclosing on such security 
interest provided that after foreclosure, such person seeks to sell the U

S
-S

E
S

 at the earliest practical date. 
P

articipating Landow
ner. A

 landow
ner w

ho has signed a binding agreem
ent w

ith the A
pplicant/ 

D
eveloper/O

w
ner of the U

S
-S

E
S

 project. 
P

roject A
rea. T

he geographic area encom
passing all com

ponents of a U
S

-S
E

S
 project, including border fencing. 

P
roperty Line. T

he legal boundary betw
een separately ow

ned real estate parcels, and betw
een privately ow

ned parcels and publicly ow
ned land or 

public right of w
ay. 

S
etback. T

he m
inim

um
 required distance from

 a certain object, structure or point to the edge of any part or com
ponent of the U

S
-S

E
S

. 
U

tility S
cale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
 (U

S
-S

E
S

). A
lso know

n as solar pow
er plants and solar farm

s, an alternative energy facility that consists of ground
-

m
ounted or freestanding sunlight or solar collection devices, solar energy related equipm

e
nt, and other associated infrastructure w

ith the prim
ary 

intention of generating electricity from
 photovoltaics or concentrated solar pow

er, or otherw
ise converting energy to a diffe

rent form
 of energy, to be 

distributed to the electrical grid or other off-site use. T
his does not include sm

all-scale solar panels or technologies installed at individual residential or 
com

m
ercial locations (e.g. roof or ground m

ounted panels) that are used exclusively for private purposes and not utilized for any com
m

ercial resale of 
any energy, except for the sale of surplus electrical energy back to the electrical grid. 
U

S
-S

E
S

 C
onstruction P

erm
it. A

 perm
it issued by A

dair C
ounty, w

hich is required before construction of a U
S

-S
E

S
 is allow

ed in A
dair C

ounty. 
S

ectio
n

 2. C
ap

 o
n

 T
o

ta
l A

cres U
tilized

 fo
r U

S
-S

E
S

. T
here shall be a cap of 400 total D

eveloped P
roject A

cres in A
dair C

ounty devoted to placem
ent 

of U
tility S

cale S
olar E

nergy S
ystem

s. 
A

 participating landow
ner w

ho w
ishes to appeal the denial of a U

S
-S

E
S

 C
onstruction perm

it on the basis that the total acreage cap has been m
et or 


































ndow

ner m
ust com

plete 
the form

 in its entirety, and file it w
ith the A

dair 


















 

S
ectio

n
 3

. P
erm

it A
p

p
lic

atio
n

 R
e

q
u

irem
en

ts. T
he applicant for the siting and construction of a U

tility S
cale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
 shall file an 

application w
ith the C

ounty E
ngineer or their designee, along w

ith the perm
it fee of $100.00, prior to com

m
encing construction. 

T
he application for a U

tility S
cale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
 C

onstruction P
erm

it shall include: 
1. 

A
 w

ritten U
S

-S
E

S
 project sum

m
ary, including (1) a general description of the project, including the approxim

ate generating capacity; (2) the 
m

odel and equipm
ent m

anufacturer for the solar panel array; (3) the nam
e, address, em

ail address, and telephone num
ber of the

 applicant, 
project ow

ner, and/or project operator; and (4) the legal description of the property or properties on w
hich the U

tility S
cale S

olar E
nergy 

S
ystem

 w
ill be located. 

2.  
A

 site plan of the U
S

-S
E

S
 site to be an aerial photograph of the project location and surrounding area or a scale draw

ing show
ing all of the 

follow
ing: 

a. B
oundaries of the site; 

b. A
ll proposed S

E
S

 structures and other support structures, including the num
ber, location, spacing, and height of solar panels/arrays and 

the planned location of underground or overhead electrical lines; 
c.  A

ll proposed fencing to surround the S
E

S
 structures and other support structures; 

d. Location of property lines, including identification of adjacent properties and w
hether they are participating or non-participating; 

e. S
etback m

easurem
ents betw

een the fencing, solar panel(s) and/or equipm
ent closest to the required protected areas, and all applicable 

property lines, occupied residences, road right of w
ays, intersections, and airports. T

his provision does not include underground facilities, 
such as cable; 

f. 
A

n unredacted H
ealth &

 S
afety Instructions M

anual specifically for the m
ake, m

odel, and type of solar panel array from
 the m

anufacturer 








































available 
to the public at tim

e of application. N
o other generalized statem

ent, docum
ent, or m

anual is acceptable.  
3. 

A
 description of the anticipated life of the U

S
-S

E
S

, the anticipated m
anner in w

hich the project w
ill be decom

m
issioned, the anticipated site 

restoration actions, the estim
ated decom

m
issioning costs in current U

.S
. dollars, the m

ethod for ensuring that funds w
ill be available for 

decom
m

issioning and restoration; and evidence of an agreem
ent w

ith the property ow
ner for the location of the U

S
-S

E
S

 that ensures proper 
rem

oval of all equipm
ent and restoration of the site w

ithin six (6) m
onths of decom

m
issioning or abandonm

ent of the project. 
4. 

C
onsultation w

ith or notifications from
 relevant state and federal agencies show

ing the project w
ill not be a hazard to w

ildlife, com
m

unications, 
air traffic, and other related m

atters. 
U

pon receipt of the com
plete application and perm

it fee, the A
dair C

ounty E
ngineer shall review

 the application. U
pon the determ

ination by 
the A

dair C
ounty E

ngineer that the requirem
ents of this O

rdinance have been satisfied, the com
pleted U

S
-S

E
S

 C
onstruction P

erm
it 

A
pplication and any/all necessary supporting docum

entation shall be presented to the A
dair C

ounty B
oard of S

upervisors for ap
proval. T

he 
A

dair C
ounty B

oard of S
upervisors, upon approval of the application, shall provide any necessary building perm

its for each U
S

-S
E

S
. If there 

are changes to the inform
ation as provided as a part of the application that occur from

 the tim
e of the application until the

 tim
e of the 

construction of the U
S

-S
E

S
, the applicant shall subm

it a new
 application together w

ith the updated inform
ation and any such change shall 

be in com
pliance w

ith this O
rdinance. T

he A
dair C

ounty E
ngineer shall present the am

ended and com
pleted U

S
-S

E
S

 C
onstruction P

erm
it 

A
pplication to the A

dair C
ounty B

oard of S
upervisors using the process described above. 

S
ectio

n
 4

. G
en

eral R
eq

u
ire

m
en

ts
 fo

r U
tility S

cale S
o

lar E
n

erg
y S

y
ste

m
s (U

S
-S

E
S

).  U
S

-S
E

S
 shall be subject to the follow

ing requirem
ents: 

1. 
S

etbacks. A
ll U

S
-S

E
S

 and any upgrades to existing solar energy system
s shall observe the follow

ing setbacks, to be m
easured from

 the 
edge of the solar panels and equipm

ent (not underground facilities such as cable or fencing): 
P

ro
tected

 A
rea 

S
etb

ack R
e

q
u

ire
m

e
n

t 

O
ccupied R

esidence  
1,000 feet from

 occupied residence 
A

ny non-participating parcel  
250 feet from

 property line 
P

ublic road right of w
ay 

50 feet from
 road right of w

ay 
P

ublic road intersections 
R

adius of 150 feet from
 the center of the intersection 

P
ublic A

irports 
5 m

iles from
 property line 

P
articipating and non-participating landow

ners m
ay sign a w

aiver consenting to the placem
ent of U

S
-S

E
S

 and/or upgrades closer than the 
setback requirem

ents outlined above. 
2. 

S
afety. S

ecurity fencing shall be installed and m
aintained in good condition around all electrical equipm

ent related to the U
S

-S
E

S
 project, 

including but not lim
ited to transform

ers and transfer stations. T
he fencing shall be equipped w

ith a m
inim

um
 of one gate and

 locking 
m

echanism
 on the prim

ary access side. A
ppropriate w

arning signage shall be placed at safe intervals at the entrance and perim
eter of the 

U
S

-S
E

S
 project. 

3. 
Insurance. A

pplicants shall provide evidence, in the form
 of a certificate of insurance satisfactory to the county, show

ing general liability 



























s insurance 

policy, separate and distinct from
 any requirem

ents of a public utility. 
4. 

G
round C

over. A
ll solar panels shall have native perennial vegetation planted and m

aintained beneath them
, including a m

ix of grasses and 
w

ildflow
ers. T

he site shall be m
aintained to prevent fire hazards. N

o concrete or gravel type cover of property is perm
issible. 

5. 
C

ertification &
 C

om
pliance. A

ll U
S

-S
E

S
 shall conform

 to applicable industry standards, including those from
 the U

nderw
riters Laboratory 

(U
L) and F

ederal A
viation A

dm
inistration (F

A
A

), and shall be in com
pliance w

ith all applicable local, state, and federal reg
ulatory standards 

and applicable electrical codes, including the N
ational E

lectric C
ode (N

E
C

). 
S

ectio
n

 5
. P

u
b

lic In
frastru

c
tu

re D
am

ag
e A

vo
id

an
ce

/M
itig

atio
n

 &
 D

e
co

m
m

iss
io

n
in

g
. 

1. 
R

oads. T
he applicant or ow

ner of the U
S

-S
E

S
 shall enter into a road use agreem

ent, substantially in the form
 attached to this O

rdinance, 
w

ith A
dair C

ounty prior to the start of construction of the U
S

-















be unreasonably w

ithheld. 
2. 

D
ecom

m
issioning. T

he U
S

-S
E

S

























w
ith A

dair C
ounty prior to the start of construction of the U

S
-















be unreasonably w

ithheld. 
S

ectio
n

 6
. M

isc
ellan

eo
u

s. 
1. 

C
ondem

nation W
aiver. Issuance of a U

S
-


























supported by the consideration of the issuance of the U

S
-S

E
S

 C
onstruction P

erm
it, that the perm

it holder shall never use, or seek to use, 
em

inent dom
ain to acquire any real property interests to construct or operate the project. 

2. 
Legal F

ees. In any action brought by the C
ounty against the perm

it holder or a U
S

-S
E

S
 C

onstruction P
erm

it to enforce the provisions of this 


































cision-m
aking 

tribunal. 
S

ectio
n

 7
. T

ran
sfer. B

uilding perm
its and associated decom

m
issioning and road use agreem

ents granted under this O
rdinance m

ay be transferred 
to another party subject to A

dair C
ounty B

oard of S
upervisors approval, w

hich approval shall not be unreasonably w
ithheld. A

ny assignee of the 
building perm

its and associated decom
m

issioning and road use agreem
ents shall be subject to all the requirem

ents in this O
rdinance and the 

agreem
ents. 

78



S
ectio

n
 8

. S
ev

erab
ility. S

hould any section or provisions of this O
rdinance be declared by the courts to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision 

shall not affect the validity of the O
rdinance as a w

hole, or any part thereof other than the part so declared to be invalid or unconstitutional. 
S

ectio
n

 9
. P

en
alty. A

ny person, persons, firm
s, partnerships or corporations, w

hether acting alone or in co
ncert w

ith any other, w
ho violates this 

O
rdinance, shall be guilty of a sim

ple m
isdem

eanor as authorized by Iow
a C

ode section 331.302. 
S

ectio
n

 1
0. E

ffective D
ate. T

his O
rdinance shall be in effect after its final passage, approval, and publication as required by law

. 
P

assed and approved this 5
th day of M

ay, 2021. 
S

teve S
helley, C

hairperson, B
oard of S

upervisors 
A

ttest: M
andy B

erg, C
ounty A

uditor 
 

79



80



81



C
lin

to
n

 C
o

u
n

ty
, IA

 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 O
n

ly
 

F
o

r fu
ll o

rd
in

a
n

ce
 te

xt, p
le

a
se

 fin
d

 p
d

f b
e

lo
w

 o
r v

isit co
u

n
ty

 w
e

b
site

. 

  D
a

te
 P

a
sse

d
/A

m
e

n
d

e
d

:  O
cto

b
e

r 3
, 2

0
1

6
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 W
ritte

n
: 

Ju
n

e
 9

, 2
0

2
2

 

 A
g

ricu
ltu

ra
l U

se
 T

a
b

le
:   

 E
lig

ib
le

 Z
o

n
in

g
:   

a
)

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l So
la

r E
n

e
rg

y
 S

yste
m

 (C
S

E
S

) 

a
.

P
rim

e
 A

g
ricu

ltu
ra

l D
istrict (A

-1
) 

b
.

A
g

ricu
ltu

ra
l R

e
cre

a
tio

n
 D

istrict (A
R

-1
) 

c.
H

ig
h

w
a

y
 C

o
m

m
e

rcia
l D

istrict (C
-1

) 

d
.

R
u

ra
l S

u
p

p
o

rt C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l D
istrict (C

-2
) 

e
.

Lim
ite

d
 In

d
u

stria
l D

istrict (M
-1

) 

f.
G

e
n

e
ra

l In
d

u
stria

l D
istrict (M

-2
) 

 P
ro

h
ib

itio
n

 La
n

g
u

a
g

e
:   

 R
e

q
u

ire
d

 In
fo

rm
a

tio
n

/P
e

rm
its R

e
q

u
ire

d
: 

a
)

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l So
la

r E
n

e
rg

y
 S

yste
m

 (C
S

E
S

) 

a
.

M
a

jo
r S

ite
 P

la
n

 a
n

d
 S

p
e

cia
l E

xce
p

tio
n

 U
se

 P
e

rm
it is re

q
u

ire
d

. 

b
.

O
th

e
r ite

m
s to

 b
e

 su
b

m
itte

d
 a

re
: 

i.
N

u
m

b
e

r, lo
ca

tio
n

 a
n

d
 sp

a
cin

g
 o

f so
la

r a
rra

ys. 

ii.
P

la
n

n
e

d
 lo

ca
tio

n
 o

f u
n

d
e

rg
ro

u
n

d
 o

r o
v
e

rh
e

a
d

 e
le

ctric lin
e

s. 

iii.
P

ro
je

ct d
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t tim
e

lin
e

. 

iv
.

In
te

rco
n

n
e

ctio
n

 a
g

re
e

m
e

n
t. 

v
.

O
p

e
ra

tio
n

 a
n

d
 m

a
in

te
n

a
n

ce
 p

la
n

. 

v
i.

D
e

co
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 P

la
n

. 

  

 

R
e

q
u

e
st fo

r V
a

ria
n

ce
: 

 S
ite

 a
n

d
 S

tru
ctu

re
 R

e
q

u
ire

m
e

n
ts:   

a
)

C
o

m
p

lia
n

ce
 w

ith
 a

ll lo
ca

l, sta
te

, a
n

d
 fe

d
e

ra
l re

g
u

la
tio

n
s:  

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
A

ll C
S

E
S

 in
sta

lla
tio

n
s sh

a
ll co

m
p

ly w
ith

 a
ll a

p
p

lica
b

le
 lo

ca
l, sta

te
 a

n
d

 

fe
d

e
ra

l re
g

u
la

tio
n

s. 

 b
)

C
o

n
ce

n
tra

tin
g

 S
o

la
r P

o
w

e
r F

a
cilitie

s: 

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
C

o
n

ce
n

tra
te

d
 S

o
la

r P
o

w
e

r (C
S
P

) sy
ste

m
s sh

a
ll b

e
 p

ro
h

ib
ite

d
.   

 c)
F
e

n
cin

g
/Se

cu
rity:   

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
A

 se
cu

rity
 fe

n
ce

 m
u

st b
e

 in
sta

lle
d

 a
lo

n
g

 a
ll e

xte
rio

r sid
e

s o
f th

e
 C

S
E

S
 

in
sta

lla
tio

n
 a

n
d

 b
e

 e
q

u
ip

p
e

d
 w

ith
 a

 m
in

im
u

m
 o

f o
n

e
 (1

) g
a

te
 a

n
d

 lo
ck

in
g

 

m
e

ch
a

n
ism

 o
n

 th
e

 p
rim

a
ry a

cce
ss sid

e
. 

ii.
S

e
cu

rity g
a

te
s a

n
d

 w
a

rn
in

g
 sig

n
s m

u
st b

e
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

 in
 g

o
o

d
 co

n
d

itio
n

 

u
n

til th
e

 C
S

E
S
 in

sta
lla

tio
n

 is d
ism

a
n

tle
d

 a
n

d
 re

m
o

v
e

d
 fro

m
 th

e
 site

. 

 

d
)

G
la

re
 m

in
im

iza
tio

n
:   

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
A

ll so
la

r p
a

n
e

ls m
u

st b
e

 co
n

stru
cte

d
 to

 m
in

im
ize

 g
la

re
 o

r re
fle

ctio
n

 o
n

to
 

a
d

ja
ce

n
t p

ro
p

e
rtie

s a
n

d
 a

d
ja

ce
n

t ro
a

d
w

a
y
s a

n
d

 m
u

st n
o

t in
te

rfe
re

 w
ith

 

tra
ffic, in

clu
d

in
g

 a
ir tra

ffic o
r cre

a
te

 a
 sa

fe
ty

 h
a

za
rd

. 

 

e
)

H
e

ig
h

t:   

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
A

ll stru
ctu

re
s sh

a
ll b

e
 su

b
je

ct to
 th

e
 h

e
ig

h
t re

q
u

ire
m

e
n

ts o
f th

e
 

u
n

d
e

rly
in

g
 zo

n
in

g
 d

istrict. 

 

f)
Lig

h
tin

g
: 

 

g
)

M
in

im
u

m
 Lo

t S
ize

:   

 h
)

N
o

ise
:    

 i)
O

u
tsid

e
 sto

ra
g

e
:  

 j)
S
e

tb
a

ck
s a

n
d

 Lo
t C

o
v
e

ra
g

e
: 

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
S

e
tb

a
ck

s fo
r a

ll stru
ctu

re
s m

u
st a

d
h

e
re

 to
 th

e
 m

in
im

u
m

 p
rin

cip
a

l se
tb

a
ck

 

sta
n

d
a

rd
s fo

r th
e

 zo
n

in
g

 d
istrict w

h
e

re
 th

e
 p

ro
je

ct is lo
ca

te
d

. 

ii.
G

re
a

te
r se

tb
a

cks m
a

y
 b

e
 re

q
u

ire
d

 b
y
 th

e
 B

o
a

rd
 o

f A
d

ju
stm

e
n

t. 

  

 k
)

S
cre

e
n

in
g

:   

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
A

 la
n

d
sca

p
e

 b
u

ffe
r m

a
y
 b

e
 re

q
u

ire
d

 to
 b

e
 in

sta
lle

d
 a

n
d

 m
a

in
ta

in
e

d
 

d
u

rin
g

 th
e

 life
 o

f th
e

 p
ro

je
ct’s o

p
e

ra
tio

n
. 

ii.
D

e
te

rm
in

a
tio

n
 o

f scre
e

n
in

g
 re

q
u

ire
m

e
n

ts w
ill b

e
 m

a
d

e
 b

y
 th

e
 B

o
a

rd
 o

f 

A
d

ju
stm

e
n

t a
s p

a
rt o

f th
e

 re
v
ie

w
 a

n
d

 a
p

p
ro

va
l p

ro
ce

ss a
n

d
 w

ill b
e

 b
a

se
d

 

o
n

 a
d

ja
ce

n
t o

r n
e

a
rb

y
 su

rro
u

n
d

in
g

 la
n

d
 u

se
s a

n
d

 to
p

o
g

ra
p

h
y
. 

iii.
B

lo
o

m
in

g
 sh

ru
b

s m
a

y
 b

e
 u

se
d

 in
 b

u
ffe

r a
re

a
s a

s a
p

p
ro

p
ria

te
 fo

r v
isu

a
l 

scre
e

n
in

g
. 

82



 

l)
S
ig

n
a

g
e

: 

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
s (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
N

o
 sig

n
s o

th
e

r th
a

n
 a

p
p

ro
p

ria
te

 w
a

rn
in

g
 sig

n
s, o

r sta
n

d
a

rd
 

m
a

n
u

fa
ctu

re
r’s, o

p
e

ra
to

r’s o
r in

sta
lle

r’s id
e

n
tifica

tio
n

 sig
n

a
g

e
 sh

a
ll b

e
 

d
isp

la
y
e

d
. 

 

m
)

S
ite

 A
cce

ss/E
m

e
rg

e
n

cy
 R

e
sp

o
n

se
: 

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
S

ite
 a

cce
ss sh

a
ll b

e
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

 to
 a

 le
v
e

l a
cce

p
ta

b
le

 to
 e

m
e

rg
e

n
cy

 

re
sp

o
n

se
 o

fficia
ls. 

 

n
)

U
tility

 C
o

n
n

e
ctio

n
s: 

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
R

e
a

so
n

a
b

le
 e

ffo
rts sh

a
ll b

e
 m

a
d

e
 to

 p
la

ce
 a

ll u
tility co

n
n

e
ctio

n
s fro

m
 th

e
 

so
la

r in
sta

lla
tio

n
 u

n
d

e
rg

ro
u

n
d

, d
e

p
e

n
d

in
g

 o
n

 a
p

p
ro

p
ria

te
 so

il co
n

d
itio

n
s, 

sh
a

p
e

 a
n

d
 to

p
o

g
ra

p
h

y o
f th

e
 site

, d
ista

n
ce

 to
 th

e
 co

n
n

e
ctio

n
 o

r o
th

e
r 

co
n

d
itio

n
s o

r re
q

u
ire

m
e

n
ts. 

 

o
)

W
a

ste
:   

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
D

u
rin

g
 o

p
e

ra
tio

n
, a

ll ch
e

m
ica

ls o
r so

lv
e

n
ts u

se
d

 to
 cle

a
n

 p
h

o
to

vo
lta

ic 

p
a

n
e

ls sh
o

u
ld

 b
e

 lo
w

 in
 vo

la
tile

 o
rg

a
n

ic co
m

p
o

u
n

d
s a

n
d

 th
e

 o
p

e
ra

to
r 

sh
o

u
ld

 u
se

 re
cycla

b
le

 o
r b

io
d

e
gra

d
a

b
le

 p
ro

d
u

cts to
 th

e
 e

xte
n

t p
o

ssib
le

.  

ii.
A

n
y o

n
site

 sto
ra

g
e

 o
f ch

e
m

ica
ls o

r so
lve

n
ts sh

a
ll b

e
 re

fe
re

n
ce

d
. 

 

O
p

e
ra

tio
n

 a
n

d
 M

a
in

te
n

a
n

ce
 P

la
n

 

 

a
)

M
o

n
ito

rin
g

 a
n

d
 M

a
in

te
n

a
n

ce
 

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
T

h
e

 a
p

p
lica

n
t sh

a
ll su

b
m

it a
 p

la
n

 fo
r th

e
 o

p
e

ra
tio

n
 a

n
d

 m
a

in
te

n
a

n
ce

 o
f 

th
e

 in
sta

lla
tio

n
, w

h
ich

 sh
a

ll in
clu

d
e

 m
e

a
su

re
s fo

r m
a

in
ta

in
in

g
 sa

fe
 

a
cce

ss to
 th

e
 in

sta
lla

tio
n

, sto
rm

w
a

te
r a

n
d

 e
ro

sio
n

 co
n

tro
ls, a

s w
e

ll a
s 

g
e

n
e

ra
l p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s fo

r o
p

e
ra

tio
n

 a
n

d
 m

a
in

te
n

a
n

ce
 o

f th
e

 in
sta

lla
tio

n
. 

ii.
M

a
in

te
n

a
n

ce
 sh

a
ll in

clu
d

e
, b

u
t n

o
t b

e
 lim

ite
d

 to
, p

a
in

tin
g

, stru
ctu

ra
l 

re
p

a
irs a

n
d

 in
te

g
rity

 o
f se

cu
rity

 m
e

a
su

re
s. 

iii.
A

n
y
 re

tro
fit, re

p
la

ce
m

e
n

t o
r re

fu
rb

ish
m

e
n

t o
f e

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t sh
a

ll a
d

h
e

re
 

to
 a

ll a
p

p
lica

b
le

 lo
ca

l, sta
te

 a
n

d
 fe

d
e

ra
l re

q
u

ire
m

e
n

ts. 

 

b
)

S
o

il a
n

d
 E

ro
sio

n
 a

n
d

 S
e

d
im

e
n

t C
o

n
tro

l  

a
.

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l S
o

la
r E

n
e

rg
y
 S

y
ste

m
 (C

S
E

S
) 

i.
A

 g
ra

d
in

g
 p

la
n

 sh
a

ll b
e

 su
b

m
itte

d
 a

n
d

 sh
a

ll in
clu

d
e

 a
ll p

ro
p

o
se

d
 

ch
a

n
g

e
s to

 th
e

 la
n

d
sca

p
e

 o
f th

e
 site

 (e
.g

. cle
a

rin
g

, g
ra

d
in

g
, 

to
p

o
g

ra
p

h
ica

l ch
a

n
g

e
s, tre

e
 re

m
o

v
a

l, e
tc.). 

ii.
A

ll C
S

E
S

 in
sta

lla
tio

n
s a

re
 co

n
sid

e
re

d
 to

 b
e

 m
a

xim
u

m
 d

a
m

a
g

e
 p

o
te

n
tia

l 

stru
ctu

re
s a

n
d

 fa
cilitie

s fo
r p

u
rp

o
se

s o
f th

e
 flo

o
d

p
la

in
 d

istrict 

re
g

u
la

tio
n

s. 

iii.
A

p
p

lica
n

t a
g

re
e

s to
 co

n
d

u
ct a

ll ro
a

d
w

o
rk

 a
n

d
 o

th
e

r site
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

w
o

rk
 in

 co
m

p
lia

n
ce

 w
ith

 a
 N

a
tio

n
a

l P
o

llu
ta

n
t D

isch
a

rg
e

 E
lim

in
a

tio
n

 

S
y
ste

m
 (N

P
D

E
S

) p
e

rm
it a

s re
q

u
ire

d
 b

y
 th

e
 Io

w
a

 D
e

p
a

rtm
e

n
t o

f N
a

tu
ra

l 

R
e

so
u

rce
s a

n
d

 co
m

p
ly

 w
ith

 re
q

u
ire

m
e

n
ts a

s d
e

ta
ile

d
 b

y
 lo

ca
l 

ju
risd

ictio
n

a
l a

u
th

o
ritie

s d
u

rin
g

 th
e

 p
la

n
 su

b
m

itta
l. 

iv
.

If su
b

je
ct to

 N
P

D
E

S
 re

q
u

ire
m

e
n

ts, th
e

 a
p

p
lica

n
t m

u
st su

b
m

it th
e

 p
e

rm
it 

fo
r re

vie
w

 a
n

d
 co

m
m

e
n

t a
n

d
 a

n
 e

ro
sio

n
 a

n
d

 se
d

im
e

n
t co

n
tro

l p
la

n
 

b
e

fo
re

 th
e

 b
e

g
in

n
in

g
 o

f co
n

stru
ctio

n
. 

v
.

T
h

e
 p

la
n

 m
u

st in
clu

d
e

 b
o

th
 g

e
n

e
ra

l “b
e

st m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t p

ra
ctice

s” fo
r 

te
m

p
o

ra
ry

 e
ro

sio
n

 a
n

d
 se

d
im

e
n

t co
n

tro
l b

o
th

 d
u

rin
g

 a
n

d
 a

fte
r 

co
n

stru
ctio

n
 a

n
d

 p
e

rm
a

n
e

n
t d

ra
in

a
g

e
 a

n
d

 e
ro

sio
n

 co
n

tro
l m

e
a

su
re

s to
 

p
re

ve
n

t d
a

m
a

g
e

 to
 lo

ca
l ro

a
d

s o
r a

d
ja

ce
n

t a
re

a
s a

n
d

 to
 p

re
v

e
n

t 

se
d

im
e

n
t la

d
e

n
 ru

n
o

ff in
to

 w
a

te
rw

a
y
s. 

v
i.

F
o

r th
e

 p
u

rp
o

se
s o

f p
o

llu
ta

n
t re

m
o

v
a

l, sto
rm

w
a

te
r ra

te
 a

n
d

 ru
n

o
ff 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t, flo

o
d

 re
d

u
ctio

n
 a

n
d

 a
sso

cia
te

d
 im

p
a

cts, th
e

 a
p

p
lica

n
t 

sh
a

ll p
ro

v
id

e
 a

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

n
a

ly
sis o

f p
re

- a
n

d
 p

o
st-d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

sto
rm

w
a

te
r ru

n
o

ff ra
te

s fo
r re

vie
w

 b
y
 lo

ca
l ju

risd
ictio

n
a

l a
u

th
o

ritie
s. 

v
ii.

G
ro

u
n

d
 co

ve
r a

ro
u

n
d

 a
n

d
 u

n
d

e
r so

la
r a

rra
y
s a

n
d

 in
 p

ro
je

ct site
 b

u
ffe

r 

a
re

a
s sh

a
ll b

e
 p

la
n

te
d

 a
n

d
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

 in
 p

e
re

n
n

ia
l v

e
g

e
ta

te
d

 g
ro

u
n

d
 

co
ve

r. 

1
.

T
o

p
 so

ils sh
a

ll n
o

t b
e

 re
m

o
ve

d
 d

u
rin

g
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t, u
n

le
ss p

a
rt o

f 

a
 re

m
e

d
ia

tio
n

 e
ffo

rt. 

2
.

S
o

ils sh
a

ll b
e

 p
la

n
te

d
 a

n
d

 m
a

in
ta

in
e

d
 in

 p
e

re
n

n
ia

l ve
g

e
ta

tio
n

 to
 

p
re

v
e

n
t e

ro
sio

n
, m

a
n

a
g

e
 ru

n
o

ff a
n

d
 b

u
ild

 so
il. 

3
.

S
e

e
d

s sh
o

u
ld

 in
clu

d
e

 a
 m

ix o
f g

ra
sse

s a
n

d
 w

ild
flo

w
e

rs, id
e

a
lly 

n
a

tiv
e

 to
 th

e
 re

g
io

n
 o

f th
e

 p
ro

je
ct site

 th
a

t w
ill re

su
lt in

 a
 sh

o
rt 

sta
tu

re
 p

ra
irie

 w
ith

 a
 d

ive
rsity

 o
f fo

rb
s o

r flo
w

e
rin

g
 p

la
n

ts th
a

t 

b
lo

o
m

 th
ro

u
g

h
o

u
t th

e
 g

ro
w

in
g
 se

a
so

n
. 

4
.

S
e

e
d

 m
ixe

s a
n

d
 m

a
in

te
n

a
n

ce
 p

ra
ctice

s sh
o

u
ld

 b
e

 co
n

siste
n

t w
ith

 

re
co

m
m

e
n

d
a

tio
n

s m
a

d
e

 b
y
 q

u
a

lifie
d

 n
a

tu
ra

l re
so

u
rce

 

p
ro

fe
ssio

n
a

ls su
ch

 a
s th

o
se

 fro
m

 D
e

p
a

rtm
e

n
t o

f N
a

tu
ra

l 

R
e

so
u

rce
s, C

o
u

n
ty

 So
il a

n
d

 W
a

te
r C

o
n

se
rv

a
tio

n
 S

e
rv

ice
 o

r N
a

tu
ra

l 

R
e

so
u

rce
 C

o
n

se
rva

tio
n

 S
e

rvice
. 

 D
e

co
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 S
ite

 R
e

cla
m

a
tio

n
  

a
)

C
o

m
m

e
rcia

l So
la

r E
n

e
rg

y
 S

yste
m

 (C
S

E
S

) 

a
.

A
n

 a
p

p
lica

tio
n

 m
u

st in
clu

d
e

 a
 D

e
co

m
m

issio
n

in
g

 P
la

n
 th

a
t in

clu
d

e
s a

n
ticip

a
te

d
 

life
 o

f th
e

 C
S

E
S

, a
n

ticip
a

te
d

 m
a

n
n

e
r in

 w
h

ich
 th

e
 p

ro
je

ct w
ill b

e
 

d
e

co
m

m
issio

n
e

d
, th

e
 a

n
ticip

a
te

d
 site

 re
sto

ra
tio

n
 a

ctio
n

s, th
e

 e
stim

a
te

d
 

d
e

co
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 co

sts in
 cu

rre
n

t d
o

lla
rs, a

n
d

 th
e

 m
e

th
o

d
 fo

r e
n

su
rin

g
 th

a
t 

fu
n

d
s w

ill b
e

 a
va

ila
b

le
 fo

r d
e

co
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 re
sto

ra
tio

n
. 

83



b
.

A
p

p
lica

n
t sh

a
ll p

ro
v
id

e
 th

e
 b

a
sis fo

r e
stim

a
te

s o
f n

e
t co

sts fo
r d

e
co

m
m

issio
n

in
g

 

th
e

 site
, co

sts le
ss sa

lv
a

g
e

 v
a

lu
e

. T
h

e
 b

a
sis m

u
st in

clu
d

e
 a

 m
e

ch
a

n
ism

 fo
r 

ca
lcu

la
tin

g
 a

d
ju

ste
d

 co
sts o

v
e

r th
e

 life
 o

f th
e

 p
ro

je
ct. 

c.
R

e
sto

ra
tio

n
 o

r re
cla

m
a

tio
n

 a
ctiv

itie
s sh

a
ll in

clu
d

e
, b

u
t n

o
t b

e
 lim

ite
d

 to
: 

i.
R

e
sto

ra
tio

n
 o

f th
e

 p
re

-co
n

stru
ctio

n
 su

rfa
ce

 gra
d

e
 a

n
d

 so
il p

ro
file

 a
fte

r 

re
m

o
v
a

l o
f C

S
E

S
 a

n
d

 a
cce

ss ro
a

d
s. 

ii.
R

e
-ve

g
e

ta
tio

n
 o

f re
sto

re
d

 so
il a

re
a

s w
ith

 cro
p

s, n
a

tiv
e

 se
e

d
 m

ixe
s, p

la
n

t 

sp
e

cie
s su

ita
b

le
 to

 th
e

 a
re

a
, co

n
siste

n
t w

ith
 th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty’s w

e
e

d
 co

n
tro

l 

p
la

n
. 

iii.
F

o
r a

n
y le

a
se

d
 a

re
a

, th
e

 p
la

n
 m

a
y
 in

co
rp

o
ra

te
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

ts w
ith

 th
e

 

la
n

d
o

w
n

e
r re

g
a

rd
in

g
 le

a
v
in

g
 a

cce
ss ro

a
d

s, fe
n

ce
s, g

a
te

s o
r re

p
u

rp
o

se
d

 

b
u

ild
in

g
s in

 p
la

ce
 o

r re
g

a
rd

in
g

 re
sto

ra
tio

n
 o

f a
g

ricu
ltu

ra
l cro

p
s o

r fo
re

st 

re
so

u
rce

 la
n

d
. 

iv
.

A
n

y
 u

se
 o

f re
m

a
in

in
g

 stru
ctu

re
s m

u
st b

e
 in

 co
n

fo
rm

a
n

ce
 w

ith
 th

e
 

re
g

u
la

tio
n

s in
 e

ffe
ct a

t th
a

t tim
e

. 

d
.

F
o

llo
w

in
g

 a
 p

e
rio

d
 o

f o
n

e
 (1

) y
e

a
r w

ith
 n

o
 e

le
ctricity

, o
r if su

b
sta

n
tia

l a
ctio

n
 o

n
 

th
e

 p
ro

je
ct is d

isco
n

tin
u

e
d

 fo
r o

n
e

 (1
) ye

a
r th

e
 p

e
rm

it h
o

ld
e

r w
ill h

a
ve

 o
n

e
 (1

) 

y
e

a
r to

 co
m

p
le

te
 d

e
co

m
m

issio
n

in
g

 o
f th

e
 C

S
E

S
. 

e
.

D
e

co
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 sh

a
ll b

e
 d

o
n

e
 in

 a
cco

rd
a

n
ce

 w
ith

 th
e

 a
p

p
ro

v
e

d
 

D
e

co
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 P

la
n

 a
n

d
 th

e
 la

n
d

 o
w

n
e

r o
r te

n
a

n
t m

u
st n

o
tify

 th
e

 C
o

u
n

ty
 

w
h

e
n

 th
e

 p
ro

je
ct is d

isco
n

tin
u

e
d

. 

  

   

84



E
X

A
M

P
L

E
 S

O
L

A
R

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

85



86



87



U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

 
Page 1 

  
C

H
A

P
T

E
R

 5  U
T

IL
IT

Y
 S

C
A

L
E

 S
O

L
A

R
 E

N
E

R
G

Y
 S

Y
S

T
E

M
S

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 
  

A
dopted M

arch 6, 2023 
 

 
  

T
able of C

ontents 
 

P
age 

 
P

art 1 Introdu
ction

 ................................................................................................3 
5-1 

 
A

uthority ..................................................................................................................3 
5-2 

 
D

efinitions................................................................................................................3 
 

5-3 through 5-9 R
eserved 

 
P

art 2 C
om

m
ercial Solar E

nergy S
ystem

s ..........................................................4 
5-10 

 
G

eneral R
equirem

ents ..............................................................................................4 
10.1    C

oncentrating S
olar P

ow
er (C

SP
) System

s .................................................4 
10.2    Site P

lan .......................................................................................................4 
10.3    Special U

se Perm
it R

equired .......................................................................4 
 

 
10.4    A

dditional Inform
ation ................................................................................5 

10.5    Setbacks. ......................................................................................................5 
10.6    Screening......................................................................................................5 
10.7  

U
tility C

onnections ......................................................................................5 
10.8    G

rading P
lan ................................................................................................5 

10.9    G
lare M

inim
ization ......................................................................................6 

10.10  C
om

pliance w
ith L

ocal, S
tate, and F

ederal G
uidelines ...............................6 

10.11  A
ppurtenant S

tructures ................................................................................6 
10.12  Floodplain C

onsiderations ...........................................................................6 
10.13  Fencing / S

ecurity ........................................................................................6 
10.14  Signage .........................................................................................................6 
10.15  O

peration and M
aintenance Plan .................................................................6 

10.16  Soil E
rosion and Sedim

ent C
ontrol C

onsiderations.....................................6 
10.17  Storm

w
ater M

anagem
ent C

onsiderations ....................................................7 
10.18  G

round C
over and B

uffer A
reas ..................................................................7 

10.19  M
aintenance, repair, or R

eplacem
ent of F

acility .........................................7 
10.20  A

ccess R
equired...........................................................................................7 

  
5-11 

 
Infrastructure P

rotection and R
oad U

se A
greem

ents...............................................8 
5-12 

 
D

ecom
m

issioning and S
ite R

eclam
ation P

lan .........................................................8 
  

5-13 through 5-20 R
eserved 

 

U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy System

s  
 

Page 2 
 

P
art 3   A

m
en

dm
en

ts .............................................................................................9 
5-21 

 
A

m
endm

ents ............................................................................................................9 
  

P
art 4   Severability................................................................................................9 

5-22 
 

Severability ..............................................................................................................9 
  

P
art 5   E

ffective D
ate ............................................................................................9 

5-23 
 

E
ffective D

ate ..........................................................................................................9 
 

P
art 6   C

on
flict w

ith
 P

rovisions ...........................................................................9 
5-24 

 
C

onflict w
ith Provisions ..........................................................................................9 

  

88



U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

Page 3 
   

 
 

P
A

R
T

 1 
 

IN
T

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

 
 

5-1 
A

U
T

H
O

R
IT

Y
   T

he 
requirem

ents of 
this O

rdinance shall 
apply 

to all 
C

om
m

ercial S
olar 

E
nergy S

ystem
s proposed after the effective date of this 

O
rdinance. C

om
m

ercial Solar E
nergy S

ystem
s for w

hich a required D
ubuque 

C
ounty perm

it has been properly issued prior to the effective date of this 
O

rdinance shall not be required to m
eet the requirem

ents of this O
rdinance; 

provided, 
that any such 

pre-existing C
om

m
ercial 

Solar 
E

nergy 
S

ystem
, 

w
hich does not provide energy for a continuous period of tw

elve (12) m
onths, 

shall 
m

eet 
the 

requirem
ents 

of 
this 

O
rdinance 

prior 
to 

recom
m

encing 
production 

of energy. 
A

lso, no m
odification 

or alteration to 
an existing 

C
om

m
ercial S

olar E
nergy System

 shall be allow
ed w

ithout full com
pliance 

w
ith this O

rdinance. 
 5-2 

 
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

S
   For use in this O

rdinance, the follow
ing term

s or w
ords shall 

be interpreted or defined as follow
s:  

  5-2.1 
 C

oncen
trating Solar P

ow
er  A

 system
 that generates solar pow

er by using 
m

irrors or lenses to concentrate a large area of sunlight onto a receiver. 
 5-2.2 

E
asem

ent or L
ease  A

 legal agreem
ent for the use of property for a specified 

purpose. 
 5-2.3 

 
F

eeder C
ircu

its/L
in

es  A
 pow

er line or netw
ork of lines used as a collection 

system
 

that 
carries 

energy 
produced 

by 
a 

solar 
energy 

system
 

to 
an 

interconnection point like a substation.  F
eeder circuits are m

ost often placed 
underground. 

 5-2.4 
 
Intercon

n
ection

 L
ink betw

een a generator of electricity and the electrical 
grid. 

 5-2.5 
 
M

od
u

le  A
n individual unit com

posed of m
ultiple photovoltaic (PV

) cells, 
w

ith m
ultiple m

odules used in a solar energy system
. 

 5-2.6 
 
M

ou
nting

 T
he m

ethod of anchoring solar energy system
 m

odules to the 
ground or a building. 

 5-2.7 
 
N

on-P
articipatin

g L
an

dow
n

er  A
ny landow

ner that has not signed a lease 
agreem

ent for an easem
ent or lease w

ith the project ow
ner or developer, often 

adjacent to or near the project. 
 5-2.8 

 
 O

p
erator  T

he entity or individual that operates a solar energy system
. 

U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

Page 4 
 

5-2.9 
 




 T

he entity or individual that has ow
nership over a solar energy 

system
. 

 5-2.10  







 A

 subsidiary station of electricity generation, transm
ission, and 

distribution system
 w

here voltage is transform
ed from

 high to low
 or the reverse 

using transform
ers. 

 5-2.11  








 T

he height of a solar energy system
, usually referring to 

ground m
ounted system

s.  T
otal system

 height is the m
easurem

ent from
 the 

ground to the top of the m
ounting or m

odules associated w
ith a system

. 
 5-2.12  











 P

ow
er lines used to carry electricity from

 collection 
system

s or substations over long distances. 
 5-2.13  















 A
 system

 that converts energy from
 sunlight into 

electricity or an additional energy source such as heat. 
 5-2.14  















 






 
A

 
solar 

energy 
system

 
of 

interconnected solar panels/arrays that convert sunlight into electricity for the 
prim

ary purpose of w
holesale or retail sale, or retail sale, or purchase pow

er 
arrangem

ents of generated electricity. 
 5-2.15   

"S
olar E

n
ergy S

ystem
  





 A

 solar energy system
 of interconnected 

solar panels/arrays that convert sunlight into electricity for the prim
ary purpose 

of m
eting the electrical dem

ands at the location.  T
hese system

s are typically 
intended to offset electricity usage for the ow

ner and are not intended to be net 
annual generators of electricity.  C

onsum
er solar energy system

s m
ay be 

installed at residential, business, agricultural, or public properties.  
 

 
5-3 th

rough 5-9 R
eserved

 
   

P
A

R
T

 2 
 

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
 S

O
L

A
R

 E
N

E
R

G
Y

 SY
ST

E
M

S
 

 
5-10 

 
G

E
N

E
R

A
L

 R
E

Q
U

IR
E

M
E

N
T

S
 

 
5-10.1   

C
oncen

trating 
S

olar 
P

ow
er 

(C
S

P
) 

System
s. 

C
oncentrating 

Solar 
Pow

er 
System

s are not a perm
itted use under this ordinance. 

 
 

5-10.2  
S

ite P
lan. A

 site plan shall be subm
itted and review

ed prior to approval of a 
C

om
m

ercial Solar E
nergy System

. 
 

5-10.3 
Sp

ecial U
se P

erm
it R

eq
u

ired
. A

 C
om

m
ercial S

olar E
nergy System

 is a 

89



U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

Page 5 
 

S
pecial Perm

itted U
se in the A

-1, A
gricultural D

istrict and a perm
itted use in 

the M
-1, L

ight Industrial and M
-2, H

eavy Industrial D
istricts. 

 
5-10.4 

A
dd

ition
al Inform

ation. In addition to all subm
ittal requirem

ents of a site 
plan and S

pecial U
se P

erm
it application (w

here required), the application for a 
com

m
ercial solar installation shall include the follow

ing inform
ation on the 

site plan or in narrative form
, supplied by com

m
ercial solar energy system

 
ow

ner, operator or contractor installing the structures: 
 

A
.  

N
um

ber, location and spacing of solar panels/arrays 
 

B
.  

P
lanned location of underground or overhead electric lines 

C
. 

Project developm
ent tim

eline w
hich indicated how

 the applicant w
ill 

inform
 adjacent property ow

ners, persons in possession (tenants) and 
interested stakeholders in the com

m
unity. 

D
. 

Interconnection plan. 
E

. 
D

ecom
m

issioning plan. 
F.  

Site and structure requirem
ents. 

 For projects 25M
W

 or larger, the A
pplication of C

ertificate, required by the 
Iow

a U
tilities B

oard, w
ill be considered acceptable to m

eet the above 
additional requirem

ents.  In cases w
here a Special U

se P
erm

it is required, the 
current application to the B

oard of A
djustm

ent shall still be required. 
 

5-10.5 
S

etback
s. Setbacks for all structures (including solar arrays) shall be the sam

e 
as w

hat is required for residences in the A
-1 A

gricultural D
istrict unless the 

B
oard of A

djustm
ent finds that less is w

arranted.   A
ll structures shall observe 

listed setbacks in the M
-1 and M

-2 D
istricts.  N

o setbacks are required w
here a 

property line is shared by tw
o participating landow

ners.  M
andated setback 

distances m
ay be w

aived w
ith the consent of participating landow

ners and 
adjacent property ow

ners.  
 

 
5-10.6  

Screen
in

g.  A
 landscape buffer m

ay be required to be installed and m
aintained 

during 
the 

life 
of 

the 
operation 

if 
a 

S
pecial 

U
se 

P
erm

it 
is 

required.  
D

eterm
ination 

of 
screening 

requirem
ents 

w
ill 

be 
m

ade 
by 

the 
B

oard 
of 

A
djustm

ent as part of the review
 and approval process and w

ill be based on 
adjacent or nearby surrounding land uses and topography. 

  
5-10.7  

U
tility C

on
n

ection
s.  R

easonable efforts shall be m
ade to place all connections 

w
ithin the solar installation underground or above ground no higher than the 

surrounding 
solar 

panel 
array. 

 
A

ll 
com

ponents 
used 

for 
the 

collection, 
conversion, and storage of energy shall be contained w

ithin the leased and 
fenced project area, excluding overhead and underground transm

ission lines.  
 

5-10.8 
G

rad
in

g P
lan

.  A
 grading plan shall be subm

itted and shall include all 
proposed changes to the landscape of the site (e.g., clearing, grading, 
topographic changes, tree rem

oval, etc.) 

U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

Page 6 
 

 5-10.9 
G

lare M
in

im
ization

.  A
ll solar panels shall be constructed to m

inim
ize glare 

or reflection onto adjacent properties and adjacent roadw
ays and m

ust not 
interfere w

ith traffic, including air traffic, or create a safety hazard. 
 5-10.10 

C
om

plian
ce. C

om
m

ercial solar installations shall com
ply w

ith applicable 
local, state, and federal regulations.   

 5-10.11 
A

pp
u

rten
an

t Stru
ctures.  A

ll appurtenant structures shall be subject to bulk 
and height regulations of structures in the applicable zoning district except 
w

here otherw
ise approved.   

 5-10.12 
F

lood
plain C

on
sid

erations.  C
om

m
ercial solar installations are considered to 

be m
axim

um
 dam

age potential structures and facilities for purposes of 
floodplain district regulations.  C

om
m

ercial solar installations are discouraged 
w

ithin 1%
 Special F

lood H
azard A

rea (100-year floodplain) but m
ay be 

allow
ed subject to provisions of the D

ubuque C
ounty Floodplain M

anagem
ent 

O
rdinance.  

 5-10.13 
F

en
cin

g / Secu
rity.  A

 N
E

S
C

 (N
ational E

lectrical Safety C
ode) com

pliant 
security fence m

ust be installed along all exterior sides of the com
m

ercial solar 
energy system

 and be equipped w
ith a m

inim
um

 of one gate and locking 
m

echanism
 on the prim

ary access side.  Security fences, gates, and w
arning 

signs m
ust be m

aintained in good condition until the com
m

ercial solar 
installation is dism

antled and rem
oved from

 the site.  
 5-10.14 

Signage.  S
ignage w

ith the follow
ing inform

ation shall be m
aintained at all 

locked entrance locations: 
A

. 























 

B
. 

N
am

e(s) and phone num
ber(s) for the electric utility provider; 

C
. 

N
am

e(s) and phone num
ber(s) for the site operator; 

D
. T

he facilities 911 address, G
PS

 coordinates; and 
E

. 
A

 lockbox w
ith keys as needed. 

 5-10.15 
O

p
eration

 and
 M

aintenan
ce P

lan
.  T

he applicant shall subm
it a plan for the 

operation and m
aintenance of the solar installation, w

hich shall include 
m

easures for m
aintaining safe access to the installation, storm

w
ater, and 

erosion controls, as w
ell as general procedures for operation and m

aintenance 
of the installation. 

 5-10.16 
Soil E

rosion
 an

d Sedim
en

t C
on

trol C
onsid

erations.  T
he applicant agrees 

to conduct all roadw
ork and other site developm

ent w
ork in com

pliance w
ith 

a national pollutant discharge elim
ination system

 (N
PD

E
S) perm

it as required 
by the state departm

ent of natural resources and com
ply w

ith requirem
ents 

90



U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

Page 7 
 

as detailed by local jurisdictional authorities during the plan subm
ittal. 

subject to N
P

D
E

S
 requirem

ents, the applicant m
ust subm

it the perm
it for 

review
 and com

m
ent and an erosion and sedim

ent control plan before 
beginning construction. T

he plan m
ust include both general "best 

m
anagem

ent practices" for tem
porary erosion and sedim

ent control both 
during and after construction and perm

anent drainage and erosion control 
m

easures to prevent dam
age to local roads or adjacent areas and to prevent 

sedim
ent laden run-off into w

aterw
ays. 

 5-10.17 
S

torm
w

ater M
anagem

en
t C

onsiderations.  For the purposes of pollutant 
rem

oval, 
storm

w
ater 

rate 
and 

runoff 
m

anagem
ent, 

flood 
reduction 

and 
associated im

pacts, the applicant m
ust m

eet and be in com
pliance w

ith the 
D

ubuque C
ounty E

rosion and S
edim

ent C
ontrol and Storm

w
ater O

rdinance. 
T

his 
requirem

ent 
m

ay 
be 

m
et 

by 
providing 

a copy of the 
applicant's 

S
torm

w
ater P

ollution P
revention P

lan prior to the start of construction. 
 5-10.18 

G
rou

nd
 C

over an
d B

u
ffer A

reas.  G
round around and under solar arrays and 

in project site buffer areas shall be planted and m
aintained in perennial 

vegetated ground cover, and m
eet the follow

ing standards: 
A

. T
op soil shall not be perm

anently rem
oved during developm

ent, unless part 
of the rem

ediation effort. 
B

. 
S

oils shall be planted and m
aintained in short stature perennial vegetation 

capable of enhancing soil health and supporting pollinators. B
loom

ing 
shrubs m

ay be used in buffer areas as appropriate for visual screening. 
C

. 
S

eed m
ixes and m

aintenance practices should be consistent w
ith 

recom
m

endations m
ade by qualified natural resource professionals such 

as those from
 the D

epartm
ent of N

atural R
esources, C

ounty S
oil and 

W
ater C

onservation S
ervice or N

atural R
esource C

onservation Service. 
D

. L
andow

ner, farm
er, tenant and adjoining landow

ner notification   m
ust be 

conducted per the term
s of an easem

ent or land use agreem
ent, or as 

otherw
ise required by the specific C

andidate C
onservation A

greem
ent or 

H
abitat C

onservation Plan under the E
ndangered S

pecies A
ct. 

 5-10.19 
M

ain
tenan

ce, R
ep

air, or R
eplacem

ent of F
acility.  M

aintenance shall 
include, but not be lim

ited to, painting, structural repairs, and integrity of 
security m

easures. S
ite access shall be m

aintained to a level acceptable to 
em

ergency response officials. A
ny retrofit, replacem

ent or refurbishm
ent of 

equipm
ent shall adhere to all applicable local, state and federal 

requirem
ents. 

 5-10.20  
A

ccess R
eq

uired
.  T

he Z
oning/B

uilding O
fficial and any other necessary 

personnel m
ay enter the property w

ith guided access from
 the project ow

ner 
or their representative for w

hich a Special U
se P

e
rm

it or B
uilding P

erm
it 

has been issued under this ordinance to conduct an inspection to determ
ine 

w
hether the conditions stated in the perm

it have been m
et as specified by 

U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

Page 8 
 

statute, ordinance, or code. F
ailure to provide access shall be deem

ed a 
violation of this ordinance. 

 
5-11 

IN
F

R
A

S
T

R
U

C
T

U
R

E
 

P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
 

A
N

D
 

R
O

A
D

 
U

SE
 

A
G

R
E

E
M

E
N

T
S. A

 pre-construction plan w
ill be developed betw

een 
the 

system
 

ow
ner, operator or 

contractor and 
D

ubuque C
ounty 

that addresses 
potential 

im
pacts 

to 
roads 

and 
other 

infrastructure 
from

 
solar 

project 
construction as w

ell as 
post construction review

 to identify 
im

pacts and 
provide for repairs, prior to issuance of the building perm

it. A
ll routes on 

C
ounty roads 

that 
w

ill 
be 

used 
for 

the 
construction 

and 
m

aintenance 
purposes shall be identified on the site plan. A

ll routes for either ingress or 
egress shall be show

n. 
Prior to issuance of a building perm

it, the developer 
m

ust com
plete 

and provide 
a pre-construction 

baseline survey/assessm
ent 

to determ
ine existing road conditions for assessing potential future dam

age 
due to developm

ental-related 
traffic. Prior to the issuance of the building 

perm
it, the developer shall provide a road repair plan to am

eliorate any and 
all dam

age, installation, or replacem
ent of roads that m

ight be required by the 
developer. P

rior to the issuance of the building perm
it, the developer shall 

provide a letter of credit or surety bond in an am
ount and form

 approved by 
the appropriate road authority (s) w

hen w
arranted. T

he provisions 
of this 

section shall be subject to approval by the D
u

b
u

q
u

e C
ounty E

ngineer. 
 5-12 

D
E

C
O

M
M

IS
S

IO
N

IN
G

 
A

N
D

 
S

IT
E

 
R

E
C

L
A

M
A

T
IO

N
 

P
L

A
N

. 
 

T
he 

application 
m

ust 
include 

a 
decom

m
issioning 

plan 
that 

describes 
the 

anticipated life of the com
m

ercial solar installation; the anticipated m
anner 

in w
hich the project w

ill be decom
m

issioned; the anticipated site restoration 
actions; the estim

ated decom
m

issioning costs in current dollars; and 
the 

m
ethod for 

ensuring 
that funds w

ill 
be available 

for decom
m

issioning and 
restoration.  

 
T

he 
applicant 

shall 
provide 

the 
basis 

for 
estim

ates 
of 

net 
costs 

for 
decom

m
issioning the site (decom

m
issioning costs less salvage value). T

he 
cost basis shall include a m

echanism
 for calculating adjusted costs over the 

life of the project. T
he cost of the decom

m
issioning and site reclam

ation plan 
w

ill be the responsibility of the com
pany w

ho ow
ns the equipm

ent and/or 
applies for or receives the perm

it. 
 

For 
any 

part of 
the energy 

project on 
leased 

property, the 
plan m

ay 
incorporate agreem

ents w
ith the landow

ner regarding leaving access roads, 
fences, gates or repurposed buildings 

in place or regarding restoration of 
agricultural crops or forest resource land. A

ny use of rem
aining structures 

m
ust be in conform

ance w
ith the regulations in effect at the tim

e. 
 

A
fter the com

m
ercial solar installation is in service, follow

ing a continuous 

91



U
tility Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

Page 9 
 

one-year period in w
hich no electricity is generated, or if substantial action 

on the project is discontinued for a period of one year, the perm
it holder w

ill 
have 

one 
year 

to 
com

plete 
decom

m
issioning 

of 
the 

com
m

ercial 
solar 

installation. 
 

D
ecom

m
issioning shall 

be 
com

pleted 
in 

accordance 
w

ith 
the 

approved 
decom

m
issioning plan. T

he ow
ner or operator of the system

 m
ust notify the 

C
ounty w

hen the project is discontinued. 
  

5-13 th
rough

 5-20 R
eserved

 
 

P
A

R
T

 3 
A

M
E

N
D

M
E

N
T

S
 

 
5-21 

A
M

E
N

D
M

E
N

T
S

.  T
he D

ubuque 
C

ounty C
ode of O

rdinances, T
itle III      

Property/L
and 

U
se 

and 
D

evelopm
ent, 

C
hapter 

II 
Z

oning 
O

rdinance 
is 

am
ended by adoption of the follow

ing new
 subsections: 

  
A

rticle III, Section 3: 3.31 C
om

m
ercial S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

  
A

rticle X
, S

ection 2 : 2.8 C
om

m
ercial Solar E

nergy System
s 

  
P

A
R

T
 4 

SE
V

E
R

A
B

IL
IT

Y
 

 
5-22

 
 

S
E

V
E

R
A

B
IL

IT
Y

.  
any section, provision, or part of this ordinance shall 

be adjudged invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall not affect 
the validity of the regulations as a w

hole or any section, provision, or part 
thereof not adjudged invalid or unconstitutional. 

  
P

A
R

T
 5 

E
F

F
E

C
T

IV
E

 D
A

T
E

 
 

5-22
 

 
E

F
F

E
C

T
IV

E
 D

A
T

E
.  T

his ordinance shall take effect upon its publication as 
required by law

. 
  

P
A

R
T

 6 
C

O
N

F
L

IC
T

 W
IT

H
 P

R
O

V
ISIO

N
S

 
 

5-22
 

 
C

O
N

F
L

IC
T

 W
IT

H
 P

R
O

V
ISIO

N
S

.  A
ll ordinances or parts of ordinances in 

conflict w
ith the provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed.  

92



93



94



95



96



E
X

A
M

P
L

E
 S

O
L

A
R

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

L
O

U
IS

A
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 IO

W
A

97



98



99



100



101



S
ec

tio
n

 2
7
.1

2
:  S

o
la

r
 E

n
e
rg

y
 S

y
ste

m
s 

 

2
7
.1

2
.1

     S
ta

tem
en

t o
f In

ten
t 

T
h
e p

u
rp

o
se o

f th
is S

ectio
n

 is to
 facilitate th

e co
n

stru
ctio

n
, in

stallatio
n
, an

d
 o

p
eratio

n
 

o
f S

o
lar E

n
erg

y
 S

y
stem

s (S
E

S
) in

 M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

, in
 a m

an
n
er th

at p
ro

m
o

tes eco
n
o

m
ic 

d
ev

elo
p
m

en
t, p

ro
tects p

ro
p

erty
 v

alu
es, an

d
 en

su
res th

e p
ro

tectio
n
 o

f h
ealth

, safety
, 

an
d
 w

elfare w
h

ile also
 av

o
id

in
g

 ad
v
erse im

p
acts to

 im
p

o
rtan

t areas su
ch

 as 

ag
ricu

ltu
ral lan

d
s, co

n
serv

atio
n
 lan

d
s, an

d
 o

th
er sen

sitiv
e lan

d
s.   

If th
is S

ectio
n

 2
7
.1

2
 co

n
flicts w

ith
 an

y
 o

th
er p

ro
v
isio

n
 o

f th
e M

ills C
o
u
n

ty
 Z

o
n
in

g
 

O
rd

in
an

ce, th
is S

ectio
n

 2
7
.1

2
 sh

all co
n
tro

l.  

2
7
.1

2
.2

     D
e
fin

itio
n

s 

A
.  P

e
rso

n
a
l S

o
la

r E
n

erg
y

 S
y

stem
:  A

 S
o
lar E

n
erg

y
 S

y
stem

 th
at g

en
erates electricity

 

fro
m

 so
lar en

erg
y
 p

rim
arily

 fo
r u

se o
n
 th

e sam
e site o

r th
e sam

e lan
d

 u
se w

ith
 w

h
ich

 

th
e sy

stem
 is p

h
y

sically
 asso

ciated
.  

B
. 

S
o
la

r E
n

e
rg

y
 S

y
ste

m
s, U

tility
 S

ca
le

:  A
 S

o
lar E

n
erg

y
 S

y
stem

 th
at g

en
erates 

electricity
 fro

m
 so

lar en
erg

y
 p

rim
arily

 fo
r sale to

 an
 electric u

tility
 o

r o
th

er th
ird

-p
arty

 

co
m

m
ercial o

r in
d
u

strial u
ser.  

2
7
.1

2
.3

     P
erso

n
a
l S

o
la

r E
n

er
g
y
 S

y
stem

 (P
S

E
S

) 

A
.

P
u

rp
o

se a
n

d
 In

te
n

t 

T
h
ese reg

u
latio

n
s p

ro
v

id
e u

n
ifo

rm
 an

d
 co

m
p
reh

en
siv

e stan
d
ard

s fo
r th

e in
stallatio

n
 

an
d
 th

e u
se o

f P
S

E
S

 fo
r o

n
-site h

o
m

e, farm
 an

d
 sm

all co
m

m
ercial u

se th
at are u

sed
 

p
rim

arily
 to

 red
u

ce o
n

-site co
n
su

m
p

tio
n

 o
f u

tility
 p

o
w

er.  T
h
e in

ten
t o

f th
ese 

reg
u
latio

n
s is to

 p
ro

tect th
e p

u
b
lic h

ealth
, safety

 an
d
 co

m
m

u
n

ity
 w

elfare w
ith

o
u
t 

u
n
d

u
ly

 restrictin
g
 th

e d
ev

elo
p
m

en
t o

f P
S

E
S

.  

 B
.

A
c
cesso

r
y
 U

se
 

P
S

E
S

 sh
all b

e co
n

sid
ered

 an
 accesso

ry
 u

se to
 a p

rin
cip

al p
erm

itted
 u

se o
r an

 

ap
p
ro

v
ed

 co
n

d
itio

n
al u

se in
 an

y
 zo

n
in

g
 d

istrict.  

 C
.

S
p

e
cia

l R
eq

u
ire

m
en

ts 

P
S

E
S

 sh
all b

e su
b

ject to
 th

e req
u

irem
en

ts in
clu

d
ed

 in
 th

is S
ectio

n
: 

 

(1
)

G
ro

u
n
d
 M

o
u
n
ted

 P
S

E
S

 h
eig

h
t. S

h
all n

o
t b

e g
reater th

at fifteen
 (1

5
) feet at 

m
ax

im
u
m

 tilt o
f th

e so
lar p

an
el(s) in

 an
y
 zo

n
in

g
 d

istrict.  

 

(2
)

S
tru

ctu
re M

o
u
n
ted

 P
S

E
S

 h
eig

h
t.  S

h
all n

o
t b

e g
reater th

an
 th

e allo
w

ab
le 

h
eig

h
t o

f an
y
 stru

ctu
re w

ith
in

 th
e zo

n
in

g
 d

istrict in
 w

h
ich

 th
e P

S
E

S
 is to

 b
e 

in
stalled

.  

 (3
)

S
etb

ack
s.

T
h
e g

ro
u
n
d
 m

o
u
n
ted

 P
S

E
S

 sh
all fo

llo
w

 a
ll se

tb
ack

 req
u
irem

en
ts fo

r th
e 

Z
o
n
in

g
 D

istrict in
 w

h
ich

 th
e P

S
E

S
 is lo

cated
.   

 (4
)

B
u

ild
in

g
 C

o
d
es.  A

ll co
u
n

ty
, state an

d
 n

atio
n
al co

n
stru

ctio
n
 co

d
es sh

all b
e 

fo
llo

w
ed

.   

 (5
)

U
se.  T

h
e P

S
E

S
 sh

all p
ro

v
id

e electricity
 fo

r o
n

-site u
se b

y
 th

e o
w

n
er.  T

h
is 

d
o

es n
o
t p

ro
h
ib

it an
 o

w
n
er fro

m
 m

ak
in

g
 ex

cess p
o
w

er av
ailab

le fo
r n

et 

m
eterin

g
.   

 (6
)

A
p

p
ro

v
ed

 S
o
lar C

o
m

p
o
n

en
ts.  P

S
E

S
 co

m
p

o
n

en
ts m

u
st h

av
e an

 U
n

d
erw

riters 

L
ab

o
rato

ry
 (U

L
) listin

g
 o

r ap
p
ro

v
ed

 eq
u
iv

alen
t.  

 

D
.

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

er
m

it 

B
efo

re a b
u

ild
in

g
 p

erm
it is issu

ed
, th

e fo
llo

w
in

g
 sh

all b
e su

b
m

itted
 to

 th
e M

ills 

C
o
u

n
ty

 Z
o

n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r fo
r rev

iew
. 

 

(1
)

S
ite P

lan
 S

h
o
w

in
g

: 

a.
A

d
d
ress, em

ail ad
d

ress, a
n
d
 p

h
o

n
e n

u
m

b
er o

f th
e p

ro
p
erty

 o
w

n
er; 

b
.

P
arcel lin

es; 

c.
A

ll ex
istin

g
 stru

ctu
res w

ith
 h

eig
h

ts clearly
 m

ark
ed

; 

d
.

S
an

itary
 in

frastru
ctu

re (i.e. sep
tic field

); 

e.
S

etb
ack

 m
easu

rem
en

ts; 

f.
E

asem
en

ts p
resen

t o
n

 th
e p

ro
p
erty

, in
clu

d
in

g
 th

o
se fo

r u
tilities; 

g
.

S
ep

tic field
 tile lo

catio
n
; 

h
.

F
lo

o
d

p
lain

 lo
catio

n
, if ap

p
licab

le; 

i.
P

ro
p
o

sed
 L

o
catio

n
 o

f all so
lar p

an
els an

d
 asso

ciated
 eq

u
ip

m
en

t; an
d
 

j.
P

ro
p
o

sed
 L

o
catio

n
 o

f th
e electrical d

isco
n

n
ect fo

r th
e P

S
E

S
. 

 

(2
)

E
v

id
en

ce th
at th

e lo
cal electric u

tility
 h

as b
een

 in
fo

rm
ed

 o
f th

e cu
sto

m
er’s 

in
ten

t to
 in

stall a cu
sto

m
er-o

w
n
ed

 so
lar en

erg
y
 sy

stem
. 

 (3
)

E
v

id
en

ce th
at th

e site p
lan

 h
as b

een
 su

b
m

itted
 to

 th
e lo

cal fire p
ro

tectio
n

 

d
istrict. 

 

(4
)

E
v

id
en

ce th
at all co

n
tact in

fo
rm

atio
n

 fo
r site h

as b
een

 p
ro

v
id

ed
 to

 M
ills 

C
o

u
n
ty

 E
m

erg
en

cy
 M

an
ag

em
en

t an
d
 9

1
1

 serv
ice d

ep
artm

en
ts.  

 

102



(5
)

A
fter a rev

iew
 an

d
 accep

tan
ce o

f site p
lan

 an
d
 req

u
ired

 in
fo

rm
atio

n
, a letter 

au
th

o
rizin

g
 co

n
stru

ctio
n
 sh

all b
e issu

ed
.  

 

2
7
.1

2
.4

  S
o

la
r E

n
e
rg

y
 S

y
ste

m
s, U

tility
 S

c
a
le

 

A
.   

P
u

rp
o

se a
n

d
 In

ten
t 

T
h

ese reg
u

latio
n
s p

ro
v

id
e u

n
ifo

rm
 an

d
 co

m
p
reh

en
siv

e stan
d

ard
s fo

r th
e 

in
stallatio

n
 an

d
 u

se o
f S

o
lar E

n
erg

y
 S

y
stem

s, U
tility

 S
cale (S

E
S

U
S

).  S
E

S
U

S
 

m
ay

 in
clu

d
e so

lar p
an

els, so
lar su

p
p

o
rt stru

ctu
re, in

v
erter/tran

sfo
rm

ers, en
erg

y
 

sto
rag

e tech
n
o
lo

g
ies, w

irin
g

, an
d
 o

th
er eq

u
ip

m
en

t n
ecessary

 fo
r th

e g
en

eratio
n

, 

sto
rag

e an
d

 d
eliv

ery
 o

f electricity
.  T

h
e in

ten
t o

f th
ese reg

u
latio

n
s is to

 p
ro

tect th
e 

p
u
b

lic h
ealth

, safety
, an

d
 co

m
m

u
n

ity
 w

elfare w
h
ile allo

w
in

g
 d

ev
elo

p
m

en
t o

f 

u
tility

-scale so
lar en

erg
y
 reso

u
rces fo

r u
tility

, co
m

m
ercial an

d
 in

d
u
strial p

u
rp

o
ses.  

B
. 

C
o

n
d

itio
n

a
l U

se P
erm

it (C
U

P
) 

S
E

S
U

S
 sh

all req
u

ire a C
o
n

d
itio

n
al U

se P
erm

it w
ith

in
 th

e “A
G

” A
g

ricu
ltu

ral 

Z
o

n
in

g
 D

istrict, th
e “A

R
” A

g
ricu

ltu
ral/R

esid
en

tia
l Z

o
n
in

g
 D

istrict, “I” In
d

u
strial 

Z
o

n
in

g
 D

istrict.  T
h
is u

se is p
ro

h
ib

ited
 in

 all o
th

er Z
o
n

in
g

 D
istricts in

 M
ills 

C
o
u
n
ty

.  T
h
is u

se sh
all b

e su
b
ject to

 th
e p

ro
ced

u
res an

d
 stan

d
ard

s in
clu

d
ed

 in
 th

e 

M
ills C

o
u
n

ty
 Z

o
n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce u

n
less o

th
erw

ise stated
 in

 S
ectio

n
 1

2
.  

C
o
n
cen

tratin
g
 so

lar p
o

w
er sy

stem
s are p

ro
h
ib

ited
.  

C
. 

S
p

e
cia

l R
eq

u
ire

m
en

ts 

 
S

E
S

U
S

 are su
b
ject to

 th
e fo

llo
w

in
g
 req

u
irem

en
ts: 

(1
)

H
eig

h
t. A

 so
lar p

an
el sh

all b
e n

o
 less th

an
 tw

o
 (2

) feet (T
w

en
ty

-F
o

u
r 

in
ch

es) o
ff th

e g
ro

u
n
d

.  A
 so

lar p
an

el sh
all n

o
t ex

ceed
 tw

en
ty

 (2
0
) feet in

 

h
eig

h
t ab

o
v
e g

rad
e at m

ax
im

u
m

 tilt o
f th

e so
lar p

an
el(s).  

 (2
)

S
etb

ack
s.  T

h
e fro

n
t y

ard
 setb

ack
s sh

all b
e a m

in
im

u
m

 o
f fifty

 (5
0
) feet 

fro
m

 th
e ed

g
e o

f th
e rig

h
t-o

f-w
ay

 to
 th

e clo
sest so

lar p
an

el o
f a S

E
S

U
S

 

p
ro

ject an
d
 th

ree h
u
n
d

red
 (3

0
0
) feet fro

m
 a resid

e
n
ce th

at is n
o

t a p
art o

f 

th
e S

E
S

U
S

 area.  If a S
E

S
U

S
 is to

 b
e b

u
ilt o

n
 m

o
re th

an
 o

n
e p

arcel an
d

 

th
e p

arcels are ab
u

ttin
g
, a zero

 (0
) fo

o
t sid

e o
r re

ar setb
ack

 sh
all b

e 

p
erm

itted
 to

 th
e p

ro
p
erty

 lin
e in

 co
m

m
o

n
 w

ith
 th

e ab
u

ttin
g
 p

articip
atin

g
 

p
arcel(s). 

 (3
)

S
u

b
m

ittal R
eq

u
irem

en
ts.  T

h
e ap

p
lican

t sh
all su

b
m

it all m
aterials 

co
n
tain

ed
 in

 th
is su

b
sectio

n
 at th

e tim
e o

f th
e ap

p
licatio

n
 fo

r a C
o

n
d
itio

n
al 

U
se P

erm
it.   

 (4
)

P
erm

ittin
g

 P
ro

cess.  T
h

e ap
p
lican

t sh
all g

o
 th

ro
u
g

h
 th

e fo
llo

w
in

g
 p

ro
cess 

fo
r C

o
n
d

itio
n

al U
se P

erm
it A

p
p
ro

v
al.  

 

 

a.
A

p
p
lican

t sh
all m

eet w
ith

 th
e Z

o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r an
d

 su
b
m

it all 

req
u

ired
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts.  

 b
.

Z
o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r w
ill su

b
m

it all d
o
cu

m
en

ts to
 th

e M
ills 

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

ep
artm

en
t A

p
p

ro
v
al C

o
m

m
ittee.  C

o
m

m
ittee sh

all co
n
sist 

o
f M

ills C
o
u
n

ty
 B

o
ard

 o
f S

u
p

erv
iso

rs an
d
 th

e Z
o

n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r alo
n

g
 w

ith
 th

e d
ep

artm
en

t h
ead

 o
r th

e d
esig

n
ated

 

em
p
lo

y
ee fro

m
 th

e fo
llo

w
in

g
 d

ep
artm

en
ts: M

ills C
o
u

n
ty

 

C
o

n
serv

atio
n
, M

ills C
o

u
n

ty
 E

n
g

in
eer/S

eco
n
d

ary
 R

o
ad

s, M
ills 

C
o

u
n

ty
 E

m
erg

en
cy

 M
an

ag
em

en
t, M

ills C
o

u
n
ty

 9
1
1
.  A

ll id
en

tified
 

d
ep

artm
en

ts m
u
st ap

p
ro

v
e w

ith
 sig

n
atu

re th
at all req

u
irem

en
ts 

p
ertain

in
g
 to

 th
at d

ep
artm

en
t are m

et p
rio

r to
 m

o
v

in
g

 o
n

 in
 th

e 

p
ro

cess.  

 c.
C

o
n
d

itio
n

al U
se P

erm
it A

p
p

licatio
n

 w
ill b

e p
resen

ted
 to

 th
e M

ills 

C
o

u
n

ty
 Z

o
n
in

g
 B

o
ard

 o
f A

d
ju

stm
en

t fo
r a p

u
b
lic h

earin
g
 an

d
 

d
ecisio

n
 o

n
 th

e C
o

n
d
itio

n
al U

se P
erm

it. 

 d
.

M
ills C

o
u

n
ty

 B
o

ard
 o

f S
u

p
erv

iso
rs sh

all co
n
sid

er a 

d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 p

lan
, d

eco
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 ag

reem
en

t (in
clu

d
in

g
 

fin
an

cial se
cu

rity
), P

u
b
lic R

o
ad

s D
am

ag
e A

v
o
id

an
ce an

d
 

M
itig

atio
n
 P

lan
 an

d
 related

 ag
reem

en
t.  T

h
e S

E
S

U
S

 m
ay

 n
o

t 

p
ro

ceed
 to

 co
n

stru
ctio

n
 u

n
til th

e B
o
ard

 o
f S

u
p
erv

iso
rs h

as 

ap
p
ro

v
ed

 th
ese p

lan
s an

d
 th

e C
h

airp
erso

n
 an

d
 th

e ap
p
lican

t h
av

e 

ex
ecu

ted
 th

ese ag
reem

en
ts.    

 e.
T

h
e u

se(s) o
u

tlin
ed

 in
 th

e
 ap

p
licatio

n
 sh

all b
e estab

lish
ed

 in
 

acco
rd

an
ce w

ith
 th

e d
raft p

lan
s co

n
sid

ered
 b

y
 th

e Z
o
n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r w
ith

in
 fiv

e (5
) y

ears o
f ap

p
ro

v
al.  “C

o
m

m
en

cin
g

 

C
o

n
stru

ctio
n
” is d

eterm
in

ed
 b

y
 d

istu
rb

an
ce o

f so
il at p

ro
ject site, 

th
at is n

o
t p

art o
f a p

rim
ary

 farm
in

g
 o

p
eratio

n
.  A

n
y
 p

o
rtio

n
 o

f th
e 

d
ev

elo
p

m
en

t p
lan

 n
o

t co
m

p
leted

 w
ith

in
 fiv

e (5
) y

ears o
f ap

p
ro

v
al 

b
y

 th
e Z

o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r sh
all n

o
t b

e in
stalled

 u
n

til th
e 

d
ev

elo
p

m
en

t h
as b

een
 re

au
th

o
rized

 b
y
 th

e Z
o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r.  

R
eau

th
o

rizatio
n
 sh

all b
e su

b
ject to

 th
e reg

u
latio

n
s in

 effect at th
e 

tim
e reau

th
o
rizatio

n
 is req

u
ested

.  

 

(5
)

 S
ecu

rity
 F

en
cin

g
. T

h
e S

E
S

U
S

 sh
all b

e fen
ced

 w
ith

 a m
in

im
u

m
 eig

h
t-fo

o
t 

(8
’) tall secu

rity
 fen

ce.  “W
a

rn
in

g
/N

o
 T

resp
a
ssin

g
” sig

n
s, as w

ell as 

co
n
tact in

fo
rm

atio
n
 fo

r em
erg

en
cy

 p
u

rp
o
ses sh

all b
e p

o
sted

 w
ith

in
 sig

h
t o

f 

all p
o

in
ts o

f fen
ce lin

e o
r n

o
 g

reater th
an

 o
n
e h

u
n

d
red

 fifty
 feet (1

5
0
’) 

103



ap
art.  A

t th
e d

iscretio
n
 o

f th
e Z

o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r, critical electrical an
d
 

co
m

m
u
n
icatio

n
s eq

u
ip

m
en

t m
ay

 b
e fen

ced
 w

ith
 th

e ch
ain

-lin
k

 fen
ce 

to
p

p
ed

 w
ith

 b
arb

ed
 w

ire w
h
en

 su
ch

 m
easu

res are d
eem

ed
 n

ecessary
 to

 

en
su

re p
u
b
lic safety

.   

 (6
)

A
g
ricu

ltu
ral Im

p
act M

itig
atio

n
 P

lan
. T

h
e ap

p
lican

t sh
all su

b
m

it a p
lan

 

w
ith

 th
e p

erm
it ap

p
licatio

n
 d

etailin
g

 th
e m

itig
atio

n
 strateg

y
 to

 su
p
p
o
rt 

ag
ricu

ltu
ral u

se o
f th

e lan
d

.  T
h
e p

lan
 w

ill b
e rev

ie
w

ed
 b

y
 th

e Z
o
n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r an
d
 sh

all in
clu

d
e, b

u
t is n

o
t lim

ited
 to

: 

 

a.
R

esu
lts o

f a so
il an

aly
sis co

n
d
u
cted

 an
d
 assessed

 b
y
 a q

u
alified

 

p
ro

fessio
n
al to

 d
eterm

in
e to

p
so

il d
ep

th
s as w

ell as id
en

tify
 an

y
 

lim
itatio

n
s fo

r co
n
stru

ctio
n
 an

d
 m

itig
atio

n
 th

at m
ay

 req
u
ire sp

ecial 

co
n
sid

eratio
n
.   

 b
.

G
en

eral list o
f p

ro
ject co

m
p
o
n
en

ts an
d

 co
n
stru

ctio
n
 tim

elin
e.   

 c.
D

escrib
e b

est p
ractices a

n
d
 m

eth
o
d

s to
 b

e u
sed

 d
u
rin

g
 each

 stag
e 

o
f co

n
stru

ctio
n

 fo
r p

ro
tectin

g
 an

d
 p

reserv
in

g
 to

p
so

il.  P
ractices an

d
 

m
eth

o
d
s sh

o
u
ld

 ad
d
ress, at m

in
im

u
m

, av
o
id

an
ce o

f rem
o
v
al o

f 

to
p
so

il. H
o
w

ev
er, if rem

o
v
al o

f to
p
so

il is n
ecessary

, ap
p
lican

t 

sh
o
u
ld

 p
lan

 fo
r seg

reg
atio

n
, sto

ck
p

ilin
g

, rep
lacem

en
t d

u
rin

g
 

b
ack

fill an
d
 resp

read
in

g
, g

rad
in

g
 m

in
im

izatio
n
, co

m
p
actio

n
 

p
rev

en
tio

n
 an

d
 d

e
co

m
p
actio

n
 o

f o
th

erw
ise u

n
d
istu

rb
ed

 to
p
so

il 

im
p
act b

y
 h

eav
y
 eq

u
ip

m
en

t o
r sto

rag
e o

f m
aterials an

d
 w

et 

w
eath

er co
n
d
itio

n
s.   

 

d
.

D
escrib

e en
v
iro

n
m

en
tal m

o
n

ito
rin

g
 th

at w
ill b

e u
sed

 d
u

rin
g
 

co
n
stru

ctio
n

 to
 en

su
re ad

h
eren

ce to
 th

e b
est p

ractices co
n
tain

ed
 in

 

th
e p

lan
.  T

h
e m

o
n

ito
rin

g
 sh

o
u
ld

 b
e d

o
n
e b

y
 an

 en
v
iro

n
m

en
tal 

p
ro

fessio
n
al at th

e ex
p
en

se o
f th

e d
ev

elo
p

er.  T
h

e m
o

n
ito

rin
g

 

resu
lts sh

o
u

ld
 b

e su
b
m

itted
 to

 th
e C

o
u
n

ty
 ev

ery
 th

irty
 (3

0
) d

ay
s 

d
u

rin
g
 co

n
stru

ctio
n
.   

 

e.
D

escrib
e th

e g
en

e
ral p

ro
ced

u
res to

 b
e u

sed
 fo

r id
en

tificatio
n
, 

av
o
id

an
ce an

d
 rep

air o
f an

y
 u

n
d
erg

ro
u

n
d
 d

rain
ag

e tile lin
es lo

cated
 

w
ith

in
 th

e p
ro

ject site b
efo

re, d
u
rin

g
 an

d
 after co

n
stru

ctio
n
.   

 

(7
)

S
o
il E

ro
sio

n
 an

d
 S

ed
im

en
t C

o
n
tro

l.  T
h

e ap
p

lican
t sh

all co
n

d
u
ct all ro

ad
w

o
rk

 

an
d

 o
th

er site d
ev

elo
p
m

e
n
t w

o
rk

 in
 co

m
p

lian
ce w

ith
 a n

atio
n
al p

o
llu

tan
t 

d
isch

arg
e elim

in
atio

n
 sy

stem
 (N

P
D

E
S

) p
erm

it as req
u
ired

 b
y

 Io
w

a 

D
ep

artm
en

t o
f N

atu
ral R

eso
u
rces an

d
 co

m
p

ly
 w

ith
 req

u
irem

en
ts as d

etaile
d
 

b
y
 lo

cal ju
risd

ictio
n
al au

th
o

rities d
u
rin

g
 th

e p
lan

 su
b
m

ittal.  If su
b
ject to

 

N
P

D
E

S
 req

u
irem

en
ts, th

e ap
p
lican

t m
u
st su

b
m

it th
e p

erm
it to

 th
e Z

o
n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r fo
r rev

iew
 an

d
 co

m
m

en
t alo

n
g
 w

ith
 an

 ero
sio

n
 an

d
 sed

im
en

t 

co
n

tro
l p

lan
 b

efo
re th

e “C
o

m
m

en
cem

en
t o

f C
o

n
stru

ctio
n
” w

h
ich

 is 

d
eterm

in
ed

 b
y
 d

istu
rb

an
ce o

f so
il at p

ro
ject site, n

o
t co

n
sid

ered
 fo

r a p
rim

ary
 

farm
in

g
 o

p
eratio

n
.  T

h
e p

lan
 m

u
st in

clu
d
e b

o
th

 g
en

eral “b
est m

an
ag

em
en

t 

p
ractices” fo

r tem
p
o
rary

 ero
sio

n
 an

d
 sed

im
en

t co
n

tro
l (b

o
th

 d
u
rin

g
 an

d
 after 

co
n

stru
ctio

n
) an

d
 p

e
rm

an
en

t d
rain

ag
e an

d
 ero

sio
n
 co

n
tro

l m
easu

res to
 

p
rev

en
t b

o
th

 d
am

ag
e to

 lo
cal ro

ad
s/ad

jacen
t areas an

d
 sed

im
en

t lad
en

 ru
n

-o
ff 

in
to

 w
aterw

ay
s.  

 

(8
)

V
eg

etatio
n
 M

itig
atio

n
 P

lan
.   

 

a.
A

 V
eg

etatio
n
 M

itig
atio

n
 P

lan
 m

u
st b

e p
ro

v
id

ed
 to

 th
e B

u
ild

in
g
 an

d
 

Z
o
n
in

g
 D

ep
artm

en
t w

ith
 th

e p
erm

it ap
p
licatio

n
.  T

h
e V

eg
etatio

n
 

M
itig

atio
n
 P

lan
 w

ill b
e rev

iew
ed

 b
y
 th

e M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

 Z
o
n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r to
 en

su
re it m

eets th
e M

ills C
o
u
n

ty
 P

o
llin

atio
n
 

S
co

re C
ard

 req
u
irem

en
ts m

eetin
g
 an

 ad
eq

u
ate sco

re.   

 b
.

G
ro

u
n
d

 u
n
d

er an
d

 aro
u
n

d
 th

e so
lar array

 sh
all b

e p
lan

ted
 w

ith
 a 

p
eren

n
ial v

eg
etated

 g
ro

u
n
d
 co

v
er as id

en
tified

 in
 th

e V
eg

etatio
n
 

M
itig

atio
n
 P

lan
.  T

h
e g

ro
u

n
d

 co
v
er p

lan
 sh

all b
e d

ev
elo

p
ed

 in
 

acco
rd

an
ce w

ith
 th

e fo
llo

w
in

g
 stan

d
ard

s: 

 

i.
A

v
o

id
 rem

o
v
al o

f to
p
so

il to
 m

ax
im

u
m

 ex
ten

t p
o
ssib

le 

d
u
rin

g
 d

ev
elo

p
m

en
t an

d
 d

eco
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 u

n
less p

art o
f a 

rem
ed

iatio
n
 effo

rt.  

 ii.
T

h
e area sh

all b
e p

lan
ted

 an
d
 m

ain
tain

ed
, p

er th
e 

V
eg

etatio
n

 M
itig

atio
n

 P
lan

, in
 p

eren
n
ial v

eg
etatio

n
 fo

r th
e 

fu
ll o

p
eratio

n
al life o

f th
e p

ro
ject to

 p
rev

en
t ero

sio
n

, 

m
an

ag
e ru

n
o

ff an
d
 b

u
ild

 so
il.  T

h
e G

ro
u
n

d
 C

o
v
er P

lan
 

m
u
st in

clu
d
e m

an
ag

em
en

t m
eth

o
d
s an

d
 sch

ed
u
les fo

r h
o
w

 

th
e v

eg
etatio

n
 w

ill b
e m

an
ag

ed
 o

n
 an

 an
n

u
al b

asis, w
ith

 th
e 

p
articu

lar atten
tio

n
 g

iv
en

 to
 th

e estab
lish

m
en

t p
erio

d
 o

f 

ap
p
ro

x
im

ately
 th

ree (3
) y

ears.  T
h

e p
lan

 m
u
st in

clu
d

e 

p
ro

v
isio

n
s fo

r rep
lacem

en
t o

f an
y
 req

u
ired

 v
eg

etatio
n
 co

v
er 

th
at fails to

 estab
lish

 o
r d

ies d
u
rin

g
 th

e life o
f th

e p
ro

ject.   

 

iii.
P

lan
t m

aterials fo
r th

e g
ro

u
n

d
 co

v
er area m

u
st n

o
t h

av
e 

b
een

 treated
 w

ith
 sy

stem
ic in

secticid
es, p

articu
larly

 

n
eo

n
ico

tin
o

id
s. 

 

104



iv
.

T
h
e ap

p
licatio

n
 an

d
 V

eg
etatio

n
 M

itig
atio

n
 P

lan
 sh

all 

in
clu

d
e th

e p
ro

p
o

sed
 seed

 m
ix

 sp
ecificatio

n
s an

d
 g

ro
w

th
 

g
u
id

elin
es to

 fo
llo

w
.  

 

v
.

S
eed

in
g

 zo
n
es an

d
 th

eir selected
 seed

 m
ix

es sh
o

u
ld

 b
e 

clearly
 m

ap
p

ed
 o

n
 a site p

lan
.  

 

v
i.

S
eed

 an
d
/o

r p
lan

tin
g
 m

ix
es an

d
 m

ain
ten

an
ce p

ractices 

sh
o
u

ld
 b

e co
n

sisten
t w

ith
 reco

m
m

en
d

atio
n
s m

ad
e b

y
 

q
u
alified

 n
atu

ral reso
u
rce p

ro
fessio

n
als, su

ch
 as th

o
se fro

m
 

a state d
ep

artm
en

t o
f n

atu
ral reso

u
rces, co

u
n

ty
 so

il an
d

 

w
ater co

n
serv

atio
n
 serv

ices, o
r n

atu
ral reso

u
rce 

co
n
serv

atio
n
 serv

ice.   

 

v
ii.

R
ep

o
rtin

g
 to

 th
e C

o
u
n

ty
 o

n
 g

ro
u
n
d

 co
v
er m

an
ag

em
en

t an
d
 

m
ain

ten
an

ce activ
ities sh

all b
e o

n
 an

 an
n

u
al b

asis fo
r a 

m
in

im
u
m

 o
f fiv

e (5
) y

ears fro
m

 co
m

m
ercial o

p
eratio

n
s 

after w
h
ich

 p
o

in
t red

u
ced

 freq
u

en
cy

 can
 b

e req
u
ested

 an
d
 

ap
p
ro

v
ed

 at th
e d

iscretio
n

 o
f th

e Z
o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r.  

 

v
iii.

A
t th

e d
iscretio

n
 o

f th
e Z

o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r, o
th

er 

p
ractices su

ch
 as sm

all-scale farm
in

g
, b

ee k
eep

in
g
 

o
p
eratio

n
s o

r g
razin

g
 m

a
y
 b

e allo
w

ed
 in

 th
e g

ro
u
n

d
 co

v
er 

area. 

 

(9
)

 L
an

d
scap

in
g
 B

u
ffer.  T

o
 m

itig
ate p

o
ten

tial n
eg

ativ
e effects an

d
 red

u
ce th

e 

v
isu

al im
p
act o

f th
e S

E
S

U
S

, a lan
d

scap
in

g
 b

u
ffer sh

all b
e in

stalled
 an

d
 

m
ain

tain
ed

 d
u

rin
g
 th

e life o
f th

e array
 o

p
eratio

n
.  D

eterm
in

atio
n

 o
f screen

in
g
 

req
u
irem

en
ts w

ill b
e m

ad
e b

y
 th

e Z
o

n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r as p
art o

f th
e rev

iew
 

o
f th

e C
o
n

d
itio

n
al U

se P
erm

it an
d

 w
ill b

e b
ased

 o
n
 ad

jacen
t o

r n
earb

y
 

su
rro

u
n

d
in

g
 lan

d
 u

ses an
d
 to

p
o

g
rap

h
y
. W

h
ere th

e Z
o
n

in
g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r 

fin
d

s th
at a lan

d
scap

in
g

 b
u
ffer is ap

p
ro

p
riate, lan

d
scap

in
g
 sh

all b
e in

stalled
 

w
ith

in
 a p

lan
tin

g
 area aro

u
n

d
 th

e p
o
rtio

n
s o

f th
e site sp

ecific b
y
 th

e Z
o
n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r in
 acco

rd
an

ce w
ith

 th
e stan

d
ard

s as o
f th

is su
b
sectio

n
.  A

ll 

ap
p

licatio
n

s fo
r w

h
ich

 th
is su

b
sectio

n
 ap

p
lies sh

all su
b
m

it a p
lan

 fo
r rev

iew
 

an
d

 ap
p
ro

v
al.  T

h
e lan

d
scap

in
g

 b
u

ffer sh
all u

se trees, sh
ru

b
s, g

rasses an
d
 

fo
rb

s th
at are n

ativ
e to

 Io
w

a o
r w

h
ere ap

p
ro

p
riate m

ay
 in

clu
d
e n

atu
ralized

 

an
d

 n
o

n
-in

v
asiv

e sp
ecies o

r a co
m

b
in

atio
n
 th

ereo
f to

 p
ro

v
id

e a v
eg

etatio
n
 

screen
 in

 all req
u
ired

 areas.   

 

(1
0

)
L

ig
h

tin
g

.  If lig
h
tin

g
 is p

ro
v

id
ed

 fo
r th

e S
E

S
U

S
, lig

h
tin

g
 sh

all b
e sh

ield
ed

 

an
d

 d
o

w
n
cast su

ch
 th

at th
e lig

h
t d

o
es n

o
t p

ro
ject d

irectly
 o

n
to

 th
e ad

jacen
t 

p
arcels.  

 

(1
1

)
N

o
ise.  N

o
ise lev

els cau
sed

 b
y
 th

e S
E

S
U

S
 m

easu
red

 at th
e resid

en
ce(s) sh

all 

n
o
t ex

ceed
 fifty

 (5
0

) d
ecib

els (A
-w

eig
h
ted

) w
h

en
 lo

cated
 ad

jacen
t to

 an
 

ex
istin

g
 resid

en
ce o

r resid
en

tial d
istrict.  

 

(1
2

)
In

stallatio
n
 an

d
 D

esig
n
.  T

h
e S

E
S

U
S

 sh
all b

e d
esig

n
ed

 an
d

 lo
cated

 to
 

m
in

im
ize g

lare to
w

ard
s an

y
 in

h
ab

ited
 b

u
ild

in
g

s o
n
 ad

jacen
t p

ro
p

erties.   

 

(1
3

)
U

tility
 C

o
n
n

ectio
n

s.  R
easo

n
ab

le effo
rts sh

all b
e m

ad
e to

 p
lace all p

ro
ject 

co
llectio

n
 lin

es w
ith

in
 th

e so
lar in

stallatio
n
 u

n
d
erg

ro
u
n

d
, d

ep
en

d
in

g
 o

n
 

ap
p

ro
p

riate so
il co

n
d
itio

n
s, sh

ap
e an

d
 to

p
o
g
rap

h
y

 o
f th

e site, d
istan

ce to
 th

e 

co
n

n
ectio

n
, o

r o
th

er co
n
d
itio

n
s o

r req
u
irem

en
ts.  H

ig
h
-v

o
ltag

e lin
es b

etw
een

 

th
e S

E
S

U
S

 an
d

 su
b
statio

n
s m

ay
 b

e ab
o
v

e g
ro

u
n

d
.   

 

(1
4

)
O

u
td

o
o

r S
to

rag
e.  O

n
ly

 th
e o

u
td

o
o
r sto

rag
e o

f m
aterials v

eh
icles, an

d
 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t th

at d
irectly

 su
p

p
o
rt th

e o
p
eratio

n
 an

d
 m

ain
ten

an
ce o

f th
e S

E
S

U
S

 

sh
all b

e allo
w

ed
.   

 

(1
5

)
E

n
d
an

g
ered

 S
p
ecies an

d
 W

etlan
d
s.  A

p
p
lican

t sh
all co

n
su

lt w
ith

 th
e Io

w
a 

D
ep

artm
en

t o
f N

atu
ral R

eso
u
rces an

d
 p

ro
v
id

e v
erificatio

n
 to

 th
e Z

o
n

in
g

 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r.   

 

(1
6

)
W

eed
 C

o
n
tro

l.  A
p
p

lican
t m

u
st p

resen
t an

 accep
tab

le w
eed

/g
rass co

n
tro

l p
lan

 

fo
r p

ro
p
erty

 o
u
tsid

e o
f th

e fen
ced

 area fo
r th

e en
tire p

ro
ject.  T

h
e o

p
eratin

g
 

co
m

p
an

y
 d

u
rin

g
 th

e o
p
e
ratio

n
 o

f th
e S

o
lar F

arm
 m

u
st m

ain
tain

 th
e fen

ce an
d
 

ad
h

ere to
 a w

eed
 co

n
tro

l p
lan

.  T
h

e p
lan

 m
u

st b
e ap

p
ro

v
ed

 b
y
 M

ills C
o
u

n
ty

 

Z
o
n

in
g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r, M
ills C

o
u

n
ty

 E
n

g
in

eer an
d
 M

ills C
o
u
n
ty

 

C
o
n

serv
atio

n
 D

ep
artm

en
t.   

 

(1
7

)
W

aste.  A
ll so

lid
 w

astes, w
h

eth
er g

en
erated

 fro
m

 su
p
p
lies, eq

u
ip

m
en

t p
arts, 

p
ack

ag
in

g
, o

p
eratio

n
, g

razed
 an

im
als, farm

in
g
 o

p
eratio

n
 o

r m
ain

ten
an

ce o
f 

th
e S

E
S

U
S

 sh
all b

e rem
o

v
ed

 fro
m

 th
e site an

d
 d

isp
o

sed
 o

f in
 an

 ap
p

ro
p

riate 

m
an

n
er.  A

ll h
azard

o
u
s w

aste g
en

erated
 b

y
 th

e o
p
eratio

n
 sh

all b
e rem

o
v
ed

 

fro
m

 th
e site im

m
ed

iately
 an

d
 d

isp
o
sed

 o
f in

 a m
an

n
er co

n
sisten

t w
ith

 all 

lo
cal, state an

d
 fed

eral req
u

irem
en

ts.   

 

(1
8

)
M

ain
ten

an
ce, R

ep
air, o

r R
ep

lacem
en

t o
f a F

acility
.  M

ain
ten

an
ce sh

all 

in
clu

d
e, b

u
t n

o
t lim

ited
 to

 p
ain

tin
g
, stru

ctu
ral rep

airs, an
d

 in
teg

rity
 o

f 

secu
rity

 m
easu

res.  S
ite access sh

all b
e m

ain
tain

ed
 to

 a lev
el accep

tab
le to

 

em
erg

en
cy

 resp
o
n
se o

fficials.  A
n

y
 retro

fit, rep
lacem

en
t o

r refu
rb

ish
m

en
t o

f 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t sh

all ad
h
ere to

 all ap
p
licab

le lo
cal, state an

d
 fed

eral req
u
irem

en
ts.  

A
n
y

 d
iscard

ed
 m

aterials o
r co

n
stru

ctio
n
 d

eb
ris w

ill b
e p

ro
m

p
tly

 rem
o
v
ed

 in
 a 

105



tim
ely

 m
an

n
er.  S

aid
 d

eb
ris sh

all rem
ain

 o
n
 th

e p
ro

p
erty

 n
o
 lo

n
g
er six

ty
 (6

0
) 

d
ay

s.   

 

(1
9

)
C

lean
in

g
 C

h
em

icals an
d

 S
o
lv

en
ts.  D

u
rin

g
 o

p
eratio

n
 o

f th
e S

E
S

U
S

, all 

ch
em

icals o
r so

lv
en

ts u
sed

 to
 clean

 p
h
o
to

v
o

ltaic p
an

els sh
all b

e lo
w

 in
 

v
o
latile o

rg
an

ic co
m

p
o

u
n
d
s an

d
 th

e o
p
erato

r sh
all u

se recy
clab

le o
r 

b
io

d
eg

rad
ab

le p
ro

d
u

cts to
 th

e ex
ten

t p
o
ssib

le.  A
n

y
 o

n
-site sto

rag
e o

f 

ch
em

icals o
r so

lv
en

ts sh
all b

e referen
ced

 o
n

 th
e site p

lan
.  

 

(2
0

)
S

to
rm

 W
ater M

an
ag

em
en

t.  P
rio

r to
 receiv

in
g
 a b

u
ild

in
g

 p
erm

it, fo
r th

e 

p
u
rp

o
ses o

f p
o
llu

tan
t rem

o
v

al, sto
rm

w
ater an

d
 ru

n
o
ff m

an
ag

em
en

t, flo
o
d

 

red
u
ctio

n
 an

d
 asso

ciated
 im

p
acts, th

e ap
p
lican

t sh
all p

ro
v
id

e a d
etailed

 sto
rm

 

w
ater m

an
ag

em
en

t p
lan

 w
ith

 an
aly

sis o
f p

re an
d
 p

o
st d

ev
elo

p
m

en
t 

sto
rm

w
ater ru

n
o

ff rates fo
r rev

iew
 b

y
 lo

cal ju
risd

ictio
n

al au
th

o
rities.  

 

(2
1

)
A

v
iatio

n
 P

ro
tectio

n
.  A

p
p
lican

t m
u

st co
m

p
lete an

d
 p

ro
v
id

e w
ith

 th
e 

ap
p

licatio
n

 th
e resu

lts o
f a S

o
lar G

lare H
azard

 A
n

aly
sis T

o
o
l o

r m
o
st recen

t 

v
ersio

n
 ad

o
p
ted

 b
y
 th

e F
A

A
.  A

p
p

lican
t m

u
st p

ro
v
id

e ev
id

en
ce o

f n
o

tice an
d

 

n
o
 resp

o
n
se an

d
/o

r n
o
n

-o
b
jectio

n
 fro

m
 F

A
A

 an
d
 O

ffu
tt A

ir F
o

rce B
ase th

at 

th
e p

ro
ject w

ill n
o
t affect co

m
m

ercial o
r m

ilitary
 flig

h
ts.  

 

(2
2

)
A

d
m

in
istratio

n
 an

d
 E

n
fo

rcem
en

t.  T
h

e Z
o
n
in

g
/B

u
ild

in
g

 A
d

m
in

istrato
r an

d
 

an
y

 n
ecessary

 p
e
rso

n
n
el m

ay
 en

ter an
y
 p

ro
p

erty
 fo

r w
h

ich
 a C

o
n

d
itio

n
al U

se 

o
r B

u
ild

in
g

 P
erm

it h
as b

een
 issu

ed
 u

n
d
er th

is o
rd

in
an

ce to
 co

n
d

u
ct an

 

in
sp

ectio
n
 to

 d
eterm

in
e w

h
eth

er th
e co

n
d

itio
n

s stated
 in

 th
e p

erm
it h

av
e b

een
 

m
et as sp

ecified
 b

y
 statu

te, o
rd

in
an

ce, an
d
 co

d
e.  F

ailu
re to

 p
ro

v
id

e access b
y
 

ap
p

o
in

tm
en

t w
ith

in
 4

8
 h

o
u
rs o

f req
u

est sh
all b

e d
eem

ed
 a v

io
latio

n
 o

f th
is 

o
rd

in
an

ce.   

 

D
.  

C
e
rtifica

tio
n

.  S
E

S
U

S
 sh

all co
n
fo

rm
 to

 ap
p
licab

le in
d

u
stry

 stan
d
ard

s, in
clu

d
in

g
 th

o
se 

fro
m

 th
e U

n
d
erw

riters L
ab

o
rato

ry
 (U

L
) an

d
 F

ed
eral A

v
iatio

n
 A

d
m

in
istratio

n
 (F

A
A

).  A
ll 

ap
p
licab

le co
u
n
ty

, state an
d

 n
atio

n
al co

n
stru

ctio
n
 an

d
 electrical co

d
es sh

all b
e fo

llo
w

ed
.   

E
.

S
a
fety

:  A
ll S

E
S

U
S

 sh
all p

ro
v
id

e th
e fo

llo
w

in
g

 at all lo
ck

ed
 en

tran
ces: 

 

(1
)

A
 v

isib
le “H

ig
h
 V

o
ltag

e” w
arn

in
g
 sig

n
 

 

(2
)

N
am

e(s) an
d
 p

h
o
n

e n
u
m

b
er(s) fo

r th
e electric u

tility
 p

ro
v

id
er(s) 

 

(3
)

N
am

e(s) an
d
 p

h
o
n

e n
u
m

b
er(s) fo

r th
e site o

p
erato

r(s) 

 

(4
)

T
h
e facility

’s 9
1

1
 ad

d
ress an

d
 G

P
S

 co
o
rd

in
ates 

 

 

(5
)

T
h

e site o
p
erato

r w
ill co

o
rd

in
ate w

ith
 th

e lo
cal fire d

ep
artm

en
t, E

m
erg

en
c
y
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t A

g
en

cy
 an

d
 9

1
1

 D
irecto

r to
 p

ro
v
id

e train
in

g
 o

n
 an

 an
n

u
al b

asis 

fo
r th

e first fiv
e (5

) y
e
ars th

e p
ro

ject is co
m

p
lete an

d
 in

 o
p
eratio

n
. S

aid
 

train
in

g
 w

ill co
m

m
en

ce w
ith

in
 six

 (6
) m

o
n
th

s p
rio

r to
 th

e co
m

p
letio

n
 o

f th
e 

p
ro

ject.  A
fter th

at, o
ffered

 o
n

 an
 an

n
u

al b
asis fo

r th
e life o

f th
e p

ro
ject. A

ll 

em
erg

en
cy

 resp
o
n

d
in

g
 ag

en
cies w

ill sig
n
 o

ff th
at said

 train
in

g
 w

as co
m

p
leted

 

o
r o

ffered
.  

 

F
.

R
ep

o
w

e
rin

g
:  P

ro
p
o

sals to
 rep

lace m
o

re th
an

 tw
e
n
ty

-fiv
e p

ercen
t (2

5
%

) o
f th

e p
an

els in
 

a facility
 w

ith
in

 a tw
elv

e (1
2

) m
o
n

th
 p

erio
d
 sh

all b
e req

u
ired

 to
 su

b
m

it a p
lan

 fo
r rev

iew
 

an
d
 ap

p
ro

v
al w

ith
 all asso

ciated
 co

sts assig
n

ed
 to

 th
e A

p
p
lican

t an
d
/o

r th
e p

ro
p

erty
 

o
w

n
er(s).  

 

G
.

R
o
a
d

s:  T
h

e ap
p
lican

ts, o
w

n
ers an

d
 th

eir co
n

tracto
rs sh

all av
o

id
 d

am
ag

in
g
 p

u
b
lic ro

ad
s 

to
 th

e g
reatest p

racticab
le ex

ten
t an

d
 sh

all b
e resp

o
n

sib
le fo

r rep
air o

f d
am

ag
e to

 p
u
b

lic 

ro
ad

s.  A
 P

u
b
lic R

o
ad

s D
am

ag
e A

v
o
id

an
ce an

d
 M

itig
atio

n
 P

lan
 sh

all b
e in

 acco
rd

an
ce 

w
ith

 th
e fo

llo
w

in
g
 stan

d
ard

s an
d
 ap

p
ro

v
ed

 b
y
 th

e B
o

ard
 o

f S
u

p
erv

iso
rs b

efo
re th

e 

ap
p
lican

t co
m

m
en

ces co
n

stru
ctio

n
: 

 

(1
)

Id
en

tificatio
n
 o

f P
o

ten
tial R

o
ad

s U
sag

e.  T
h
e ap

p
lican

t sh
all id

en
tify

, in
 

co
n
su

ltatio
n
 w

ith
 th

e M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

 E
n
g
in

eer, all state an
d
 lo

cal p
u
b

lic 

ro
ad

s to
 b

e u
sed

 w
ith

in
 M

ills C
o
u
n

ty
 to

 tran
sp

o
rt eq

u
ip

m
en

t, p
arts an

d
 

m
aterial fo

r co
n

stru
ctio

n
, o

p
eratio

n
 o

r m
ain

ten
an

c
e o

f th
e so

lar en
erg

y
 

sy
stem

 an
d
 related

 co
m

p
o

n
en

ts.  

 (2
)

D
o
cu

m
en

tatio
n

 o
f R

o
ad

 C
o

n
d

itio
n

s.  P
rio

r to
 co

n
stru

ctio
n
, 

d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 o

r im
p
lem

en
tatio

n
 o

f a rep
o

w
erin

g
 p

lan
, th

e M
ills 

C
o

u
n
ty

 E
n
g
in

eer o
r a th

ird
-p

arty
 co

n
su

ltan
t selected

 b
y
 th

e M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

 

E
n

g
in

eer sh
all d

o
cu

m
en

t th
e cu

rren
t co

n
d

itio
n

s o
f th

e ro
ad

s id
en

tified
 fo

r 

u
se, w

ith
 all asso

ciated
 co

sts p
aid

 fo
r b

y
 th

e ap
p

lican
t o

r th
e o

w
n

ers o
f th

e 

facility
.  T

h
e C

o
u
n

ty
 E

n
g
in

eer sh
all d

o
cu

m
en

t ro
ad

 co
n
d

itio
n
s ag

ain
 th

irty
 

(3
0
) d

ay
s after th

e co
n

stru
ctio

n
 is co

m
p
lete o

r as w
eath

er p
erm

its w
ith

 

p
h

y
sical d

o
cu

m
en

ts as w
ell as v

id
eo

 d
o

cu
m

en
tatio

n
.   

 

(3
)

R
o

ad
 P

rep
aratio

n
 an

d
 D

am
ag

e.  A
n

y
 ro

ad
 p

rep
aratio

n
 o

r m
ain

ten
an

ce 

n
ecessitated

 b
y

 th
e S

E
S

U
S

 as id
en

tified
 b

y
 th

e C
o

u
n
ty

 E
n

g
in

eer o
r th

e 

th
ird

-p
arty

 co
n

su
ltan

t sh
all b

e p
ro

m
p

tly
 co

m
p
leted

 at th
e ap

p
lican

t’s 

ex
p
en

se.  A
n
y

 d
am

ag
e cau

sed
 b

y
 th

e ap
p
lican

t, o
w

n
er o

f th
e facility

 o
r its 

co
n
tracto

rs d
u

rin
g
 co

n
stru

ctio
n
, d

eco
m

m
issio

n
in

g
, o

r th
e im

p
lem

en
tatio

n
 

o
f a rep

o
w

erin
g
 p

lan
 sh

all p
ro

m
p

tly
 b

e rep
aired

 at th
e ap

p
lican

t o
r th

e 

p
ro

p
erty

 o
w

n
er’s ex

p
en

se an
d
 to

 th
e reaso

n
ab

le satisfactio
n

 o
f th

e C
o

u
n
ty

 

E
n

g
in

eer b
ased

 o
n

 ap
p
licab

le stan
d
ard

s an
d
 co

d
e.   

 

106



(4
)

A
p
p
lican

t sh
all d

em
o
n

strate ap
p
ro

p
riate fin

an
cial assu

ran
ce to

 en
su

re th
e 

rep
air o

f th
e d

am
ag

ed
 ro

ad
s.  A

t th
e d

irectio
n

 o
f th

e B
o
ard

 o
f S

u
p

erv
iso

rs, 

th
e ap

p
lican

t o
r th

e o
w

n
ers o

f th
e fa

cility
 m

ay
 also

 b
e req

u
ired

 to
 p

ro
v
id

e 

a fin
an

cial su
rety

 in
stru

m
en

t o
r b

o
n

d
 to

 co
v
er all co

sts o
f p

o
ten

tial d
am

ag
e 

to
 ro

ad
s at th

e tim
e o

f p
erm

ittin
g
 co

n
sid

eratio
n

.     

 

H
.

D
eco

m
m

issio
n

in
g
 a

n
d

 R
ec

la
m

a
tio

n
 P

la
n

:  T
h
e ap

p
lican

t sh
all su

b
m

it a 

D
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 an

d
 R

eclam
atio

n
 P

lan
 to

 th
e M

ills C
o
u
n
ty

 Z
o

n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r 

w
ith

 th
e co

n
d
itio

n
al u

se p
erm

it ap
p
licatio

n
.  T

h
e Z

o
n

in
g

 A
d

m
in

istrato
r sh

all rev
iew

 th
e 

p
lan

 fo
r co

m
p

leten
ess an

d
 refer it to

 th
e M

ills C
o
u
n
ty

 B
o
ard

 o
f A

d
ju

stm
en

t fo
r rev

iew
 

in
 co

n
ju

n
ctio

n
 w

ith
 th

e co
n
d

itio
n

al u
se p

erm
it an

d
 th

e M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

 B
o

ard
 o

f 

S
u
p
erv

iso
rs fo

r fin
al co

n
sid

eratio
n
 an

d
 ap

p
ro

v
al p

rio
r to

 th
e ap

p
lican

t co
m

m
en

cin
g
 

co
n
stru

ctio
n

.  T
h
e p

lan
 sh

all in
clu

d
e: 

 

(1
)

A
 d

escrip
tio

n
 o

f th
e life o

f th
e S

E
S

U
S

; th
e an

ticip
ated

 m
an

n
er w

h
ich

 th
e 

p
ro

ject w
ill b

e d
eco

m
m

issio
n
ed

, in
clu

d
in

g
 an

y
 p

lan
s to

 recy
cle 

co
m

p
o
n
en

ts; th
e an

ticip
ated

 site resto
ratio

n
 actio

n
s; th

e estim
ated

 

d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 co

sts in
 cu

rren
t d

o
llars an

d
 th

e m
eth

o
d

 fo
r en

su
rin

g
 th

at 

fu
n
d
s w

ill b
e av

ailab
le fo

r d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 an

d
 resto

ratio
n

.  

 

(2
)

E
stim

ates fo
r th

e to
tal co

st fo
r d

eco
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 at th

e cu
rren

t v
alu

e at site 

as d
eterm

in
ed

 b
y
 a L

icen
sed

 E
n

g
in

eer.  D
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 co

sts sh
all tak

e 

salv
ag

e v
alu

e in
to

 acco
u

n
t.  

 

(3
)

A
 d

escrip
tio

n
 o

f th
e p

lan
 to

 rem
o

v
e th

e S
E

S
U

S
 an

d
 resto

re th
e lan

d
 to

 its 

p
rev

io
u
s u

se u
p

o
n
 th

e en
d

 o
f th

e p
ro

ject’s life, as stated
 in

 th
e C

o
n
d
itio

n
al 

U
se P

erm
it o

r as stated
 in

 th
e M

ills C
o

u
n

ty
 Z

o
n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce.   

 

(4
)

P
ro

v
isio

n
s fo

r th
e rem

o
v

al o
f stru

ctu
res, d

eb
ris an

d
 asso

ciated
 eq

u
ip

m
en

t 

o
n

 th
e su

rface an
d

 to
 a lev

el o
f n

o
t less th

an
 fo

u
r (4

) feet b
elo

w
 th

e 

su
rface, an

d
 th

e tim
elin

e/seq
u

en
ce in

 w
h
ich

 rem
o

v
al is ex

p
ected

 to
 o

ccu
r.   

 

(5
)

R
eferen

cin
g

 th
e A

g
ricu

ltu
ral M

itig
atio

n
 S

ectio
n
 o

f C
h

ap
ter 2

7
, S

ectio
n
 1

2
, 

p
ro

v
isio

n
s fo

r th
e resto

ratio
n
 o

f th
e so

il, v
eg

etatio
n
, an

d
 d

istu
rb

ed
 earth

, 

w
h
ich

 sh
all b

e g
rad

ed
 an

d
 reseed

ed
 an

d
 /o

r th
e p

ro
p
erty

 m
ay

 b
e retu

rn
ed

 

to
 ag

ricu
ltu

ral u
se.  A

v
o
id

an
ce o

f rem
o

v
al o

f to
p

so
il is p

referred
.  T

h
e 

m
itig

atio
n

 p
lan

 sh
all in

clu
d
e en

v
iro

n
m

en
tal m

o
n
ito

rin
g
 at th

e co
st o

f th
e 

d
ev

elo
p
er to

 b
e u

sed
 in

 retu
rn

in
g
 th

e p
ro

ject area b
ack

 to
 ag

ricu
ltu

ral u
se. 

E
n

v
iro

n
m

en
tal m

o
n
ito

rin
g

 w
ill in

clu
d

e b
est p

ractices to
 ad

d
ress at 

m
in

im
u
m

 in
v
asiv

e sp
ecies p

rev
en

tio
n
, ero

sio
n
, sed

im
en

t co
n
tro

l an
d
 

d
eb

ris rem
o

v
al.   

 

(6
)

A
 p

ro
v
isio

n
 th

at th
e term

s o
f th

e D
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 an

d
 R

eclam
atio

n
 P

lan
 

sh
all b

e b
in

d
in

g
 u

p
o
n
 th

e o
w

n
er o

r o
p

erato
r an

d
 a

n
y
 o

f th
eir su

ccesso
rs, 

assig
n

s o
r h

eirs an
d
 th

at th
e lan

d
o
w

n
er h

as g
ran

ted
 p

erm
issio

n
 fo

r access 

an
d
 easem

en
ts o

f th
e p

ro
p

erty
 fo

r d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
.  V

erificatio
n
 o

f th
e 

sam
e m

u
st b

e stated
 in

 th
e lease an

d
 p

ro
v
id

ed
 to

 th
e M

ills C
o

u
n
ty

 Z
o

n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r.  

 

(7
)

F
in

an
cial S

u
rety

.  A
fter th

e ten
th

 (1
0
th

) y
e
ar o

f o
p

eratio
n
, th

e ap
p

lican
t, 

facility
 o

w
n
er o

r site o
p

erato
r sh

all p
ro

v
id

e a fin
an

cial su
rety

 in
stru

m
en

t 

to
 co

v
er th

e co
st o

f d
eco

m
m

issio
n

in
g

 in
 acco

rd
an

ce w
ith

 th
e fo

llo
w

in
g
: 

 

i.
D

eco
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 fu

n
d

s o
r fin

an
cial su

rety
 sh

all b
e in

 an
 am

o
u
n
t eq

u
al 

to
 th

e n
et co

st fo
r d

eco
m

m
issio

n
in

g
 th

e site, p
lu

s a ten
 p

ercen
t (1

0
%

) 

co
n
tin

g
en

cy
.  

 

ii.
T

h
e fin

an
cial secu

rity
 fu

n
d
 sh

all b
e m

ain
tain

ed
 in

 th
e fo

rm
 o

f cash
, 

certificate o
f d

ep
o
sit, p

erfo
rm

an
ce b

o
n

d
, escro

w
 acco

u
n

t, su
rety

 b
o
n
d
, 

letter o
f cred

it, co
rp

o
rate g

u
aran

tee o
r o

th
er fo

rm
 o

f fin
an

cial 

assu
ran

ce accep
tab

le to
 th

e M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

 B
o

ard
 o

f S
u

p
erv

iso
rs.  A

n
y
 

d
o

cu
m

en
t ev

id
en

cin
g
 th

e
 m

ain
ten

an
ce o

f th
e fin

an
cial su

rety
 sh

all 

in
clu

d
e p

ro
v
isio

n
s fo

r releasin
g
 th

e fu
n
d
s to

 th
e C

o
u
n

ty
 in

 th
e ev

en
t 

d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 is n

o
t co

m
p

leted
 in

 a tim
ely

 m
an

n
er.   

 

iii.
F

in
an

cial secu
rity

 sh
all b

e m
ain

tain
ed

 fo
r th

e life o
f th

e p
ro

ject.  

 

iv
.

E
v

ery
 fiv

e (5
) y

ears, th
e facility

 o
w

n
er o

r o
p

erato
r sh

all retain
 an

 

in
d

ep
en

d
en

t L
icen

sed
 E

n
g

in
eer to

 re-estim
ate th

e to
tal co

st o
f 

d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 an

d
 attest th

at th
e v

alu
e o

f th
e fin

an
cial su

rety
 

in
stru

m
en

t is ap
p
ro

p
riate.  T

h
is rep

o
rt sh

all b
e filed

 w
ith

 th
e C

o
u
n
ty

 

Z
o

n
in

g
 D

ep
artm

en
t an

d
 th

e M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

 A
u
d
ito

r. T
h
e 

d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 fu

n
d

s sh
all m

atch
 th

e re-estim
ated

 co
st o

f 

d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
.  W

ith
in

 n
in

ety
 (9

0
) d

ay
s o

f filin
g
 th

e re-estim
atio

n
 

rep
o

rt w
ith

 th
e C

o
u
n
ty

, th
e facility

 o
w

n
er o

r o
p
erato

r sh
all cau

se th
e 

fu
n
d
 b

alan
c
e o

f th
e fin

an
cial su

rety
 in

stru
m

en
t to

 b
e ad

ju
sted

 to
 en

su
re 

th
at it m

atch
es th

e re-estim
ated

 d
eco

m
p
o

sitio
n
 co

sts. T
h
e ap

p
lican

t 

sh
all file th

e ap
p
ro

v
ed

 d
eco

m
m

issio
n

in
g

 ag
reem

en
t an

d
 ro

ad
s 

ag
reem

en
t w

ith
 M

ills C
o
u

n
ty

 R
eg

ister o
f D

eed
s p

rio
r to

 co
m

m
en

cin
g

 

co
n
stru

ctio
n

.   

 

v
.

R
elease o

f F
in

an
cial S

ecu
rity

.  F
in

an
cial secu

rity
 sh

all o
n

ly
 b

e 

released
 b

y
 th

e Z
o

n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r after in
sp

ectio
n
 th

at all 

co
n
d

itio
n

s o
f th

e d
eco

m
m

issio
n
in

g
 p

lan
 h

av
e b

een
 m

et. 

 

107



I.
In

d
em

n
ifica

tio
n

 a
n

d
 L

ia
b

ility
:  T

h
e ap

p
lican

t, o
w

n
er an

d
/o

r o
p

erato
r o

f th
e S

E
S

U
S

 

p
ro

ject sh
all d

efen
d
, in

d
em

n
ify

, an
d

 h
o

ld
 h

arm
less th

e C
o

u
n
ty

 o
f M

ills an
d

 its o
fficials 

fro
m

 an
d
 ag

ain
st an

y
 an

d
 all claim

s, d
em

an
d
s, lo

sses, su
its, cau

ses o
f actio

n
, d

am
ag

es, 

in
ju

ries, co
sts, ex

p
en

ses, an
d

 liab
ilities w

h
atso

ev
er, in

clu
d
in

g
 atto

rn
ey

’s fees, w
ith

o
u

t 

lim
itatio

n
, arisin

g
 o

u
t o

f acts o
r o

m
issio

n
s o

f th
e ap

p
lican

t, o
w

n
er, an

d
/o

r o
p
erato

r 

asso
ciated

 w
ith

 th
e co

n
stru

ctio
n

 an
d
/o

r o
p

eratio
n

s o
f th

e S
o

lar E
n
erg

y
 S

y
stem

 p
ro

ject.  

 

J.
C

essa
tio

n
 o

f O
p

er
a
tio

n
s:  A

n
y

 S
E

S
U

S
 p

ro
v
id

ed
 fo

r in
 th

is o
rd

in
an

ce th
at h

as n
o

t b
een

 in
 

o
p

eratio
n
 an

d
 p

ro
d
u

cin
g
 electricity

 fo
r at least o

n
e h

u
n
d

red
 an

d
 eig

h
ty

 (1
8
0
) co

n
secu

tiv
e 

d
ay

s, ex
clu

d
in

g
 a n

atu
ral catastro

p
h
ic ev

en
t, sh

all b
e rem

o
v

ed
.  T

h
e M

ills C
o
u

n
ty

 Z
o

n
in

g
 

A
d
m

in
istrato

r sh
all n

o
tify

 th
e o

w
n
er to

 rem
o
v
e th

e sy
stem

.  W
ith

in
 n

in
ety

 (9
0

) d
ay

s, th
e 

o
w

n
er sh

all eith
er su

b
m

it ev
id

en
ce sh

o
w

in
g
 th

at th
e sy

stem
 h

as b
een

 o
p

eratin
g
 an

d
 

p
ro

d
u
cin

g
 electricity

 o
r rem

o
v
e it.  If th

e o
w

n
er fails to

 o
r refu

ses to
 rem

o
v

e th
e so

lar 

en
erg

y
 sy

stem
, th

e v
io

latio
n
 sh

all b
e referred

 to
 th

e M
ills C

o
u
n
ty

 A
tto

rn
ey

.  In
 th

e case o
f a 

n
atu

ral catastro
p
h

ic ev
en

t, a d
etailed

 resto
ratio

n
 p

lan
 to

 retu
rn

 to
 o

p
eratio

n
al statu

s m
u
st b

e 

p
ro

v
id

ed
 to

 th
e Z

o
n
in

g
 A

d
m

in
istrato

r.   

 

K
.

V
io

la
tio

n
s &

 P
en

a
lties:  V

io
latio

n
s an

d
 p

en
alties o

f th
is S

ectio
n
 are set fo

rth
 in

 C
h
ap

ter 5
 

o
f th

e M
ills C

o
u

n
ty

 Z
o
n

in
g
 O

rd
in

an
ces.  

 

L
.

R
ela

ted
 R

u
les a

n
d

 R
e
g

u
la

tio
n

s:  E
ach

 S
E

S
U

S
 sh

all co
m

p
ly

 w
ith

 all ap
p
licab

le lo
cal, state 

an
d
 fed

eral req
u
irem

en
ts.  

 

M
.

S
ev

era
b

ility
:  T

h
e p

ro
v
isio

n
s o

f th
is o

rd
in

an
ce are sev

erab
le, an

d
 th

e in
v

alid
ity

 o
f an

y
 

sectio
n
, su

b
d
iv

isio
n

, p
arag

rap
h
, o

r o
th

er p
art o

f th
is o

rd
in

an
ce sh

all n
o

t affect th
e v

alid
ity

 o
r 

effectiv
en

ess o
f th

e rem
a
in

d
er o

f th
e o

rd
in

an
ce.  

 

N
.

C
o
n

d
itio

n
a
l U

se
 P

erm
it F

ee
(s) fo

r
 S

o
la

r
 E

n
e
rg

y
 S

y
ste

m
s, U

tility
 S

ca
le

:  T
h
e C

o
n

d
itio

n
al 

U
se P

erm
it fee

(s) w
ill b

e ap
p

ro
v
ed

 an
d

 ad
o
p
ted

 b
y
 R

eso
lu

tio
n
 th

ro
u

g
h

 th
e C

o
u
n
ty

 B
o

ard
 o

f 

S
u
p
erv

iso
rs u

n
d

er Z
o

n
in

g
 P

erm
it F

ees.   

  

108



C
H

A
P

T
E

R
 100 

Z
O

N
IN

G
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 

  
F

ebruary 7, 2012 
A

m
ended N

ovem
ber 8, 2018 

- 95 - 
C

O
D

E
 O

F O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

S
 

M
O

N
O

N
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

,  IO
W

A
 

 

vote upon the adoption of the proposed am
endm

ent. T
he proposed am

endm
ent 

shall becom
e effective by a favorable vote of a m

ajority of all of the m
em

bers of 
the B

oard of Supervisors.  

5. 
A

ny person or persons desiring a change in the zoning classification of property 
shall file w

ith the application for such change a statem
ent giving the nam

es and 
addresses of the ow

ners of all properties lying w
ithin 500 feet or 200 feet, as 

applicable, of any part of the property proposed to be changed.  

6. 
Failure to notify as provided in subsections 2 and 3 above shall not invalidate 
any recom

m
endation of the Z

oning C
om

m
ission provided such failure w

as not 
intentional, and the om

ission of the nam
e of any ow

ner of property w
ho m

ay, in 
the opinion of the Z

oning C
om

m
ission be affected by such am

endm
ent or 

change, shall not invalidate any recom
m

endation adopted hereunder; it being the 
intention of this subsection to provide, so far as m

ay be, due notice to the 
persons substantially interested in the proposed change that an application is 
pending before the Z

oning C
om

m
ission proposing to m

ake a change in the 
Z

oning M
ap or the regulations set forth in the Z

oning O
rdinance.  

7. 
E

ach application for an am
endm

ent, except those initiated by the Z
oning 

C
om

m
ission, shall be accom

panied by a paym
ent of a fee in an am

ount 
established from

 tim
e to tim

e by the B
oard of S

upervisors to cover the 
approxim

ate costs of this procedure and under no conditions shall said sum
 or 

any part thereof be refunded for failure of said am
endm

ent to be enacted into 
law

.  

8. 
W

henever any petition for a change of the zoning district classification shall 
have been approved by the B

oard of Supervisors after the effective date of this 
O

rdinance,  the O
rdinance approving such zoning change shall be interpreted to 

include a sunset clause w
hereby the zoning of the subject property shall revert 

back to the original zoning if said property is not developed and/or used for the 
intended purpose w

ithin three years of the tim
e the rezoning is approved by the 

B
oard of S

upervisors, unless otherw
ise stipulated by the B

oard of Supervisors at 
the tim

e of the rezoning and so stated in the O
rdinance rezoning said property. 

9. 
W

henever any petition for an am
endm

ent, supplem
ent or change of the zoning 

districts or regulations herein contained or subsequently established shall have 
been denied by the B

oard of S
upervisors, then no new

 petition covering the 
sam

e property and/or additional property shall be filed w
ith or considered by the 

B
oard of S

upervisors until one (1) year shall have elapsed from
 the date of the 

filing of the first petition.  

 1
0

0
.3

6
  SO

L
A

R
 E

N
E

R
G

Y
 SY

ST
E

M
S

. 
T

he intent of the regulations of 
this S

ection is to balance the need for clean, renew
able energy resources w

ith 
the need to protect the public health, safety, and w

elfare. T
he regulations of 

this Section are found to be necessary to ensure that solar energy system
s are 

appropriately designed, sited, and installed. S
olar energy system

s include 

C
H

A
P

T
E

R
 100 

Z
O

N
IN

G
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 

  
F

ebruary 7, 2012 
A

m
ended N

ovem
ber 8, 2018 

- 96 - 
C

O
D

E
 O

F O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

S
 

M
O

N
O

N
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

,  IO
W

A
 

 accessory system
s for private use, and solar farm

s for utility-scale energy 
production and distribution.  

16. U
se.   

A
. 

A
ccessory U

se.  A
ccessory S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s shall be 

allow
ed only as an accessory use to a perm

itted principal 
use 

in 
residential, 

com
m

ercial, 
and 

industrial 
zoning 

districts and land uses. A
ccessory use shall also be allow

ed 
in agricultural zoning districts and land uses.  

B
. 

P
rincipal U

se.  Solar F
arm

s designed for utility-scale 
energy production and distribution shall be allow

ed as a 
principal use only in agricultural zoning districts and land 
uses. 

18. Special U
se P

erm
it R

equired.  N
o zoning perm

it shall be issued 
for any utility-scale solar energy system

 that is proposed to be 
constructed until after a Special U

se P
erm

it has been approved 
by the Z

oning B
oard of A

djustm
ent in accordance w

ith Section 
100.32 of this C

hapter. T
his shall not apply to A

ccessory S
olar 

E
nergy S

ystem
s.  

A
. 

T
he special use perm

it shall be valid so long as the 
structure conform

s to the site plan on file w
ith the M

onona 
C

ounty Z
oning A

dm
inistrator and the M

onona C
ounty 

Z
oning O

rdinance. 

19. Z
onin

g P
erm

it R
equired.  It shall be unlaw

ful to construct, erect, 
install, alter, or locate any solar energy system

 w
ithin M

onona 
C

ounty, unless a zoning perm
it has been obtained from

 the 
Z

oning A
dm

inistrator or their designee. In granting such perm
it, 

the 
Z

oning 
A

dm
inistrator 

or 
their 

designee 
m

ay 
im

pose 
conditions on the use in addition to the regulations of this 
Section. T

he zoning perm
it m

ay be revoked by the Z
oning 

A
dm

inistrator or their designee any tim
e the approved system

 
does not com

ply w
ith the regulations of this Section and the 

conditions im
posed at the tim

e the perm
it w

as granted. T
he 

ow
ner and/or operator of the solar energy system

 m
ust also 

obtain any other perm
its required by other federal, state, and 

local agencies or departm
ents prior to obtaining an approved 

zoning perm
it or installing the system

, and shall com
ply w

ith all 
overlay district regulations.  

20. P
erm

it A
pplication In

form
ation

.  A
n application for a zoning 

perm
it for a solar energy system

 shall be m
ade on form

s provided 

109



C
H

A
P

T
E

R
 100 

Z
O

N
IN

G
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 

  
F

ebruary 7, 2012 
A

m
ended N

ovem
ber 8, 2018 

- 97 - 
C

O
D

E
 O

F O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

S
 

M
O

N
O

N
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

,  IO
W

A
 

 

by the C
ounty. A

long w
ith the application, the applicant shall 

subm
it the follow

ing inform
ation: 

A
. 

Site P
lan.  O

ne (1) com
plete copy of a site plan and fee 

shall be subm
itted in accordance w

ith Section 100.25. T
he 

site plan shall be based on a certified instrum
ent survey by 

a surveyor licensed in the S
tate of Iow

a. A
 P

lat of S
urvey 

is required to establish property lines and/or setbacks. T
he 

site plan shall include the follow
ing: 

(1) 
L

ocation of the solar panel(s) on the site and total 
height of the each panel or array at m

axim
um

 tilt, 
dim

ensions, and ground clearance for each panel or 
array; 

(2) 
T

he height and depths of each m
ounting structure 

including footings, and m
axim

um
 area of ground 

cover; 

(3) 
U

tility lines, telephone lines and any other lines, both 
above and below

 ground, w
ithin 200 feet of any and 

all above-ground portions of the solar energy system
 

or solar farm
; 

(4) 
D

etails as to how
 the pow

er w
ill be delivered to the 

grid, including the route and size of poles and tow
ers 

to be used, if applicable; 

(5) 
P

roperty lot lines, land uses and the location and 
dim

ensions of all existing structures and uses on and 
off site w

ithin a radius of 500 feet of any and all 
above-ground portions of the solar energy system

 or 
solar farm

; 

(6) 
S

tandard draw
ings and dim

ensional representations 
of 

the 
solar energy 

system
 including 

panels 
and 

arrays, m
ounting structures, and footings; 

(7) 
P

lanned location and dim
ensions of a security fence; 

and 

(8) 
Interconnection agreem

ent w
ith the electrical utility, 

if applicable. 

B
. 

D
ecom

m
issioning P

lan.  A
ll applications for solar farm

s shall 
include a decom

m
issioning plan that describes the anticipated 

life of the utility scale solar installation, the anticipated m
anner 

C
H

A
P

T
E

R
 100 

Z
O

N
IN

G
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 

  
F

ebruary 7, 2012 
A

m
ended N

ovem
ber 8, 2018 

- 98 - 
C

O
D

E
 O

F O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

S
 

M
O

N
O

N
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

,  IO
W

A
 

 

in w
hich the project w

ill be decom
m

issioned, the anticipated 
site restoration actions, the estim

ated decom
m

issioning costs in 
current dollars, and the m

ethod for ensuring that funds w
ill be 

available for decom
m

issioning and restoration. 

C
. 

Landscaping. 
 

A
 landscape buffer 

m
ay be 

required 
to 

be 
installed and m

aintained during the life of the solar farm
. 

D
eterm

ination of screening requirem
ents w

ill be m
ade by the 

B
oard of A

djustm
ent as part of the review

 and approval process 
and w

ill be based on adjacent or nearby surrounding land uses 
and topography. 

D
. 

G
rading P

lan.  A
 grading plan shall be subm

itted for all 
solar energy system

 plans and shall show
 all proposed 

changes to the landscape of the site, included but not 
lim

ited 
to: 

clearing, 
grading, 

topographic 
changes, 

drainage, and tree rem
oval.  

6. 
A

ccessory 
S

olar 
E

n
ergy 

S
ystem

s. 
 

A
ccessory 

solar 
energy 

system
s shall be for the sole benefit of the parcel or lot on w

hich 
it is located. 

B
. 

B
uilding- or roof-m

ounted system
s shall not exceed the 

bulk regulations of the district or land use on w
hich the 

building sits. 

(1) Such system
s shall not extend beyond the perim

eter of 
the building, except that exterior piping for hot w

ater 
system

s m
ay exceed the exterior perim

eter in a side 
yard. 

(2) R
oof-m

ounted system
s m

ay be visible from
 the public 

right-of-w
ay. 

(3) R
oof-m

ounted 
system

s 
shall 

require 
adequate 

roof 
access to the panels. 

(4) Prior 
to 

installation, 
the 

applicant 
m

ust 
provide 































the Z
oning A

dm
inistrator or their designee. 

C
. 

Solar hot w
ater system

s m
ust have an S

R
C

C
 (Solar R

ating 
&

 C
ertification C

orporation) rating. 

D
. 

A
ccessory system

s m
ust com

ply w
ith the State of Iow

a 
B

uilding C
ode, E

lectric C
ode, and P

lum
bing C

ode. 

110



C
H

A
P

T
E

R
 100 

Z
O

N
IN

G
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 

  
F

ebruary 7, 2012 
A

m
ended N

ovem
ber 8, 2018 

- 99 - 
C

O
D

E
 O

F O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

S
 

M
O

N
O

N
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

,  IO
W

A
 

 

E
. 

A
ll accessory system

s m
ust com

ply the regulations of all 
overlay zones in w

hich it is located. 

F. 
A

ll accessory system
s m

ust com
ply w

ith the requirem
ents 

of the electric utility. Self-contained (off-grid) system
s that 

are not connected to the electric utility are exem
pt from

 the 
interconnection requirem

ents. 

G
. 

Surplus energy sold back to a utility m
ust com

ply w
ith 

Section 199, C
hapter 15.11(5) of the Iow

a A
dm

inistrative 
C

ode, and all requirem
ents of the Iow

a U
tilities B

oard. 

7. 
G

eneral R
egulations.   

A
. 

G
round- or pole-m

ounted panels 
and 

arrays shall not 
exceed 20 feet in height at m

axim
um

 tilt. 

B
. 

A
ll solar energy system

s m
ust have a U

L
 (U

nderw
riters 

L
aboratories) listing. 

C
. 

A
irports.  A

ll solar energy system
s located w

ithin 500 feet 
of 

an airport 
or 

w
ithin 

approach zones 
of 

an 
airport 

requires the applicant to com
plete and provide the results 

of the Solar G
lare H

azard A
nalysis T

ool (SG
H

A
T

) for the 
A

irport T
raffic C

ontrol T
ow

er cab and final approach 
paths, consistent w

ith the Interim
 P

olicy, F
A

A
 R

eview
 of 

Solar E
nergy P

rojects on F
ederally-O

bligated A
irports, or 

m
ost recent version adopted by the FA

A
. T

he applicant 
shall also obtain w

ritten approval from
 all appropriate 

airport authorities, including but not lim
ited to Jam

es G
. 

W
hiting M

em
orial F

ield in M
apleton.  

D
. 

Solar A
ccess.  Solar A

ccess rights m
ay be purchased from

 
neighboring property ow

ners through the recording of a 
solar easem

ent. T
his easem

ent m
ay apply to buildings, 

trees, or other plants and structures that w
ould dim

inish 
solar access.  

8. 
A

bandon
m

en
t.  A

bandonm
ent proceedings begin one (1) year 

after the last day any solar energy system
 produces pow

er. 

A
. T

he ow
ner shall have one (1) year after abandonm

ent 
proceedings 

have 
com

m
enced 

to 
begin 

generating 
electricity w

ith the unit or to decom
m

ission and safely 
dispose of the solar unit. 

C
H

A
P

T
E

R
 100 

Z
O

N
IN

G
 R

E
G

U
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 

  
F

ebruary 7, 2012 
A

m
ended N

ovem
ber 8, 2018 

- 100 - 
C

O
D

E
 O

F O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

S
 

M
O

N
O

N
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

,  IO
W

A
 

 

B
. 

U
pon final declaration of abandonm

ent, M
onona C

ounty 
shall cause the rem

oval of the abandoned system
 and 

invoice the property ow
ner for all costs associated w

ith the 
rem

oval of the solar energy system
 and reclam

ation of the 
site. If unpaid, the cost shall be assessed as a lien against 
the property.  

 
 

111



 

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 #05-24-21-01 
A

N
 O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 A

D
O

P
T

IN
G

 A
N

 U
T

IL
IT

Y
-S

C
A

L
E

 SO
L

A
R

 E
N

E
R

G
Y

 SY
ST

E
M

S 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

 W
hereas, 

M
uscatine 

C
ounty 

desires 
to 

regulate 
utility-scale 

solar 
energy 

system
s 

w
ithin 

M
uscatine C

ounty. 
 N

O
W

, 
T

H
E

R
E

F
O

R
E

, 
B

E
 IT

 H
E

R
E

B
Y

 
O

R
D

A
IN

E
D

 
by 

the 
M

uscatine 
C

ounty 
B

oard 
of 

S
upervisors: 

 S
ection 1. 

A
doption.  T

he M
uscatine C

ounty C
ode of O

rdinances, T
itle III:  Property/L

and 
U

se and D
evelopm

ent is am
ended by the adoption of the follow

ing chapter: 
  C

H
A

P
T

E
R

 IX
. 

U
T

IL
IT

Y
-S

C
A

L
E

 SO
L

A
R

 E
N

E
R

G
Y

 SY
ST

E
M

S
 

 T
he requirem

ents 
of this O

rdinance shall apply to all U
tility-Scale S

olar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

proposed after the effective date of this O
rdinance. U

tility-S
cale S

olar E
nergy System

s for w
hich 

a required M
uscatine C

ounty perm
it has been properly issued prior to the effective date of this 

O
rdinance shall not be required to m

eet the requirem
ents of this O

rdinance; provided, that any 
such pre-existing U

tility-Scale S
olar E

nergy System
, w

hich does not provide energy for a 
continuous period of tw

elve (12) m
onths, shall m

eet the requirem
ents of this O

rdinance prior to 
recom

m
encing production of energy.  A

lso, no m
odification or alteration to an existing U

tility-
S

cale S
olar E

nergy S
ystem

 shall be allow
ed w

ithout full com
pliance w

ith this O
rdinance. 

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

 1. D
E

F
IN

IT
IO

N
S

. 
 S

olar E
n

ergy System
 

A
 system

 that converts energy from
 sunlight into electricity or an 

additional energy source such as heat.  
 R

esid
ential/S

m
all-S

cale 
A

 solar energy system
 that is installed at a residence or business to 

 Solar E
nergy S

ystem
 

m
eet the electrical dem

ands at that location.  T
hese system

s are 
typically intended to offset electricity use for the ow

ner and are not 
intended to be net generators of electricity. 

 C
oncentratin

g S
olar  

A
 system

 that generates solar pow
er by using m

irrors or lenses to 
P

ow
er (C

S
P

) 
 

concentrate a large area of sunlight onto a receiver. 
 U

tility-S
cale Solar 

 
A

 group of interconnected solar panels/arrays that convert sunlight  
E

nergy S
ystem

 
 

into electricity for the prim
ary purpose of w

holesale or retail sales of 
generated electricity.  T

his definition does not apply to consum
er 

scale solar installations that are constructed prim
arily to provide 

pow
er for use on-site. 

 E
asem

en
t or L

ease 
 

A
 legal agreem

ent for the use of property for a specified purpose.  
 

O
rdinance #05-24-21-01 

P
age 2 

 F
eeder C

ircu
its/L

ines 
A

 pow
er line or netw

ork of lines used as a collection system
 that 

carries 
energy 

produced 
by 

a 
solar 

energy 
system

 
to 

an 
interconnection point like a substation.  F

eeder circuits are m
ost 

often placed underground.   
 In

tercon
nection

 
 

L
ink betw

een a generator of electricity and the electrical grid. 
 M

odu
le 

 
A

n individual unit com
posed of m

ultiple photovoltaic (P
V

) cells, 
w

ith m
ultiple m

odules used in a solar energy system
. 

 M
oun

ting 
 

T
he m

ethod of anchoring solar energy system
 m

odules to the ground 
or a building. 

 N
on-P

articip
ating 

 
A

ny landow
ner that has not signed a lease agreem

ent for an 
L

an
dow

ner 
 

easem
ent or lease w

ith the project ow
ner or developer, often adjacent 

to or near the project. 
 O

perator 
 

T
he entity or individual that operates a solar energy system

. 
 O

w
ner 

 
T

he entity or individual that has ow
nership over a solar energy 

system
. 

 Su
bstation

 
 

A
 

subsidiary 
station 

of 
electricity 

generation, 
transm

ission 
and 

distribution system
 w

here voltage is transform
ed from

 high to low
 or 

the reverse using transform
ers. 

 System
 H

eigh
t 

 
T

he height of a solar energy system
, usually referring to ground 

m
ounted system

s.  T
otal system

 height is the m
easurem

ent from
 the 

ground to the top of the m
ounting or m

odules associated w
ith a 

system
. 

 T
ransm

ission L
ines 

 
Pow

er lines used to carry electricity from
 collection system

s or 
substations over long distances. 

 SE
C

T
IO

N
 2. U

T
IL

IT
Y

-S
C

A
L

E
 SO

L
A

R
 E

N
E

R
G

Y
 SY

S
T

E
M

S 
 

2.1 
G

eneral R
equirem

en
ts. 

 
a. 

C
oncentratin

g Solar P
ow

er (C
S

P
) S

ystem
s.  C

oncentrating Solar Pow
er 

System
s shall be prohibited. 

 
b. 

Site P
lan

.  A
 site plan shall be subm

itted and review
ed prior to approval 

of a U
tility-Scale S

olar E
nergy System

.   
 

c. 
Sp

ecial U
se P

erm
it R

equ
ired.  A

 U
tility-Scale Solar E

nergy System
 is a 

Special P
erm

itted U
se in the A

-1 A
gricultural D

istrict and a perm
itted use 

in the I-1 L
ight Industrial and I-2 H

eavy Industrial D
istricts. 

 

112



O
rdinance #05-24-21-01 

P
age 3 

 

d. 
A

d
dition

al Inform
ation.  In addition to all subm

ittal requirem
ents of a 

site 
plan 

and 
S

pecial 
U

se 
Perm

it 
application 

(w
here 

required), 
the 

application for a utility-scale solar installation shall include the follow
ing 

inform
ation on the site plan or in narrative form

, supplied by utility-scale 
solar energy system

 ow
ner, operator or contractor installing the structures 

 
1. 

N
um

ber, location and spacing of solar panels/arrays. 
 2. 

Planned location of underground or overhead electric lines. 
 3. 

Project developm
ent tim

eline w
hich indicates how

 the applicant w
ill 

inform
 adjacent property ow

ners, persons in possession (tenants) and 
interested stakeholders in the com

m
unity. 

 4. 
Interconnection plan. 

 5. 
O

peration and m
aintenance plan. 

 6. 
D

ecom
m

issioning plan. 
 7. 

Site and structure requirem
ents. 

 F
or p

rojects 25 M
W

 or larger, the A
p

plication of C
ertificate, req

uired
 

by the Iow
a U

tilities B
oard, w

ill b
e considered acceptable to m

eet th
e 

ab
ove add

ition
al requ

irem
en

ts.  In cases w
here a Sp

ecial U
se P

erm
it is 

requ
ired, th

e cu
rren

t app
lication

 to th
e B

oard of A
d

justm
ent shall 

still b
e req

uired
. 

 
e. 

Setback
s.  S

etbacks for all structures (including solar arrays) shall be the 
sam

e as w
hat is required for residences in the A

-1 A
gricultural D

istrict 
unless the B

oard of A
djustm

ent finds that less is w
arranted.  A

ll structures 
shall observe listed setbacks in the I-1 and I-2 D

istricts.  N
o setbacks are 

required w
here a property line is shared by tw

o participating landow
ners.  

M
andated 

setback 
distances 

m
ay 

be 
w

aived 
w

ith 
the 

consent 
of 

participating landow
ners and adjacent property ow

ners. 
 

f. 
Screening.  A

 landscape buffer m
ay be required to be installed and 

m
aintained during the life of the operation if a S

pecial U
se P

erm
it is 

required.  D
eterm

ination of screening requirem
ents w

ill be m
ade by the 

B
oard of A

djustm
ent as part of the review

 and approval process and w
ill 

be based on adjacent or nearby surrounding land uses and topography. 
 

g. 
U

tility 
con

nection
s. 

 
R

easonable 
efforts 

shall 
be 

m
ade 

to 
place 

all 
connections 

w
ithin 

the 
solar 

installation 
underground, 

depending 
on 

appropriate soil conditions, shape and topography of the site, distance to 
the connection, or other conditions   

O
rdinance #05-24-21-01 

P
age 4 

 

or requirem
ents.  A

ll com
ponents used for the collection, conversion, and 

storage of energy shall be contained w
ithin the leased and fenced project 

area, excluding overhead and underground transm
ission lines. 

 
h. 

G
rad

ing p
lan.  A

 grading plan shall be subm
itted and shall include all 

proposed changes to the landscape of the site (e.g., clearing, grading, 
topographic changes, tree rem

oval, etc.) 
 

i. 
G

lare m
in

im
ization

.  A
ll solar panels shall be constructed to m

inim
ize 

glare or reflection onto adjacent properties and adjacent roadw
ays and 

m
ust not interfere w

ith traffic, including air traffic, or create a safety 
hazard. 

 
j. 

C
om

pliance w
ith

 local, state and federal regulation
s.  U

tility-scale 
solar installations shall com

ply w
ith applicable local, state and federal 

regulations. 
 

k. 
A

p
pu

rtenan
t structu

res.  A
ll appurtenant structures shall be subject to 

bulk and height regulations of structures in the applicable zoning district 
except w

here otherw
ise approved. 

 
l. 

F
lood

plain
 

con
sideration

s. 
 

U
tility-scale 

solar 
installations 

are 
considered to be m

axim
um

 dam
age potential structures and facilities for 

purposes 
of 

the 
floodplain 

district 
regulations. 

 
U

tility-scale 
solar 

installations are discouraged w
ithin the 1%

 S
pecial Flood H

azard A
rea 

(100 year floodplain), but m
ay be allow

ed subject to provisions of the 
M

uscatine C
ounty F

loodplain M
anagem

ent O
rdinance. 

 
m

. F
encing/secu

rity.  A
n N

E
C

 com
pliant security fence m

ust be installed 
along all exterior sides of the utility-scale solar energy system

 and be 
equipped w

ith a m
inim

um
 of one gate and locking m

echanism
 on the 

prim
ary access side.  Security fences, gates and w

arning signs m
ust be 

m
aintained in good condition until the utility-scale solar installation is 

dism
antled and rem

oved from
 the site. 

 
n. 

Signage.  S
ignage w

ith the follow
ing inform

ation shall be m
aintained at 

all locked entrance locations: 
 1. 

 





















 

2. 
N

am
e(s) and phone num

ber(s) for the electric utility provider; 
3. 

N
am

e(s) and phone num
ber(s) for the site operator; 

4. 
























 

5. 
A

 lockbox w
ith keys as needed. 

 
o. 

O
p

eration
 and

 m
ain

tenance plan.  T
he applicant shall subm

it a plan for 
the operation and m

aintenance of the solar installation, w
hich shall include 

m
easures for m

aintaining safe access to the installation, storm
w

ater and 

113



O
rdinance #05-24-21-01 

P
age 5 

 

erosion 
controls, 

as 
w

ell 
as 

general 
procedures 

for 
operation 

and 
m

aintenance of the installation. 
 

p. 
Soil erosion and

 sedim
en

t con
trol con

sid
eration

s.  T
he applicant agrees 

to conduct all roadw
ork and other site developm

ent w
ork in com

pliance 
w

ith a national pollutant discharge elim
ination system

 (N
P

D
E

S
) perm

it as 
required by the state departm

ent of natural resources and com
ply w

ith 
requirem

ents as detailed by local jurisdictional authorities during the plan 
subm

ittal.  If subject to N
P

D
E

S
 requirem

ents, the applicant m
ust subm

it 
the perm

it for review
 and com

m
ent and an erosion and sedim

ent control 
plan before beginning construction.  T

he plan m
ust include both general 







































both during and after construction and perm
anent drainage and erosion 

control m
easures to prevent dam

age to local roads or adjacent areas and to 
prevent sedim

ent laden run-off into w
aterw

ays. 
 

q. 
Storm

w
ater m

anagem
ent con

sideration
s.  F

or the purposes of pollutant 
rem

oval, storm
w

ater rate and runoff m
anagem

ent, flood reduction and 
associated im

pacts, the applicant shall provide a detailed analysis of pre- 
and 

post-developm
ent 

storm
w

ater 
runoff 

rates 
for 

review
 

by 
local 

jurisdictional authorities.  T
his requirem

ent m
ay be m

et by providing a 
copy of the 





































start of construction. 
 

r. 
G

rou
nd

 cover an
d bu

ffer areas.  G
round around and under solar arrays 

and 
in 

project 
site 

buffer 
areas 

shall 
be 

planted 
and 

m
aintained 

in 
perennial vegetated ground cover, and m

eet the follow
ing standards: 

 
1. 

T
op soil shall not be rem

oved during developm
ent, unless part of the 

rem
ediation effort. 

 2. 
Soils 

shall 
be 

planted 
and 

m
aintained 

in 
perennial 

vegetation 
to 

prevent erosion, m
anage run off and build soil.  Seeds should include a 

m
ix of grasses and w

ildflow
ers, ideally native to the region of the 

project site that w
ill result in a short stature prairie w

ith a diversity of 
forbs or flow

ering plants that bloom
 throughout the grow

ing season.  
B

loom
ing shrubs m

ay be used in buffer areas as appropriate for visual 
screening. 

 3. 
Seed 

m
ixes 

and 
m

aintenance 
practices 

should 
be 

consistent 
w

ith 
recom

m
endations m

ade by qualified natural resource professionals 
such as those from

 the D
epartm

ent of N
atural resources, C

ounty S
oil 

and W
ater C

onservation S
ervice or N

atural R
esource C

onservation 
S

ervice. 
 4. 

N
otification of the landow

ner, farm
 tenant and adjoining landow

ner 
shall be required and approval of the landow

ner secured prior to the 
com

pany enrolling the land in a C
andidate C

onservation agreem
ent or 

O
rdinance #05-24-21-01 

P
age 6 

 

H
abitat C

onservation Plan under the E
ndangered S

pecies A
ct.  T

he 
notification should include inform

ation about the size of the buffer 
areas to adjacent properties, a sum

m
ary of the agreem

ent or plan, and 
w

here the landow
ner, tenant or adjoining landow

ner m
ay obtain m

ore 
inform

ation. 
 

s. 
M

ain
ten

ance, repair or rep
lacem

ent of facility.  M
aintenance shall 

include, but not be lim
ited to, painting, structural repairs, and integrity of 

security m
easures.  Site access shall be m

aintained to a level acceptable to 
em

ergency response officials.  A
ny retrofit, replacem

ent or refurbishm
ent 

of 
equipm

ent 
shall 

adhere 
to 

all 
applicable 

local, 
state 

and 
federal 

requirem
ents. 

 
t. 

A
ccess R

equ
ired.  T

he Z
oning/B

uilding O
fficial and any other necessary 

personnel m
ay enter the property for w

hich a Special U
se or B

uilding 
Perm

it has been issued under this ordinance to conduct an inspection to 
determ

ine w
hether the conditions stated in the perm

it have been m
et as 

specified by statute, ordinance or code.  Failure to provide access shall be 
deem

ed a violation of this ordinance. 
 

 
2.2 

Infrastructu
re P

rotection
 and

 R
oad U

se A
greem

ents. 
 

A
 pre-construction plan w

ill be developed betw
een the system

 ow
ner, 

operator or 
contractor 

and 
M

uscatine 
C

ounty that addresses potential 
im

pacts to roads and other infrastructure from
 solar project construction as 

w
ell 

as post construction review
 to identify im

pacts and provide for 
repairs, prior to issuance of the building perm

it.  A
ll routes on C

ounty 
roads that w

ill be used for the construction and m
aintenance purposes 

shall be identified on the site plan.  A
ll routes for either ingress or egress 

shall be show
n.  Prior to issuance of a building perm

it, the developer m
ust 

com
plete and provide a pre-construction baseline survey/assessm

ent to 
determ

ine existing road conditions for assessing potential future dam
age 

due to developm
ental-related traffic.  P

rior to the issuance of the building 
perm

it, the developer shall provide a road repair plan to am
eliorate any 

and 
all 

dam
age, 

installation, 
or 

replacem
ent 

of 
roads 

that 
m

ight 
be 

required by the developer.  P
rior to the issuance of the building perm

it, the 
developer shall provide a letter of credit or surety bond in an am

ount and 
form

 approved by the appropriate road authority (s) w
hen w

arranted.  T
he 

provisions of this section shall be subject to approval by the M
uscatine 

C
ounty E

ngineer. 
 

 
2.3 

D
ecom

m
issioning an

d Site R
eclam

ation
 P

lan
. 

 
T

he application m
ust include a decom

m
issioning plan that describes the 

anticipated 
life 

of 
the 

utility-scale 
solar 

installation; 
the 

anticipated 
m

anner in w
hich the project w

ill be decom
m

issioned; the anticipated site 
restoration 

actions; 
the 

estim
ated 

decom
m

issioning 
costs 

in 
current 

114



O
rdinance #05-24-21-01 

P
age 7 

 

dollars; and the m
ethod for ensuring that funds w

ill be available for 
decom

m
issioning and restoration. 

 T
he 

applicant 
shall 

provide 
the 

basis 
for 

estim
ates 

of 
net 

costs 
for 

decom
m

issioning the site (decom
m

issioning costs less salvage value).  
T

he cost basis shall include a m
echanism

 for calculating adjusted costs 
over the life of the project. 
 R

estoration or reclam
ation activities shall include, but not be lim

ited to, 
the follow

ing: 
 1. 

R
estoration of the pre-construction surface grade and soil profile after 

rem
oval of structures, equipm

ent, graveled areas and access roads. 
2. 

R
e-vegetation of restored soil areas w

ith crops, native seed m
ixes, 





































control plan. 
 

For any part of the energy project on leased property, the plan m
ay 

incorporate 
agreem

ents 
w

ith 
the 

landow
ner 

regarding 
leaving 

access 
roads, 

fences, 
gates 

or 
repurposed 

buildings 
in 

place 
or 

regarding 
restoration of agricultural crops or forest resource land.  A

ny use of 
rem

aining structures m
ust be in conform

ance w
ith the regulations in effect 

at the tim
e. 

 A
fter 

the 
utility-scale 

solar 
installation 

is 
in 

service, 
follow

ing 
a 

continuous one-year period in w
hich no electricity is generated, or if 

substantial action on the project is discontinued for a period of one year, 
the perm

it holder w
ill have one year to com

plete decom
m

issioning of the 
utility-scale solar installation. 
 D

ecom
m

issioning shall be com
pleted in accordance w

ith the approved 
decom

m
issioning plan.  T

he ow
ner or operator of the system

 m
ust notify 

the C
ounty w

hen the project is discontinued. 
 

 
S

ection 2. 
A

m
endm

ents.  T
he M

uscatine C
ounty C

ode of O
rdinances, T

itle III Property/L
and 

U
se and D

evelopm
ent, C

hapter II Z
oning O

rdinance is am
ended by adoption of the 

follow
ing new

 subsections: 
  

A
rticle III, Section 3: 3.31 U

tility-Scale Solar E
nergy S

ystem
s 

  
A

rticle X
, Section 2: 2.8 U

tility-Scale S
olar E

nergy S
ystem

s 
 S

ection 3. 
S

everability.  If any section, provision, or part of this ordinance shall be adjudged 
invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall not affect the validity of the 
regulations as a w

hole or any section, provision, or part thereof not adjudged invalid 
or unconstitutional. 

 

O
rdinance #05-24-21-01 

P
age 8 

 Section 4.   E
ffective D

ate.  T
his ordinance shall take effect upon its publication as required by 

law
. 

 Section 5.   C
onflict w

ith Provisions.  A
ll ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict w

ith the 
provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 PA
SS

E
D

, A
P

PR
O

V
E

D
 A

N
D

 O
R

D
A

IN
E

D
 this 24th day of M

ay, 2021. 
 A

T
T

E
ST

: 
/s/T

ibe V
ander L

inden 
 

 
       /s/S

antos Saucedo, C
hairperson 

M
uscatine C

ounty A
uditor 

 
 

       M
uscatine C

ounty B
oard of S

upervisors 
 

115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



                                           

                                             S
C

O
T

T
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 N

O
. 2

2
 -0

4
 

A
N

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 T
O

 A
M

E
N

D
 P

O
R

T
IO

N
S

 O
F

 T
H

E
 Z

O
N

IN
G

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 F
O

R
 

U
N

IN
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 S

C
O

T
T

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 T
O

 C
R

E
A

T
E

 R
E

G
U

L
A

T
IO

N
S

 F
O

R
 A

 N
E

W
 

Z
O

N
IN

G
 D

IS
T

R
IC

T
, U

T
IL

IT
Y

 S
O

L
A

R
-F

L
O

A
T

IN
G

 “U
S

-F
”. D

IS
T

R
IC

T
. 

B
E

 IT
 E

N
A

C
T

E
D

 B
Y

 T
H

E
 B

O
A

R
D

 O
F

 S
U

P
E

R
V

IS
O

R
S

 O
F

 S
C

O
T

T
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 IO

W
A

: 

S
e

c
tio

n
 1

.  A
m

e
n
d

 S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

S
 o

f th
e

 Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

a
n
c
e
 fo

r U
n

in
c
o

rp
o

ra
te

d
 

S
c
o

tt C
o

u
n
ty

 b
y
 e

d
itin

g
: 

S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
(2

0
) T

h
e

 m
o

s
t c

u
rre

n
t o

ffic
ia

l in
d

e
x
 fo

r ra
n
k
in

g
 th

e
 p

ro
d

u
c
tiv

ity
 o

f s
o
ils

 
a

n
d

 th
e
ir s

u
ita

b
ility

 fo
r ro

w
-c

ro
p
 p

ro
d

u
c
tio

n
 in

 Io
w

a
. T

h
e
 C

S
R

2
 in

d
e

x
 h

a
s
 re

p
la

c
e

d
 C

S
R

 a
s
 

th
e
 s

y
s
te

m
 th

a
t ra

te
s
 s

o
ils

 fro
m

 fiv
e
 (5

) to
 o

n
e

 h
u

n
d

re
d
 (1

0
0
), w

ith
 o

n
e
 h

u
n
d

re
d

 (1
0

0
) 

re
s
e

rv
e

d
 fo

r th
o

s
e

 s
o
ils

 a
) lo

c
a
te

d
 in

 a
re

a
s
 o

f th
e

 m
o
s
t fa

v
o
ra

b
le

 w
e
a
th

e
r c

o
n
d

itio
n
s
 in

 
Io

w
a

, b
) th

a
t h

a
v
e
 h

ig
h
 y

ie
ld

 p
o
te

n
tia

l, a
n

d
 c

) th
a

t c
a

n
 b

e
 c

o
n

tin
u

o
u
s
ly

 ro
w

 c
ro

p
p

e
d
.  (A

 
d

e
ta

ile
d
 d

e
s
c
rip

tio
n

 o
f th

e
 C

S
R

2
 s

y
s
te

m
, in

c
lu

d
in

g
 m

e
th

o
d

o
lo

g
y
 a

n
d
 C

S
R

2
 e

s
tim

a
te

s
 fo

r 
v
a

rio
u

s
 s

o
il ty

p
e

s
, m

a
y
 b

e
 fo

u
n

d
 in

 p
u

b
lic

a
tio

n
s
 o

f th
e

 A
g
ric

u
ltu

ra
l E

x
te

n
s
io

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

, Io
w

a
 

S
ta

te
 U

n
iv

e
rs

ity
.) 

a
n

d
 a

d
d
in

g
: 

S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
(1

0
6

) S
O

L
A

R
 A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T
:  A

 re
c
o
rd

e
d

 e
a
s
e
m

e
n

t w
h

ic
h

 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 c

o
n

tin
u

e
d

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 to

 in
c
id

e
n
t s

u
n

lig
h

t n
e

c
e

s
s
a

ry
 to

 o
p

e
ra

te
 a

 s
o
la

r c
o
lle

c
to

r. 

S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
(1

0
7

) S
O

L
A

R
 A

R
R

A
Y

: A
 g

ro
u

p
 o

f s
o

la
r p

a
n

e
ls

 c
o

n
n
e
c
te

d
 to

g
e
th

e
r. 

S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
(1

0
8

) S
O

L
A

R
 E

N
E

R
G

Y
 G

E
N

E
R

A
T

IO
N

, C
O

N
S

U
M

E
R

 S
C

A
L
E

 A
 s

o
la

r 
e

n
e

rg
y
 s

y
s
te

m
 o

f in
te

rc
o
n
n
e

c
te

d
 s

o
la

r p
a

n
e

ls
/a

rra
y
s
 fo

r th
e
 p

rim
a

ry
 p

u
rp

o
s
e
 o

f m
e
e

tin
g

 
e

le
c
tric

a
l d

e
m

a
n

d
s
 a

t th
a

t lo
c
a

tio
n

. T
h

e
s
e
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 a

re
 ty

p
ic

a
lly

 in
te

n
d
e

d
 to

 o
ffs

e
t e

le
c
tric

a
l 

d
e
m

a
n
d

s
 fo

r th
e

 o
w

n
e

r a
n

d
 a

re
 n

o
t in

te
n
d

e
d

 to
 b

e
 n

e
t a

n
n

u
a
l g

e
n

e
ra

to
rs

 o
f e

le
c
tric

ity
. 

S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
(1

0
9

) S
O

L
A

R
 E

N
E

R
G

Y
 G

E
N

E
R

A
T

IO
N

, U
T

IL
IT

Y
-S

C
A

L
E

: A
 g

ro
u

p
 o

f 
 

in
te

rc
o
n

n
e
c
te

d
 s

o
la

r p
a
n

e
ls

/a
rra

y
s
 th

a
t c

o
n
v
e

rt s
u
n

lig
h

t in
to

 e
le

c
tric

ity
 fo

r th
e
 p

rim
a
ry

 
p

u
rp

o
s
e

 o
f w

h
o

le
s
a
le

 o
r re

ta
il s

a
le

s
 o

f g
e

n
e
ra

te
d

 e
le

c
tric

ity
. T

h
is

 d
e
fin

itio
n

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t a

p
p

ly
 to

 
c
o

n
s
u

m
e

r s
c
a

le
 s

o
la

r in
s
ta

lla
tio

n
s
 th

a
t a

re
 c

o
n

s
tru

c
te

d
 p

rim
a

rily
 to

 p
ro

v
id

e
 p

o
w

e
r fo

r u
s
e

 
o

n
-s

ite
. S

e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
(1

1
0

) S
O

L
A

R
 G

L
A

R
E

: T
h

e
 e

ffe
c
t p

ro
d
u

c
e
d

 b
y
 lig

h
t re

fle
c
tin

g
 fro

m
 a

 s
o

la
r 

p
a
n

e
l w

ith
 in

te
n

s
ity

 s
u

ffic
ie

n
t to

 c
a

u
s
e

 a
n
n

o
y
a
n
c
e

, d
is

c
o

m
fo

rt o
r lo

s
s
 in

 v
is

u
a
l p

e
rfo

rm
a

n
c
e
 

 
a

n
d
 v

is
ib

ility
. 

S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-5
(1

1
1

) S
O

L
A

R
 P

A
N

E
L
: A

 d
e
v
ic

e
 c

o
m

p
o
s
e
d

 o
f g

ro
u
p
s
 o

f in
d
iv

id
u

a
l s

o
la

r 
c
e

lls
 u

s
e

d
 to

 c
o

n
v
e
rt s

o
la

r e
n
e

rg
y
 in

to
 e

le
c
tric

a
l c

u
rre

n
t. 

S
e

c
tio

n
 2

. A
m

e
n

d
 th

e
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
a

n
c
e
 fo

r U
n

in
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 S

c
o

tt C
o

u
n
ty

 b
y
 a

d
d

in
g

 a
 n

e
w

 
C

h
a
p

te
r 6

-2
1
: 

6
-2

1
. “U

S
-F

” U
tility

 S
o

la
r-F

lo
a
tin

g
 D

is
tric

t 

A
. G

e
n
e

ra
l In

te
n

t: T
h
e
 U

S
-F

 F
lo

a
tin

g
 D

is
tric

t is
 in

te
n
d

e
d

 a
n

d
 d

e
s
ig

n
e

d
 to

 p
ro

v
id

e
 a

re
a
s
 fo

r 
u

tility
-s

c
a

le
 s

o
la

r e
n
e

rg
y
 g

e
n

e
ra

tio
n
 s

ite
s
. T

h
e
 a

d
o
p

te
d

 S
m

a
rt P

la
n
n

in
g
 O

b
je

c
tiv

e
s
 o

f th
e

 
S

c
o
tt C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

m
p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 P

la
n

 p
ro

m
o

te
 re

n
e

w
a

b
le

 e
n

e
rg

y
 u

s
e

 a
n
d

 in
c
re

a
s
e
d

 e
n

e
rg

y
 

e
ffic

ie
n
c
y
.   

P
rio

r to
 th

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n
t o

f a
n

y
 s

u
c
h

 d
is

tric
t, a

d
e

q
u

a
te

 in
fo

rm
a

tio
n

 s
h

a
ll b

e
 s

u
b

m
itte

d
 

re
g

a
rd

in
g
 th

e
 e

ffe
c
ts

 o
f th

e
 p

ro
p

o
s
e
d
 u

s
e

 u
p
o

n
 th

e
 a

d
jo

in
in

g
 p

ro
p
e

rty
 a

n
d

 a
re

a
, a

n
d
 o

th
e

r 
m

a
tte

rs
 re

la
tin

g
 to

 h
a
b

ita
t a

n
d
 n

a
tu

ra
l re

s
o

u
rc

e
 c

o
n

s
e

rv
a

tio
n

, p
re

s
e

rv
a

tio
n

 o
f p

rim
e

 
a

g
ric

u
ltu

ra
l la

n
d
, p

u
b
lic

 s
a

fe
ty

, p
u

b
lic

 h
e

a
lth

, a
n

d
 g

e
n
e
ra

l w
e
lfa

re
. It is

 n
o
t th

e
 in

te
n

t o
f th

is
 

o
rd

in
a

n
c
e
 to

 a
llo

w
 U

tility
-s

c
a
le

 s
o

la
r e

n
e

rg
y
 g

e
n

e
ra

tio
n

 s
ite

s
 o

n
 p

rim
e

 a
g
ric

u
ltu

ra
l la

n
d

. 

B
. P

rin
c
ip

a
l P

e
rm

itte
d

 U
s
e

s
: L

a
n

d
, b

u
ild

in
g

s
, o

r o
th

e
r in

fra
s
tru

c
tu

re
 m

a
y
 b

e
 u

s
e
d

 fo
r a

n
y
 o

f 
th

e
 fo

llo
w

in
g
, in

 s
o
 fa

r a
s
 th

e
 re

g
u
la

tio
n

s
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d
 in

 S
e

c
tio

n
s
 E

, F
, a

n
d

 G
 a

re
 m

e
t: 

1
. A

n
y
 u

s
e
 p

e
rm

itte
d

 in
 th

e
 u

n
d
e

rly
in

g
 (o

rig
in

a
l) z

o
n

in
g

 d
is

tric
t. 

2
. U

tility
-s

c
a
le

 s
o

la
r e

n
e
rg

y
 g

e
n
e

ra
tio

n
 s

ite
s
. 

C
. A

c
c
e

s
s
o

ry
 P

e
rm

itte
d
 U

s
e
s
: A

c
c
e
s
s
o

ry
 u

s
e

s
, s

tru
c
tu

re
s
, a

n
d

 o
th

e
r in

fra
s
tru

c
tu

re
 

c
u

s
to

m
a
rily

 in
c
id

e
n

ta
l to

 a
n

y
 p

e
rm

itte
d

 p
rin

c
ip

a
l u

s
e
. 

D
. S

p
e

c
ia

l P
e
rm

itte
d

 U
s
e

s
: N

o
n

e
. 

E
. T

h
e

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 Z

o
n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

n
d

 B
o
a

rd
 o

f S
u

p
e

rv
is

o
rs

 s
h
a

ll c
o

n
s
id

e
r th

e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 c

h
a

ra
c
te

ris
tic

s
 o

f a
n

y
 la

n
d

 b
e
in

g
 p

e
titio

n
e

d
 fo

r a
 re

z
o

n
in

g
 to

 a
 “U

S
-F

” F
lo

a
tin

g
 

D
is

tric
t:  

1
. P

re
s
e

n
t U

s
e
. 

2
. C

o
rn

 S
u
ita

b
ility

 R
a

tin
g

 (C
S

R
2

): N
o

 la
n
d

 s
h
a

ll b
e
 re

z
o

n
e

d
 to

 th
e

 “U
S

-F
” d

is
tric

t w
ith

 s
o

il 
th

a
t s

c
o
re

s
 a

n
 a

v
e

ra
g
e
 C

S
R

2
 s

c
o
re

 o
f 6

0
.0

 o
r h

ig
h

e
r. C

a
lc

u
la

tio
n

 o
f Io

w
a
 C

S
R

2
 ra

tin
g
s
 o

f a
 

s
p

e
c
ific

 a
re

a
 o

f la
n
d

 is
 s

tric
tly

 lim
ite

d
 to

 th
e
 fo

llo
w

in
g
: 

a
. A

v
e

ra
g

e
 C

S
R

2
 is

 to
 b

e
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d
 u

s
in

g
 c

u
rre

n
t S

o
il S

u
rv

e
y
 G

e
o
g

ra
p

h
ic

 D
a

ta
b

a
s
e
 

(S
S

U
R

G
O

) d
a

ta
 fu

rn
is

h
e

d
 b

y
 th

e
 U

n
ite

d
 S

ta
te

s
 D

e
p

a
rtm

e
n

t o
f A

g
ric

u
ltu

re
 N

a
tu

ra
l 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 C

o
n

s
e

rv
a
tio

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 (N
R

C
S

). 

b
. A

v
e

ra
g

e
 C

S
R

2
 is

 to
 b

e
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d
 u

s
in

g
 th

e
 D

e
c
is

io
n

 T
o
o

l “C
a
lc

u
la

tin
g
 a

 W
e
ig

h
te

d
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e

 C
S

R
2

” a
v
a

ila
b
le

 th
ro

u
g
h

 Io
w

a
 S

ta
te

 U
n

iv
e
rs

ity
 E

x
te

n
s
io

n
’s

 w
e

b
s
ite

 
(h

ttp
s
://w

w
w

.e
x
te

n
s
io

n
.ia

s
ta

te
.e

d
u
/a

g
d

m
/w

h
o

le
fa

rm
/h

tm
l/c

2
-8

7
.h

tm
l). 

c
. T

h
e

 A
re

a
 o

f In
te

re
s
t (A

O
I) e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 in

 “C
a
lc

u
la

tin
g

 a
 W

e
ig

h
te

d
 A

v
e
ra

g
e

 C
S

R
2

” 
m

u
s
t b

e
 d

e
lin

e
a
te

d
 to

 re
fle

c
t th

e
 p

re
c
is

e
, c

o
n

tig
u

o
u

s
 la

n
d

 a
re

a
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

e
d
 w

ith
 a

rra
y
s
, 

b
u
ild

in
g

s
, a

n
d

 u
tility

 a
n

d
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 in

fra
s
tru

c
tu

re
, a

n
d

 s
h

a
ll n

o
t in

c
lu

d
e

 la
n

d
 a

re
a

 s
e

t a
s
id

e
 fo

r 
c
o

n
s
e

rv
a

tio
n

 o
r a

g
ric

u
ltu

re
, o

r la
n

d
 o

th
e
rw

is
e
 u

n
d

is
tu

rb
e
d

 b
y
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t. 

d
. T

h
e

 A
O

I m
u

s
t b

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 a

n
d

 C
S

R
2

 m
u

s
t b

e
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d

 p
rio

r to
 th

e
 s

ta
rt o

f 
s
ite

 p
re

p
a
ra

tio
n

 w
o

rk
, in

c
lu

d
in

g
 g

ra
d
in

g
 o

r to
p
 s

o
il re

m
o

v
a

l o
r d

is
p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t. If s

ite
 

p
re

p
a

ra
tio

n
 w

o
rk

 is
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 p

rio
r to

 s
u
b

m
ittin

g
 a

n
 a

p
p
lic

a
tio

n
 fo

r re
z
o
n
in

g
, h

is
to

ric
a
l 

C
S

R
2

 d
a
ta

 m
a
y
 b

e
 u

tiliz
e
d

 to
 re

fle
c
t p

re
-d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t s
ite

 c
h

a
ra

c
te

ris
tic

s
. 

e
. T

h
e

 P
la

n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 Z

o
n

in
g
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

n
d

 B
o

a
rd

 o
f S

u
p

e
rv

is
o

rs
 s

h
a
ll c

o
n

s
id

e
r 

a
n
y
 A

O
I w

ith
 a

 W
e

ig
h

te
d
 A

v
e

ra
g

e
 C

S
R

2
 o

f 6
0

 o
r g

re
a
te

r a
s
 P

rim
e

 A
g
ric

u
ltu

ra
l L

a
n
d

. 

3
. A

c
c
e
s
s
/p

ro
x
im

ity
 o

f e
x
is

tin
g
 u

tility
 in

fra
s
tru

c
tu

re
 o

r o
th

e
r n

e
e

d
e

d
 in

fra
s
tru

c
tu

re
, a

s
 w

e
ll a

s
 

th
e
 fe

a
s
ib

ility
 o

f e
x
te

n
d
in

g
 s

u
c
h

 fa
c
ilitie

s
, if n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
. 

4
. P

a
rtic

u
la

r s
u

ita
b

ility
 o

r a
d

a
p
ta

b
ility

 o
f th

e
 la

n
d

 to
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a

te
 th

e
 p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 u

s
e

. 

F
. S

ite
 re

q
u

ire
m

e
n

ts
 fo

r re
z
o

n
in

g
 la

n
d

 to
 a

 “U
S

-F
” F

lo
a
tin

g
 D

is
tric

t: 

1
. F

lo
o

d
p

la
in

/F
lo

o
d
w

a
y
: N

o
 p

o
rtio

n
 o

f th
e

 s
ite

 p
ro

p
o

s
e

d
 to

 b
e

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
e

d
 m

a
y
 b

e
 lo

c
a

te
d
 in

 
a

 m
a

p
p
e
d

 1
0

0
-y

e
a
r o

r 5
0

0
-y

e
a

r flo
o

d
p

la
in

.  

2
. H

a
b

ita
t a

n
d

 N
a
tu

ra
l R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
 C

o
n
s
id

e
ra

tio
n
: T

h
e

 p
o
te

n
tia

l im
p
a

c
t o

n
 a

n
y
 

e
n
v
iro

n
m

e
n

ta
lly

-s
e

n
s
itiv

e
 a

re
a

s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 la

k
e

s
, p

o
n

d
s
, s

tre
a

m
s
, riv

e
rs

, w
e

tla
n

d
s
, s

te
e
p

 
s
lo

p
e

s
, a

q
u
ife

rs
 a

n
d

 re
c
h

a
rg

e
 a

re
a

s
, n

a
tu

ra
l w

o
o

d
e
d
 a

re
a

s
, p

ra
irie

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r w

ild
life

 
h

a
b

ita
ts

 s
h
a

ll b
e
 id

e
n

tifie
d
 a

n
d

 c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 fo

r re
a

s
o

n
a
b

le
 m

itig
a
tio

n
.  

3
. S

e
tb

a
c
k
s
: S

e
tb

a
c
k
s
 fo

r a
ll s

tru
c
tu

re
s
 (in

c
lu

d
in

g
 th

e
 s

o
la

r a
rra

y
s
 th

e
m

s
e

lv
e

s
) m

u
s
t a

d
h
e

re
 

to
 th

e
 m

in
im

u
m

 p
rin

c
ip

a
l s

e
tb

a
c
k
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

s
 fo

r th
e

 z
o

n
in

g
 d

is
tric

t w
h

e
re

 th
e

 p
ro

je
c
t is

 
lo

c
a
te

d
; g

re
a

te
r s

e
tb

a
c
k
s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d

e
d

 b
a

s
e
d

 o
n

 th
e

 a
p
p

lic
a

tio
n

.  

a
. A

ll b
u
ild

in
g

s
, a

c
c
e

s
s
o
ry

 b
u

ild
in

g
s
, a

n
d
 o

th
e
r in

fra
s
tru

c
tu

re
 s

h
a
ll b

e
 lo

c
a
te

d
 th

e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 d

is
ta

n
c
e

s
 fro

m
 th

e
 n

e
a

re
s
t b

o
u
n

d
a

ry
 o

f e
a
c
h

 z
o

n
in

g
 d

is
tric

t: 

A
-P

: 
         5

0
0

 fe
e

t 
A

-G
: 

         5
0

0
 fe

e
t 

R
-1

: 
      1

,0
0

0
 fe

e
t 

R
-2

:          1
,0

0
0

 fe
e
t 

C
A

D
-R

:     1
,0

0
0

 fe
e
t 

C
-1

: 
          1

0
0
 fe

e
t 

C
-2

: 
          n

/a
 

C
A

D
-P

V
C

:  1
0
0

 fe
e
t 

I: 
         n

/a
 

I-F
: 

         n
/a

 
S

W
-F

:          n
/a

 
 

124



b
. A

ll b
u
ild

in
g

s
, a

c
c
e

s
s
o
ry

 b
u

ild
in

g
s
, a

n
d
 o

th
e
r in

fra
s
tru

c
tu

re
 s

h
a
ll b

e
 lo

c
a
te

d
 1

,0
0
0

 
fe

e
t fro

m
 a

n
y
 re

s
id

e
n
tia

l d
w

e
llin

g
 u

n
it n

o
t w

ith
in

 in
 th

e
 la

n
d

 a
re

a
 le

a
s
e
d
 o

r o
w

n
e
d

 b
y
 th

e
 

a
p
p

lic
a
n

t. 

c
. W

h
e

n
 a

 s
o

la
r a

rra
y
 is

 to
 b

e
 b

u
ilt o

n
 tw

o
 o

r m
o

re
 p

a
rc

e
ls

 th
a
t a

re
 a

b
u

ttin
g

, a
 z

e
ro

 
(0

) s
id

e
 o

r re
a

r s
e

tb
a
c
k
 s

h
a

ll b
e
 p

e
rm

itte
d
 to

 th
e

 p
ro

p
e

rty
 lin

e
 in

 c
o

m
m

o
n
 w

ith
 th

e
 a

b
u
ttin

g
 

p
a
rc

e
ls

.  

4
. S

c
re

e
n

in
g

: A
d

e
q
u
a

te
 s

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

s
 s

h
a
ll b

e
 ta

k
e

n
 to

 fe
n
c
e
 o

r s
c
re

e
n
 a

n
y
 o

n
-s

ite
 h

a
z
a
rd

s
 

fro
m

 th
e

 p
u

b
lic

. A
 la

n
d

s
c
a
p

e
 b

u
ffe

r m
a

y
 b

e
 re

q
u
ire

d
 to

 b
e

 in
s
ta

lle
d

 a
n
d

 m
a

in
ta

in
e

d
. T

h
e
 

n
e
e

d
 fo

r s
c
re

e
n

in
g

 re
q

u
ire

m
e

n
ts

 w
ill b

e
 e

v
a

lu
a

te
d

 a
s
 p

a
rt o

f th
e

 re
v
ie

w
 b

y
 S

ta
ff a

n
d
 th

e
 

a
p
p

ro
v
a

l p
ro

c
e
s
s
 a

n
d

 w
ill b

e
 b

a
s
e
d

 o
n
 th

e
 s

u
rro

u
n

d
in

g
s
 o

f th
e

 s
ite

. 

5
. U

tility
 c

o
n

n
e

c
tio

n
s
: A

ll u
tility

 c
o
n

n
e
c
tio

n
s
 s

e
rv

in
g

 th
e

 s
o

la
r s

h
a

ll b
e
 p

la
c
e

d
 u

n
d

e
rg

ro
u
n
d

 
u

n
le

s
s
 to

p
o
g

ra
p

h
y
, s

o
il q

u
a

lity
, o

r o
th

e
r c

o
n
d

itio
n

s
 m

a
k
e
 th

is
 u

n
fe

a
s
ib

le
. 

6
. G

la
re

 m
in

im
iz

a
tio

n
: A

ll s
o

la
r p

a
n

e
ls

 m
u

s
t b

e
 c

o
n

s
tru

c
te

d
 to

 d
im

in
is

h
 g

la
re

 o
r re

fle
c
tio

n
 

o
n
to

 a
d
ja

c
e

n
t p

ro
p

e
rtie

s
 a

n
d

 a
d

ja
c
e
n

t ro
a

d
w

a
y
s
 a

n
d

 m
u
s
t n

o
t in

te
rfe

re
 w

ith
 tra

ffic
, in

c
lu

d
in

g
 

a
ir tra

ffic
, o

r c
re

a
te

 a
 s

a
fe

ty
 h

a
z
a

rd
. 

7
. C

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e

 w
ith

 lo
c
a
l, s

ta
te

, a
n
d

 fe
d
e

ra
l re

g
u

la
tio

n
s
: U

tility
 s

c
a

le
 s

o
la

r in
s
ta

lla
tio

n
s
 s

h
a

ll 
c
o

m
p
ly

 w
ith

 a
p
p

lic
a
b

le
 lo

c
a
l, s

ta
te

 a
n

d
 fe

d
e
ra

l re
g

u
la

tio
n

s
. 

8
. A

c
c
e
s
s
o

ry
 s

tru
c
tu

re
s
: A

ll a
c
c
e

s
s
o

ry
 s

tru
c
tu

re
s
 s

h
a
ll b

e
 s

u
b

je
c
t to

 b
u

lk
 a

n
d

 h
e
ig

h
t 

re
g

u
la

tio
n
s
 o

f s
tru

c
tu

re
s
 in

 th
e
 u

n
d
e

rly
in

g
 z

o
n

in
g

 d
is

tric
t, u

n
le

s
s
 s

p
e

c
ifie

d
 d

iffe
re

n
tly

 in
 th

e
 

re
z
o

n
in

g
 o

rd
in

a
n
c
e
. 

9
. S

ig
n
a

g
e
: N

o
 s

ig
n

s
 o

th
e

r th
a

n
 a

p
p

ro
p

ria
te

 w
a

rn
in

g
 s

ig
n

s
, o

r s
ta

n
d

a
rd

 s
ig

n
s
 fo

r o
p
e

ra
tio

n
 

o
r id

e
n

tific
a
tio

n
, s

h
a

ll b
e
 a

llo
w

e
d

. 

1
0
. F

e
n
c
in

g
/s

e
c
u

rity
: A

 s
e
c
u
rity

 fe
n

c
e

 m
u

s
t b

e
 in

s
ta

lle
d

 a
lo

n
g
 a

ll e
x
te

rio
r s

id
e

s
 o

f th
e

 u
tility

 
s
c
a
le

 s
o

la
r in

s
ta

lla
tio

n
 a

n
d
 b

e
 e

q
u

ip
p

e
d

 w
ith

 a
 m

in
im

u
m

 o
f o

n
e
 g

a
te

 a
n

d
 lo

c
k
in

g
 

m
e

c
h
a

n
is

m
 o

n
 th

e
 p

rim
a

ry
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 s

id
e
. S

e
c
u
rity

 fe
n

c
e

s
, g

a
te

s
 a

n
d

 w
a

rn
in

g
 s

ig
n
s
 m

u
s
t b

e
 

m
a

in
ta

in
e

d
 in

 g
o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
itio

n
 u

n
til th

e
 u

tility
 s

c
a

le
 s

o
la

r in
s
ta

lla
tio

n
 is

 d
e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
. 

1
1
. D

is
ru

p
tio

n
 to

 E
x
is

tin
g

 A
g
ric

u
ltu

ra
l O

p
e

ra
tio

n
s
: A

n
y
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t p
la

n
 m

u
s
t p

ro
v
id

e
 

d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ta

tio
n

 th
a
t th

e
 p

ro
je

c
t w

ill n
o
t n

e
g
a
tiv

e
ly

 a
ffe

c
t th

e
 o

p
e
ra

tio
n

 o
f e

x
is

tin
g
 a

g
ric

u
ltu

ra
l 

d
ra

in
a

g
e

 tile
s
 o

n
 a

d
ja

c
e

n
t p

ro
p

e
rtie

s
.  

a
. T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 m

a
y
 re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
 to

 th
e

 B
o
a
rd

 o
f S

u
p

e
rv

is
o
rs

 th
a

t a
n

 a
g

ric
u
ltu

ra
l 

n
u
is

a
n

c
e

 w
a
iv

e
r b

e
 in

c
lu

d
e
d

 w
ith

in
 th

e
 a

p
p
lic

a
tio

n
 if d

e
te

rm
in

e
d

 to
 b

e
 a

p
p

lic
a

b
le

. S
u

c
h

 
w

a
iv

e
r w

o
u
ld

 re
s
tric

t a
p
p

lic
a

n
ts

 fro
m

 filin
g

 la
w

s
u

its
 fo

r p
riv

a
te

 n
u

is
a
n

c
e

 a
g

a
in

s
t le

g
itim

a
te

 
a

g
ric

u
ltu

re
 o

p
e
ra

tio
n

s
 in

 th
e

 v
ic

in
ity

 o
f th

e
 s

o
la

r in
s
ta

lla
tio

n
. 

b
. F

a
rm

e
rs

 in
 A

-P
 o

r A
-G

 d
is

tric
ts

 a
d
ja

c
e
n
t to

 th
e

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 a
re

a
 to

 b
e
 re

z
o

n
e

d
 m

a
y
 

file
 a

 w
ritte

n
 re

q
u
e

s
t to

 th
e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 to

 c
o

n
s
id

e
r e

n
h

a
n

c
e

d
 s

e
tb

a
c
k
s
 fro

m
 th

e
ir z

o
n
in

g
 

d
is

tric
t b

o
u
n

d
a

ry
 o

f u
p
 to

 1
,0

0
0

 fe
e

t (s
e
e
 S

e
c
tio

n
 F

(3
)a

) to
 p

re
v
e

n
t d

is
ru

p
tio

n
 to

 th
e
ir 

a
g
ric

u
ltu

ra
l o

p
e

ra
tio

n
s
. T

h
e

 C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 m

a
y
 re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d

 to
 th

e
 B

o
a

rd
 o

f S
u

p
e
rv

is
o
rs

 th
a
t 

th
o
s
e
 re

q
u
e

s
ts

 b
e
 h

o
n

o
re

d
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 o

ffic
ia

l c
o

n
d

itio
n

s
 o

f re
z
o

n
in

g
 a

p
p

ro
v
a
l, a

n
d

 
in

c
lu

d
e
d

 in
 th

e
 o

rd
in

a
n

c
e

 to
 re

z
o

n
e

.  

G
. P

ro
c
e

d
u

re
 fo

r R
e
z
o

n
in

g
 L

a
n
d

 to
 “U

S
-F

” F
lo

a
tin

g
 D

is
tric

t: D
e

v
e

lo
p

e
r/la

n
d

o
w

n
e
r m

u
s
t 

a
p
p

ly
 to

 th
e

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 fo

r a
p

p
ro

v
a

l o
f a

 s
p

e
c
ific

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t p

la
n
 

in
v
o
lv

in
g

 o
n

e
 o

f th
e

 p
rin

c
ip

a
l p

e
rm

itte
d

 u
s
e

s
 lis

te
d

 in
 S

e
c
tio

n
 B

. T
h
e

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t p

la
n

 m
u
s
t 

in
c
lu

d
e
 a

 s
ite

 p
la

n
 fo

r th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t in
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

ith
 S

e
c
tio

n
 6

-2
9
 (S

ite
 P

la
n

 
R

e
g
u

la
tio

n
s
). T

h
e

 s
ta

n
d
a

rd
 re

z
o

n
in

g
 p

ro
c
e

d
u
re

s
 c

o
n
ta

in
e

d
 in

 S
e

c
tio

n
 6

-3
1

 (Z
o

n
in

g
 

A
m

e
n
d
m

e
n
t P

ro
c
e

d
u

re
s
) s

h
a

ll b
e

 fo
llo

w
e

d
, b

e
g

in
n

in
g
 w

ith
 th

e
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 a

n
d
 Z

o
n

in
g

 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 h

o
ld

in
g
 a

 p
u

b
lic

 h
e

a
rin

g
 fo

r re
z
o

n
in

g
 b

e
fo

re
 m

a
k
in

g
 a

 re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

tio
n

 to
 th

e
 

B
o

a
rd

 o
f S

u
p

e
rv

is
o
rs

. 

1
. D

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n

t P
la

n
 m

u
s
t in

c
lu

d
e

 th
e

 fo
llo

w
in

g
: 

a
. S

ite
 p

la
n
: S

ite
 p

la
n

 s
h

a
ll s

h
o

w
 th

e
 lo

c
a
tio

n
 a

n
d

 s
p

a
c
in

g
 o

f e
v
e
ry

 s
o

la
r p

a
n

e
l/a

rra
y
 

a
n
d

 a
ll o

th
e

r fa
c
ilitie

s
 to

 b
e

 c
o

n
s
tru

c
te

d
 

b
. G

ra
d

in
g
 p

la
n

: T
h

is
 p

la
n

 s
h

a
ll in

c
lu

d
e

 a
ll p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 c

h
a

n
g

e
s
 to

 th
e

 la
n

d
s
c
a
p

e
 o

f th
e

 
s
ite

 (e
.g

., c
le

a
rin

g
, g

ra
d

in
g

, to
p

o
g
ra

p
h

ic
 c

h
a
n

g
e

s
, tre

e
 re

m
o
v
a

l, e
tc

.). 

c
. U

tility
 p

la
n
: P

la
n

n
e
d

 lo
c
a
tio

n
 o

f a
ll u

tilitie
s
, in

c
lu

d
in

g
 u

n
d

e
rg

ro
u
n
d

 o
r o

v
e
rh

e
a

d
 

e
le

c
tric

 lin
e
s
. 

d
. P

ro
je

c
t tim

e
lin

e
: P

ro
je

c
t tim

e
lin

e
 s

h
o
w

in
g
 h

o
w

 th
e

 s
ite

 w
ill b

e
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

e
d
 fro

m
 

b
e
g

in
n

in
g

 to
 e

n
d

, in
c
lu

d
in

g
 h

o
w

 th
e

 a
p

p
lic

a
n

t w
ill in

fo
rm

 a
d

ja
c
e
n

t p
ro

p
e

rty
 o

w
n

e
rs

. 

e
. L

a
n

d
s
c
a

p
in

g
/S

c
re

e
n

in
g

 p
la

n
: P

la
n
n
e

d
 lo

c
a

tio
n

 o
f a

ll p
la

n
ts

 a
n

d
 s

c
re

e
n

in
g

. 

f. R
o
a

d
 Im

p
a

c
t A

n
a

ly
s
is

: A
n
 in

v
e

n
to

ry
 o

f th
e

 e
x
is

tin
g

 ro
a

d
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 to
 b

e
 u

tiliz
e

d
 fo

r 
c
o

n
s
tru

c
tio

n
 a

n
d

 m
a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e
 o

f th
e
 fa

c
ility

 a
n
d

 d
e

ta
ils

 o
n
 h

o
w

 th
e
 p

ro
je

c
t w

ill im
p

a
c
t th

o
s
e
 

ro
a

d
s
 o

v
e
r th

e
 life

 o
f th

e
 p

ro
je

c
t, in

c
lu

d
in

g
 d

u
rin

g
 in

s
ta

lla
tio

n
 a

n
d

 d
e

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
. 

g
. In

te
rc

o
n
n

e
c
tio

n
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t: P
ro

v
id

e
 th

e
 in

te
rc

o
n
n
e
c
tio

n
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n
t w

ith
 th

e
 u

tility
 

c
o

m
p
a

n
y
 

h
. In

s
ta

lla
tio

n
, o

p
e

ra
tio

n
, a

n
d

 m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

 p
la

n
: 

(1
) M

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

, re
p
a

ir o
r re

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t o

f fa
c
ility

: M
a
in

te
n

a
n
c
e

 s
h

a
ll c

o
n
s
is

t o
f, b

u
t 

n
o
t b

e
 lim

ite
d

 to
, re

p
a

irs
 to

 s
tru

c
tu

re
s
 o

r c
o

m
p
o

n
e
n

ts
, p

a
rt re

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t, p

a
in

tin
g

, a
n

d
 

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e
 o

f s
e

c
u

rity
 m

e
a

s
u

re
s
. A

ll a
p
p

lic
a
b

le
 lo

c
a
l, s

ta
te

 a
n
d

 fe
d

e
ra

l re
q
u

ire
m

e
n

ts
 

s
h

o
u
ld

 b
e

 fo
llo

w
e
d
 w

h
e
n
 m

a
in

ta
in

in
g
 o

r c
o

n
d
u

c
tin

g
 re

p
a
irs

 to
 th

e
 s

ite
. 

(2
) A

c
c
e

s
s
: S

h
o

w
 lo

c
a

tio
n

 o
f a

c
c
e
s
s
 e

a
s
e

m
e

n
ts

.  S
ite

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 s

h
a

ll b
e
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

 to
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 fo

r a
d

e
q
u

a
te

 m
a

in
te

n
a
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 e

m
e
rg

e
n

c
y
 re

s
p
o

n
d

e
rs

. 

(3
) S

o
il e

ro
s
io

n
 a

n
d
 s

e
d
im

e
n

t c
o

n
tro

l c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

tio
n

s
: T

h
e
 a

p
p

lic
a

n
t a

g
re

e
s
 to

 
c
o

n
d
u

c
t a

ll ro
a

d
w

o
rk

 a
n

d
 o

th
e
r s

ite
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n

t w
o
rk

 in
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 w

ith
 a

 n
a

tio
n
a

l 
p

o
llu

ta
n
t d

is
c
h

a
rg

e
 e

lim
in

a
tio

n
 s

y
s
te

m
 (N

P
D

E
S

) p
e
rm

it a
s
 re

q
u

ire
d
 b

y
 th

e
 s

ta
te

 d
e
p

a
rtm

e
n

t 
o

f n
a

tu
ra

l re
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
p

ly
 w

ith
 re

q
u

ire
m

e
n
ts

 a
s
 d

e
ta

ile
d

 b
y
 lo

c
a
l ju

ris
d

ic
tio

n
a

l 
a

u
th

o
ritie

s
 d

u
rin

g
 th

e
 p

la
n
 s

u
b
m

itta
l. If s

u
b

je
c
t to

 N
P

D
E

S
 re

q
u
ire

m
e
n

ts
, th

e
 a

p
p
lic

a
n

t m
u
s
t 

s
u

b
m

it th
e

 p
e
rm

it fo
r re

v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
e
n

t, a
n

d
 a

n
 e

ro
s
io

n
 a

n
d
 s

e
d

im
e
n

t c
o

n
tro

l p
la

n
 b

e
fo

re
 

b
e
g

in
n

in
g

 c
o
n

s
tru

c
tio

n
. T

h
e

 p
la

n
 m

u
s
t in

c
lu

d
e
 b

o
th

 g
e

n
e

ra
l "b

e
s
t m

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t p

ra
c
tic

e
s
" 

fo
r te

m
p

o
ra

ry
 e

ro
s
io

n
 a

n
d

 s
e

d
im

e
n

t c
o

n
tro

l b
o

th
 d

u
rin

g
 a

n
d
 a

fte
r c

o
n
s
tru

c
tio

n
 a

n
d

 
p

e
rm

a
n
e
n
t d

ra
in

a
g
e

 a
n

d
 e

ro
s
io

n
 c

o
n
tro

l m
e

a
s
u

re
s
 to

 p
re

v
e

n
t d

a
m

a
g

e
 to

 lo
c
a
l ro

a
d

s
 o

r 
a

d
ja

c
e

n
t a

re
a
s
 a

n
d

 to
 p

re
v
e

n
t s

e
d
im

e
n
t-la

d
e

n
 ru

n
-o

ff in
to

 w
a
te

rw
a
y
s
. 

(4
) S

to
rm

w
a

te
r m

a
n

a
g
e

m
e
n

t:  T
h

e
 p

la
n
 s

h
a

ll in
c
lu

d
e

 d
e

ta
ils

 o
n

 s
to

rm
w

a
te

r ra
te

 a
n

d
 

ru
n

o
ff m

a
n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t a
s
 w

e
ll a

s
 p

o
llu

ta
n

t re
m

o
v
a

l a
n

d
 flo

o
d

 re
d

u
c
tio

n
. T

h
e
 a

p
p

lic
a

n
t s

h
a

ll 
in

c
lu

d
e
 a

 d
e
ta

ile
d
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f p

re
- a

n
d
 p

o
s
t-d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t s

to
rm

w
a

te
r ru

n
o

ff ra
te

s
 fo

r re
v
ie

w
. 

S
u

c
h

 re
v
ie

w
 w

ill in
c
o

rp
o
ra

te
 a

p
p

ro
p
ria

te
 s

to
rm

w
a

te
r m

a
n
a
g
e

m
e

n
t p

ra
c
tic

e
s
 a

s
 re

q
u

ire
d
 b

y
 

th
e
 C

o
u

n
ty

 E
n
g

in
e

e
r, th

e
 S

c
o
tt C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o

d
e
 o

f O
rd

in
a

n
c
e

s
 a

n
d

 a
n
y
 S

ta
te

 o
f Io

w
a

 b
e
s
t 

p
ra

c
tic

e
s
.  T

h
e

 p
la

n
 s

h
a
ll in

c
lu

d
e

 d
e

te
n
tio

n
 o

f s
p

e
c
ifie

d
 ra

in
fa

ll e
v
e

n
ts

, a
n
d
 in

filtra
tio

n
 

c
o

m
p
o

n
e

n
ts

 c
o

n
s
is

te
n
t w

ith
 p

ra
c
tic

e
s
 a

s
 d

e
ta

ile
d

 in
 th

e
 s

ta
te

 s
to

rm
w

a
te

r m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
m

a
n

u
a

l.   

(5
) G

ro
u

n
d

 c
o

v
e

r a
n

d
 b

u
ffe

r a
re

a
s
: G

ro
u
n

d
 a

ro
u

n
d

 a
n
d
 u

n
d

e
r s

o
la

r a
rra

y
s
 a

n
d

 in
 

p
ro

je
c
t s

ite
 b

u
ffe

r a
re

a
s
 s

h
a

ll b
e

 p
la

n
te

d
 a

n
d

 m
a

in
ta

in
e

d
 in

 p
e

re
n

n
ia

l v
e
g
e

ta
te

d
 g

ro
u

n
d

 
c
o

v
e

r, a
n

d
 m

e
e

t th
e

 fo
llo

w
in

g
 s

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
: 

a
. T

o
p

 s
o

ils
 s

h
a
ll n

o
t b

e
 re

m
o

v
e

d
 d

u
rin

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t, u
n

le
s
s
 p

a
rt o

f a
 re

m
e

d
ia

tio
n

 
e

ffo
rt. 

b
. S

o
ils

 s
h

a
ll b

e
 p

la
n

te
d

 a
n

d
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d
 in

 p
e

re
n

n
ia

l v
e

g
e

ta
tio

n
 fo

r th
e

 fu
ll 

o
p

e
ra

tio
n

a
l life

 o
f th

e
 p

ro
je

c
t to

 p
re

v
e
n

t e
ro

s
io

n
, m

a
n

a
g
e

 ru
n
o

ff a
n
d

 b
u
ild

 s
o
il. S

e
e
d

s
 

s
h

o
u

ld
 in

c
lu

d
e
 a

 m
ix

 o
f g

ra
s
s
e

s
 a

n
d
 w

ild
flo

w
e
rs

 n
a
tiv

e
 to

 th
e
 re

g
io

n
 o

f th
e

 p
ro

je
c
t 

s
ite

 th
a

t w
ill re

s
u

lt in
 a

 s
h

o
rt s

ta
tu

re
 p

ra
irie

 w
ith

 a
 d

iv
e

rs
ity

 o
f fo

rb
s
 o

r flo
w

e
rin

g
 p

la
n

ts
 

th
a
t b

lo
o

m
 th

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t th
e

 g
ro

w
in

g
 s

e
a

s
o
n

. B
lo

o
m

in
g

 s
h

ru
b

s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 u

s
e

d
 in

 b
u
ffe

r 
a

re
a
s
 a

s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ria

te
 fo

r v
is

u
a

l s
c
re

e
n
in

g
. N

o
n

-n
a

tiv
e

 o
r n

a
tu

ra
liz

e
d

 s
p

e
c
ie

s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 

s
e

le
c
tiv

e
ly

 p
la

n
te

d
 fo

r m
a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

 p
u

rp
o

s
e
s
 a

s
 p

a
rt o

f a
n

 a
p
p
ro

v
e

d
 s

ite
 p

la
n

. 

c
. S

e
e

d
 m

ix
e

s
 a

n
d
 m

a
in

te
n
a

n
c
e

 p
ra

c
tic

e
s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e

 c
o
n

s
is

te
n
t w

ith
 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n
d
a

tio
n
s
 m

a
d
e

 b
y
 q

u
a
lifie

d
 n

a
tu

ra
l re

s
o

u
rc

e
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

ls
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 th

o
s
e
 

fro
m

 th
e
 D

e
p

a
rtm

e
n

t o
f N

a
tu

ra
l R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
, C

o
u

n
ty

 S
o

il a
n

d
 W

a
te

r C
o

n
s
e
rv

a
tio

n
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
, o

r N
a
tu

ra
l R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
 C

o
n
s
e

rv
a

tio
n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
. 

d
. P

la
n

t m
a

te
ria

l m
u

s
t n

o
t h

a
v
e

 b
e
e
n
 tre

a
te

d
 w

ith
 s

y
s
te

m
ic

 in
s
e

c
tic

id
e
s
, p

a
rtic

u
la

rly
 

n
e

o
n

ic
o

tin
o

id
s
. 

e
. O

th
e
r p

ra
c
tic

e
s
, s

u
c
h

 a
s
 s

m
a
ll-s

c
a
le

 fa
rm

in
g

 o
r g

ra
z
in

g
, m

a
y
 b

e
 a

llo
w

e
d
 in

 th
e

 
p

ro
je

c
t a

re
a

 a
s
 p

a
rt o

f th
e

 c
o
n

d
itio

n
s
 o

f a
p
p
ro

v
a

l fo
r th

e
 p

ro
je

c
t. 

(6
) C

le
a

n
in

g
 c

h
e

m
ic

a
ls

 a
n

d
 s

o
lv

e
n

ts
: D

u
rin

g
 o

p
e

ra
tio

n
 o

f th
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
e

d
 in

s
ta

lla
tio

n
, 

a
ll c

h
e
m

ic
a
ls

 o
r s

o
lv

e
n

ts
 u

s
e

d
 to

 c
le

a
n

 p
h
o
to

v
o

lta
ic

 p
a

n
e
ls

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 lo

w
 in

 v
o

la
tile

 o
rg

a
n

ic
 

125



c
o

m
p
o

u
n
d

s
 a

n
d

 th
e
 o

p
e
ra

to
r s

h
o
u

ld
 u

s
e
 re

c
y
c
la

b
le

 o
r b

io
d
e

g
ra

d
a
b

le
 p

ro
d

u
c
ts

 to
 th

e
 e

x
te

n
t 

p
o
s
s
ib

le
. A

n
y
 o

n
-s

ite
 s

to
ra

g
e
 o

f c
h

e
m

ic
a

ls
 o

r s
o

lv
e
n

ts
 s

h
a

ll b
e
 re

fe
re

n
c
e

d
.   

i. D
e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 p

la
n

:  

(1
) T

h
e

 a
p
p

lic
a

tio
n

 m
u

s
t in

c
lu

d
e
 a

 d
e

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 p

la
n
 th

a
t d

e
s
c
rib

e
s
 th

e
 

a
n
tic

ip
a

te
d

 life
 o

f th
e

 u
tility

 s
c
a
le

 s
o

la
r in

s
ta

lla
tio

n
; th

e
 a

n
tic

ip
a

te
d
 m

a
n
n

e
r in

 w
h
ic

h
 th

e
 

p
ro

je
c
t w

ill b
e
 d

e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d

, in
c
lu

d
in

g
 p

la
n

s
 to

 re
c
y
c
le

 c
o

m
p
o

n
e

n
ts

; th
e

 a
n

tic
ip

a
te

d
 s

ite
 

re
s
to

ra
tio

n
 a

c
tio

n
s
; th

e
 e

s
tim

a
te

d
 d

e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 c

o
s
ts

 in
 c

u
rre

n
t d

o
lla

rs
; a

n
d

 th
e
 m

e
th

o
d

 
fo

r e
n

s
u

rin
g

 th
a
t fu

n
d

s
 w

ill b
e

 a
v
a

ila
b
le

 fo
r d

e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 re
s
to

ra
tio

n
. 

(2
) T

h
e

 a
p
p

lic
a

n
t s

h
a
ll p

ro
v
id

e
 th

e
 b

a
s
is

 fo
r e

s
tim

a
te

s
 o

f n
e
t c

o
s
ts

 fo
r 

d
e
c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 th

e
 s

ite
 (d

e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 c

o
s
ts

 le
s
s
 s

a
lv

a
g

e
 v

a
lu

e
). T

h
e

 c
o

s
t b

a
s
is

 s
h

a
ll 

in
c
lu

d
e
 a

 m
e

c
h
a

n
is

m
 fo

r c
a

lc
u

la
tin

g
 a

d
ju

s
te

d
 c

o
s
ts

 o
v
e

r th
e

 life
 o

f th
e
 p

ro
je

c
t. 

(3
) R

e
s
to

ra
tio

n
 o

r re
c
la

m
a

tio
n

 a
c
tiv

itie
s
 s

h
a
ll in

c
lu

d
e

, b
u

t n
o
t b

e
 lim

ite
d

 to
, th

e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
: 

a
. R

e
s
to

ra
tio

n
 o

f th
e

 p
re

-c
o

n
s
tru

c
tio

n
 s

u
rfa

c
e

 g
ra

d
e

 a
n
d

 s
o

il p
ro

file
 a

fte
r re

m
o

v
a

l o
f 

s
tru

c
tu

re
s
, e

q
u
ip

m
e

n
t, g

ra
v
e

le
d

 a
re

a
s
 a

n
d

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 ro

a
d

s
. 

b
. R

e
-v

e
g

e
ta

tio
n

 o
f re

s
to

re
d
 s

o
il a

re
a

s
 w

ith
 c

ro
p

s
, n

a
tiv

e
 s

e
e

d
 m

ix
e

s
, n

a
tiv

e
 tre

e
 

s
p

e
c
ie

s
, p

la
n
t s

p
e

c
ie

s
 s

u
ita

b
le

 to
 th

e
 a

re
a

, c
o

n
s
is

te
n

t w
ith

 th
e

 c
o

u
n
ty

's
 w

e
e
d
 c

o
n
tro

l 
p

la
n
. 

c
. F

o
r a

n
y
 p

a
rt o

f th
e

 e
n
e

rg
y
 p

ro
je

c
t o

n
 le

a
s
e
d

 p
ro

p
e
rty

, th
e

 p
la

n
 m

a
y
 in

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

a
g

re
e

m
e

n
ts

 w
ith

 th
e

 la
n
d
o

w
n

e
r re

g
a

rd
in

g
 le

a
v
in

g
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 ro

a
d

s
, fe

n
c
e
s
, g

a
te

s
 o

r 
re

p
u
rp

o
s
e
d

 b
u

ild
in

g
s
 in

 p
la

c
e

 o
r re

g
a

rd
in

g
 re

s
to

ra
tio

n
 o

f a
g

ric
u

ltu
ra

l c
ro

p
s
 o

r fo
re

s
t 

re
s
o

u
rc

e
 la

n
d

. A
n

y
 u

s
e

 o
f re

m
a

in
in

g
 s

tru
c
tu

re
s
 m

u
s
t b

e
 in

 c
o
n

fo
rm

a
n
c
e

 w
ith

 th
e
 

re
g

u
la

tio
n
s
 in

 e
ffe

c
t a

t th
a

t tim
e

. 

d
. F

o
llo

w
in

g
 a

 c
o

n
tin

u
o
u

s
 o

n
e

-y
e

a
r p

e
rio

d
 in

 w
h

ic
h
 n

o
 e

le
c
tric

ity
 is

 g
e

n
e

ra
te

d
, o

r if 
s
u

b
s
ta

n
tia

l a
c
tio

n
 o

n
 th

e
 p

ro
je

c
t is

 d
is

c
o
n

tin
u

e
d
 fo

r a
 p

e
rio

d
 o

f o
n
e

 y
e
a

r, th
e
 p

e
rm

it 
h

o
ld

e
r w

ill h
a
v
e
 o

n
e

 y
e

a
r to

 c
o
m

p
le

te
 d

e
c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 o

f th
e
 u

tility
 s

c
a

le
 s

o
la

r 
in

s
ta

lla
tio

n
. D

e
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 s

h
a

ll b
e

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 in

 a
c
c
o

rd
a
n

c
e
 w

ith
 th

e
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 

d
e

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 p

la
n
. T

h
e
 la

n
d

 o
w

n
e

r o
r te

n
a

n
t m

u
s
t n

o
tify

 th
e
 c

o
u

n
ty

 w
h

e
n

 th
e
 

p
ro

je
c
t is

 d
is

c
o
n
tin

u
e
d
.  

e
. A

n
y
 c

ita
tio

n
s
 a

n
d

/o
r fin

e
s
 le

v
e

ra
g

e
d

 b
y
 th

e
 C

o
u
n

ty
 in

 re
s
p
o

n
s
e

 to
 a

 fa
ilu

re
 to

 
e

x
e

c
u

te
 th

e
 a

p
p

ro
v
e
d

 d
e

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 p

la
n

 a
s
 d

e
s
c
rib

e
d

 in
 s

u
b
s
e
c
tio

n
 d

 a
b

o
v
e

 
s
h

a
ll b

e
 le

v
e

ra
g
e

d
 a

g
a

in
s
t th

e
 a

p
p
lic

a
n

t.  

2
. D

e
v
e

lo
p
e

r/la
n

d
o
w

n
e

r m
u
s
t a

p
p
ly

 fo
r a

ll S
ta

te
, fe

d
e
ra

l, a
n
d

 o
th

e
r re

q
u

ire
d

 p
e
rm

its
 fo

r th
e

 
p

ro
p
o

s
e

d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t a
n

d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 c

o
p

ie
s
 o

f th
e

 a
p
p
lic

a
tio

n
s
 fo

r re
v
ie

w
. 

3
. T

h
e

 B
o
a

rd
 o

f S
u

p
e

rv
is

o
rs

 w
ill re

c
e
iv

e
 th

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
’s

 re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

tio
n

, a
s
 w

e
ll a

s
 

in
fo

rm
a

tio
n

 re
c
e

iv
e
d

 d
u
rin

g
 th

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
’s

 p
u

b
lic

 h
e

a
rin

g
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
, a

n
d

 w
ill h

o
ld

 a
 p

u
b

lic
 

h
e
a

rin
g

 in
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e

 w
ith

 S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-3
1

 (Z
o

n
in

g
 A

m
e
n

d
m

e
n

t P
ro

c
e

d
u

re
s
). B

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 th

e
 

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
’s

 re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

tio
n

, C
o
u
n

ty
 s

ta
ff c

o
m

m
e

n
ts

, a
 re

v
ie

w
 o

f th
e
 re

q
u

ire
d

 S
ta

te
, 

fe
d
e

ra
l, a

n
d
 o

th
e

r re
q
u

ire
d
 p

e
rm

its
, a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 fro

m
 th

e
 a

p
p

lic
a

n
t a

n
d

 th
e

 p
u
b
lic

, th
e

 
B

o
a
rd

 m
a

y
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

 o
r d

e
n

y
 th

e
 a

p
p

lic
a

tio
n

. If a
p

p
ro

v
e

d
, th

e
 s

ite
 p

la
n

 a
p

p
ro

v
a

l c
o
n

d
itio

n
s
 

(S
e
c
tio

n
 6

-2
9

) w
ill b

e
 in

c
lu

d
e

d
 w

ith
 th

e
 o

rd
in

a
n
c
e
 c

h
a

n
g

in
g
 th

e
 z

o
n
in

g
. F

in
a

l C
o

u
n

ty
 

a
p
p

ro
v
a

l is
 c

o
n
tin

g
e

n
t o

n
 S

ta
te

, F
e
d

e
ra

l, o
r o

th
e

r p
e

rm
it a

p
p

ro
v
a

l a
s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 re

q
u

ire
d

. 

4
. If th

e
 a

p
p

lic
a

tio
n
 is

 a
d

o
p

te
d
 b

y
 th

e
 B

o
a

rd
 o

f S
u
p

e
rv

is
o

rs
, th

e
 d

e
p

a
rtm

e
n

t s
ta

ff s
h
a

ll 
u

p
d

a
te

 th
e
 z

o
n

in
g
 m

a
p
 to

 s
h

o
w

 th
e

 s
p

e
c
ific

 lo
c
a
tio

n
 o

f th
e

 “U
S

-F
” D

is
tric

t, in
c
lu

d
in

g
 th

e
 

re
q

u
ire

d
 s

e
p
a
ra

tio
n

 s
p

a
c
in

g
 to

 o
th

e
r z

o
n
in

g
 d

is
tric

ts
. 

H
. M

in
im

u
m

 L
o
t A

re
a
, L

o
t W

id
th

, S
e
tb

a
c
k
, a

n
d
 M

a
x
im

u
m

 H
e

ig
h

t R
e
q

u
ire

m
e
n
ts

: T
h

e
 lo

t 
a

re
a
, b

u
ild

in
g
 a

n
d
 s

tru
c
tu

re
 s

e
tb

a
c
k
s
 a

n
d

 h
e
ig

h
ts

 o
f b

u
ild

in
g

s
, s

tru
c
tu

re
s
, o

r o
th

e
r 

in
fra

s
tru

c
tu

re
 w

ill b
e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d

 a
n
d
 a

p
p

ro
v
e
d

 th
ro

u
g

h
 th

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

 s
ite

 p
la

n
 re

v
ie

w
 

p
ro

c
e

d
u

re
s
 (S

e
c
tio

n
 6

-2
9

). 

I. C
o
n

s
u

m
e

r-S
c
a

le
 S

o
la

r E
n

e
rg

y
 G

e
n
e

ra
tio

n
: C

e
rta

in
 s

m
a

lle
r-s

c
a

le
 s

o
la

r e
n

e
rg

y
 g

e
n
e
ra

tio
n

 
p

ro
je

c
ts

, s
u
c
h

 a
s
 ro

o
f-m

o
u

n
te

d
 a

rra
y
s
 a

n
d

 s
m

a
ll g

ro
u

n
d

-m
o
u

n
te

d
 s

o
la

r fie
ld

s
, a

re
 e

x
e

m
p

t 
fro

m
 th

e
 re

g
u

la
tio

n
s
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 in

 th
is

 s
e

c
tio

n
. S

o
la

r e
n

e
rg

y
 g

e
n
e
ra

tio
n

 p
ro

je
c
ts

 s
h
a

ll b
e

 
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 “c

o
n

s
u

m
e
r-s

c
a
le

” a
n

d
 e

x
e

m
p

t fro
m

 S
e

c
tio

n
 6

-2
1

 w
h

e
n
 th

e
y
 m

e
e

t a
ll o

f th
e

 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 c
rite

ria
: 

1
. B

u
ild

in
g
 a

n
d

 s
tru

c
tu

re
 s

e
tb

a
c
k
s
 a

n
d

 h
e
ig

h
ts

 o
f b

u
ild

in
g

s
, s

tru
c
tu

re
s
, o

r o
th

e
r 

in
fra

s
tru

c
tu

re
 m

e
e

t th
e
 re

q
u

ire
m

e
n
ts

 e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 fo

r a
c
c
e
s
s
o

ry
 b

u
ild

in
g

s
 in

 th
e

 a
p

p
lic

a
b

le
 

z
o

n
in

g
 d

is
tric

t. 

2
. T

h
e

 g
e

n
e

ra
tio

n
 s

y
s
te

m
 is

 a
n

 a
c
c
e

s
s
o
ry

 u
s
e

 to
 a

 p
e

rm
itte

d
 p

rin
c
ip

a
l u

s
e

 in
 th

e
 a

p
p
lic

a
b
le

 
z
o

n
in

g
 d

is
tric

t. 

S
e

c
tio

n
 3

. T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

 A
u
d
ito

r is
 d

ire
c
te

d
 to

 re
c
o

rd
 th

is
 o

rd
in

a
n
c
e

 in
 th

e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 R
e

c
o

rd
e

r's
 

O
ffic

e
. 

S
e

c
tio

n
 4

.  S
e

v
e

ra
b

ility
 C

la
u

s
e
. If a

n
y
 o

f th
e

 p
ro

v
is

io
n

s
 o

f th
is

 O
rd

in
a

n
c
e

 a
re

 fo
r a

n
y
 re

a
s
o

n
 

ille
g
a

l o
r v

o
id

, th
e

n
 th

e
 la

w
fu

l p
ro

v
is

io
n
s
 o

f th
e

 O
rd

in
a

n
c
e

, w
h

ic
h

 a
re

 s
e
p

a
ra

te
 fro

m
 s

a
id

 
u

n
la

w
fu

l p
ro

v
is

io
n

s
 s

h
a

ll b
e

 a
n

d
 re

m
a
in

 in
 fu

ll fo
rc

e
 a

n
d

 e
ffe

c
t, th

e
 s

a
m

e
 a

s
 if th

e
 O

rd
in

a
n

c
e

 
c
o

n
ta

in
e

d
 n

o
 ille

g
a

l o
r v

o
id

 p
ro

v
is

io
n

s
. 

S
e

c
tio

n
 5

.  R
e
p

e
a
le

r. A
ll o

rd
in

a
n

c
e

s
 o

r p
a

rt o
f o

rd
in

a
n
c
e

s
 in

 c
o

n
flic

t w
ith

 th
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 O

rd
in

a
n

c
e

 a
re

 h
e
re

b
y
 re

p
e
a

le
d
. 

S
e

c
tio

n
 6

.  E
ffe

c
tiv

e
 D

a
te

. T
h
is

 O
rd

in
a
n

c
e

 s
h

a
ll b

e
 in

 fu
ll fo

rc
e

 a
n

d
 e

ffe
c
t a

fte
r its

 fin
a

l 
p

a
s
s
a

g
e

 a
n

d
 p

u
b
lic

a
tio

n
 a

s
 b

y
 la

w
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

. 

 
P

u
b
lic H

earin
g
 / F

irst C
o
n

sid
eratio

n
: A

u
g
u
st 1

8
, 2

0
2

2
, 

 S
eco

n
d
 C

o
n

sid
eratio

n
: S

ep
tem

b
er 1

, 2
0

2
2
, 

 T
h
ird

 C
o
n

sid
eratio

n
: S

ep
tem

b
er 1

5
, 2

0
2
2

, 
     

K
en

 B
eck

, C
h
air 

S
co

tt C
o

u
n
ty

 B
o

ard
 o

f S
u
p

erv
iso

rs 

   

A
ttested

 b
y
:   

 
 

K
erri T

o
m

p
k

in
s, C

o
u
n
ty

 A
u
d
ito

r 

 

P
u
b

lish
ed

 o
n
   

 

126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135


	1) ZC_AGENDA_9-11-23
	2) ZC Minutes 07-24-2023
	3) Rules_of_Procedure
	4) Janet_Heck_Subdivision_Minor_Subdivsion_Report_1
	5) Rezone_Report_Parcel_884506200006_AP_to_AE_Report_1
	6a) Contents of Solar Report
	6a) Utility_Solar
	Insert from: "8-8-23_2nd_Public_Hearing_Reading_Solar_Zoning_Ordinance_Amendments.pdf"
	amending portions of Woodbury County Ordinance #56: An amendment to modify Section 6.1.A: Wind Turbines Set Back Requirements in the ordinance regulating Commercial Wind Energy Conversion Systems in unincorporated Woodbury County.
	B) Motion to conduct and approve the 2nd Reading of the Ordinance Amendments or Motion to conduct and approve the 2nd Reading of the Ordinance Amendments as the Final Reading.

C) If applicable - Waive the 3rd Reading of the Ordinance Amendments.

D) If applicable - Adopt Zoning Ordinance Amendments

	Insert from: "08-08 (2023 Chamber Annual Dinner).pdf"
	08-08 (2023 Chamber Annual Dinner)
	37th Siouxland Chamber Annual Dinner - Sep 28, 2023

	Insert from: "8-8-23_2nd_Public_Hearing_Reading_Solar_Zoning_Ordinance_Amendments.pdf"
	amending portions of Woodbury County Ordinance #56: An amendment to modify Section 6.1.A: Wind Turbines Set Back Requirements in the ordinance regulating Commercial Wind Energy Conversion Systems in unincorporated Woodbury County.
	B) Motion to conduct and approve the 2nd Reading of the Ordinance Amendments or Motion to conduct and approve the 2nd Reading of the Ordinance Amendments as the Final Reading.

C) If applicable - Waive the 3rd Reading of the Ordinance Amendments.

D) If applicable - Adopt Zoning Ordinance Amendments


	6b) Solar Ordinance Summary
	6b2) AB_Data_Analysis
	6c) Renewable_Solar_Energy_Systems_Model_Ordinance
	6d) CFRA_Iowa_Solar_Resource_Guide
	6e) Decommissioning
	6f) Policy_Approaches_Dual_Use
	6g) AA_Iowa_Code
	6g) AB_Counties
	6g) Adair County
	6h) Clayton County
	6h) Clinton County 2
	6h) Clinton County
	6h) Dubuque County
	6h) Johnson County
	6i) Linn_County
	6i) Louisa County
	6J) Mills County
	6k) Monona_County_
	6k) Muscatine County
	6k) Polk County
	6l) Ringgold_County
	6m) Scott County
	6n) Tama County



